



# Structural Analysis of Molecular Materials Using the Pair Distribution Function

Maxwell W. Terban\* and Simon J. L. Billinge\*

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2022, 122, 1208–1272		Read Online		
ACCESS	III Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations	

**ABSTRACT:** This is a review of atomic pair distribution function (PDF) analysis as applied to the study of molecular materials. The PDF method is a powerful approach to study short- and intermediate-range order in materials on the nanoscale. It may be obtained from total scattering measurements using X-rays, neutrons, or electrons, and it provides structural details when defects, disorder, or structural ambiguities obscure their elucidation directly in reciprocal space. While its uses in the study of inorganic crystals, glasses, and nanomaterials have been recently highlighted, significant progress has also been made in its application to molecular materials such as carbons, pharmaceuticals, polymers, liquids,



coordination compounds, composites, and more. Here, an overview of applications toward a wide variety of molecular compounds (organic and inorganic) and systems with molecular components is presented. We then present pedagogical descriptions and tips for further implementation. Successful utilization of the method requires an interdisciplinary consolidation of material preparation, high quality scattering experimentation, data processing, model formulation, and attentive scrutiny of the results. It is hoped that this article will provide a useful reference to practitioners for PDF applications in a wide realm of molecular sciences, and help new practitioners to get started with this technique.

# CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1209
2. Distribution Functions	1209
2.1. The Radial Distribution Function	1209
2.2. Distribution Functions from Scattering	1211
3. Applications	1212
3.1. Nongraphitic Carbons	1212
3.2. Organic Macromolecular Polymers	1213
3.2.1. Synthetic Polymers	1213
3.2.2. Biopolymers	1215
3.3. Small Molecules	1215
3.3.1. Pharmaceuticals	1215
3.3.2. Saccharides	1216
3.3.3. Water and Aqueous Solutions	1217
3.4. Materials with Molecular Components	1218
3.4.1. Coordination Compounds and Metal-	
Organic Frameworks	1218
3.4.2. Layered frameworks	1219
3.4.3. Thiophosphate Electrolytes	1220
3.4.4. Hybrid Organic—Inorganic Perovskites	1221
4. Real-Space Structure Characteristics	1221
4.1. Structural Order and Domains	1221
4.2. Molecular Conformation	1222
4.3. Bond Stiffness and Correlated Motion	1224
4.4. Molecular Coordination and Orientation	1225
4.5. Chain Packing	1227
4.6. Layer Stacking	1228
4.7. Micropores	1229

5. Characterization Methodologies		
5.1. Fingerprinting and Refinement		
5.2. Structure Solution	1233	
5.3. Phase Quantification	1234	
5.4. Component Miscibility	1236	
5.5. Impurities and Degradants		
5.6. Incorporation and Binding		
5.7. Interfacial Modification	1239	
5.8. Density Distributions from Small and		
Medium Angle Scattering	1239	
5.9. In Situ Structural Transformations		
6. Modeling Strategies		
6.1. Real-Space Crystal Structure Refinement		
6.2. Reverse Monte Carlo Modeling		
6.3. Empirical Potential Structure Refinement		
6.4. Theoretical Methods	1244	
6.5. Complex Modeling	1244	
7. Experimental Considerations	1244	
7.1. Scattering Probes	1244	
7.1.1. X-rays	1244	
7.1.2. Neutrons	1246	

Received: March 19, 2021 Published: November 17, 2021





7.1.3. Electrons	1247
7.2. Experimental Setups	1247
7.2.1. Rapid Acquisition	1247
7.2.2. Thin Films	1248
7.2.3. Spatially Resolved Measurements	1248
7.3. Sample Environments	1248
7.4. Measurement Range	1249
7.5. Data Quality and Background	1249
7.6. Detector and Scattering Corrections	1250
7.7. Instrumental Profile	1251
8. Outlook	1252
Author Information	1252
Corresponding Authors	1252
Funding	1252
Notes	1252
Biographies	1252
Acknowledgments	1252
References	1252

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Molecular materials are profoundly useful, with applications from packaging food, to curing disease, to producing and storing energy. Indeed, as living organisms, we are ourselves largely made up of them. Many exciting developments over the past few decades have centered on engineering the molecular entities themselves (e.g., from fullerenes to proteins and catalytic complexes), their arrangements (e.g., amorphous polymer-pharmaceutical blends and cocrystals), and even the spaces between them (e.g., metal- and covalent-organic frameworks). The possibilities increase when considering composite systems where molecular entities can interact with a host or with each other within finite dimensions. In addition to being useful, molecular materials are also structurally complex: a boon for their interesting properties and tunability, but often a challenge to detailed and conclusive atomic-scale structural understanding of their behavior.

Scattering and diffraction of photons, neutrons, and electrons are used for understanding the effects of atomic structuring on material function. When molecular entities can be made to arrange in a periodic fashion, the bonding, conformations, and intermolecular packing or network connectivity can be determined using sophisticated, accessible, and continually developed crystallographic tools for single crystals and polycrystalline materials,<sup>1–3</sup> and new tools and approaches on the horizon are advancing rapidly.<sup>4–6</sup> However, structural imperfections and disordered states are ubiquitous and often underlie useful properties. The atomic pair distribution function (PDF) analysis of diffraction data can fill the gap when the samples contain defects, disorder, and/or discrete material structures. In recent years, PDF analysis has been under intense development in this regard and is now also becoming a powerful method to tackle such problems.<sup>7–10</sup>

The PDF of a material may be obtained experimentally by Fourier transformation of a scattering pattern,<sup>11</sup> revealing direct-space insights into any long-range ordered structure from the Bragg scattering (i.e., diffraction) and short-range structural correlations from the diffuse scattering intensity present. PDF analysis is not a new technique; its origins lie alongside early developments in the field of X-ray crystallography,<sup>12–14</sup> and it has been an important technique used extensively in the fields of inorganic amorphous materials, including liquids and glasses, for many decades.<sup>15–20</sup> However, there is currently a revolutionary acceleration in accessibility of the method to general users in materials chemistry communities due to substantial development of dedicated instrumentation and data analysis packages. It is an increasingly important tool within contemporary inorganic materials communities, for instance in studying nanoparticles,<sup>21–23</sup> magnetic structures,<sup>24</sup> strongly correlated electron systems,<sup>25</sup> cultural heritage objects,<sup>26</sup> and other functional materials.<sup>27–29</sup>

These methods of local structure characterization have also been extended to the characterization of molecular materials. though along different trajectories within various communities of researchers. In this review, we seek to consolidate the advances and methodologies in these areas by covering a broad selection of molecular material classifications benefiting from PDF analysis. Some discussion of historical development is given for relevant material classes, but applications within the past few decades are the main focus. Prominent areas of research highlighted will include nongraphitic carbons, synthetic and natural polymers, small molecules such as pharmaceuticals and industrial liquids, and microporous materials including but not limited to metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) and covalent-organic frameworks (COFs). However, the science of these materials in general will not be comprehensively reviewed. This review is meant as a comprehensive roadmap for the application of PDF analysis to molecular materials and, additionally we hope, will help provide useful insights for people new to the approach to optimize experiments and intuition specifically for molecular materials. We also attempt to provide descriptions that will help users to connect attributes of the measured signal to the structural properties that they encode.

#### 2. DISTRIBUTION FUNCTIONS

The atomic pair distribution function [PDF, G(r)] is a simple 1D function that contains information about structural correlations in a material. Why is this function useful? First, it is easy to measure experimentally. Second, it is straightforward to calculate from a known structure. And third, it gives a kind of intuitive local-view of the structure, as if you are sitting on an atom and looking out at your neighborhood. Strictly, it is directly derived from the autocorrelation function of the atomic density,<sup>18</sup> but intuitively, it yields the probability of finding pairs of atoms separated by some distance, r. The structural signal measured corresponds to an average over all local states within the measurement time and sample volume. There are a variety of different forms and normalizations of the PDF, used by various scientific communities, which are discussed in detail elsewhere. 30,31

#### 2.1. The Radial Distribution Function

Starting in real space (also known as physical space or direct space), we introduce the radial distribution function [RDF, R(r)]. This function is a scaled histogram of every interatomic distance in the material. It is made by sitting on each atom *i* in turn, measuring the distance from this atom to every other atom *j* in the material, and adding a "count" to the bin at each distance  $r_{ij}$  on a histogram plot, as shown for a molecule of benzene in Figure 1a.

For multielement materials, every "count" has a weight that is determined by the relative scattering power of each pair of atoms for a given scattering probe (i.e., X-rays, neutrons, or



**Figure 1.** Pair distributions for simple molecules: (a) Histogram of interatomic pair distances for a single molecule of benzene, (b) weighted by the relative X-ray scattering powers of the atom pairs, and (c-g) the RDFs simulated from individual molecules of benzene, cyclohexane, butane, propanol, and acetone, allowing for some thermal motion of the atoms that broadens the histogram into a continuous function. Only the single conformations shown were considered.

electrons) (see section 7.1). Representing this weight as b, we get

$$R(r) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i,j \neq i} \frac{b_i^{\tau} b_j}{\langle b \rangle^2} \delta(r - r_{ij})$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

where  $\langle b \rangle$  is the stoichiometric average of the weights, and the asterisk denotes the complex conjugate of the weight. The properties of a delta function are that  $\int_{\text{below}}^{\text{above}} \delta(r) dr = 1$ . Thus, for a particular coordination shell, the (scattering power weighted) average number of neighboring atoms can be obtained by integrating R(r) from below to above the coordination shell according to

$$N(r) = \int_{r_{\text{below}}}^{r_{\text{above}}} \frac{\langle b \rangle^2}{b_i^* b_j} R(r) \, \mathrm{d}r$$
(2)

By way of example, in Figure 1b we plot this histogram using the weights appropriate for an X-ray experiment. The so-called form factors for X-rays are generally written as f (explicitly f(Q)), and are heavily damped at increasing Q values. Assuming that this Q-dependence is perfectly removed, the weights in real space for X-rays are then the number of electrons on each atom in the pair. In practice, removing the dependence is often not perfect, and involves the use of varying assumptions that can have an effect on the final data—see Secion 7.1.1 for further discussion. We see that it is relatively easy to see C–C pairs, difficult to see C–H pairs, and nearly impossible to see H–H pairs in this case. Hydrogen scatters neutrons relatively more strongly, making them the probe of choice for its investigation. Finally, in a real system, the "counts" in each bin are replaced by Gaussian functions due to the fluctuations of atom-pair distances by thermal motion, to approximate the real RDF, Figure 1c.

Benzene is an aromatic hexagon with just three unique interatomic (non-hydrogen) distances: the C-C nearest neighbor (NN) distance at r = 1.395 Å, the second neighbor at r = 2.416 Å, and the longest C–C distance across the diameter of the ring at r = 2.790 Å, just where the peaks appear in the function R(r). In addition to the weighting of the scattering power, the size of the peaks (the integrated area) is determined by the number of neighbors, or multiplicity at that length. In benzene, every C atom has two nearest neighbors (NN) and two second NN carbon atoms, so these distances show peaks with the same size. There is only one-third NN giving a peak that is half as big. For cyclohexane, Figure 1d, the number of C-C neighbors in each coordination shell is the same, but the longer, single C-C bonds in the chair conformation are extended to r = 1.526 Å, so shifts of all the peaks to slightly higher distances are observed.

In butane, Figure 1e, the diametric C-C distance of the cyclic molecules is replaced by a longer distance of r = 3.871 Å between the C atoms on either end of the antiperiplanar conformation. For the acyclic molecule, the average NN coordination is now 1.5 instead of 2, leading to a smaller first peak than in the previous two cases. To compute the average number of neighbors, count the total number of neighbors at a particular distance in the entire molecule, and divide by the number of atoms in the molecule. There are 6 C–C NN pairs (the first atom has one, the second has two, the third has two, and the fourth has one, totalling six) and there are four C atoms, so the average C–C coordination is 6/4 = 1.5. Applying the same approach to the second neighbor distance gives 4/4 =1.0, so the average number of second neighbor correlations in butane is 1.0, and for the third neighbor it is 2/4 = 0.5, leading to relatively lower intensity in the second and third peaks compared to the cyclic molecules.

An oxygen atom is introduced in the propanol molecule, Figure 1f. The RDF becomes more complicated, because the interatomic distance and weighting of the C–O bond is similar to, but slightly different from, the C–C bond in butane. The C–O bond in propanol at r = 1.421 Å instead of  $\langle r \rangle = 1.520$  Å for C–C, resulting in a shoulder on the short distance side of the first PDF peak. Oxygen is a slightly stronger X-ray scatterer than C (Z = 8 electrons instead of 6) but there are twice as many C–C bonds, and so the C–C peak still appears larger. The third peak in propanol comes only from C–O, rather than its C–C counterpart in butane, and is thus slightly shorter in distance and relatively larger in intensity. In practice, it is difficult to resolve distinct C–O and C–C peaks, however C== O as in acetone, Figure 1g, or, for example, in amides, can be resolved with high real-space resolution PDF measurements.<sup>32</sup>

The RDF can become inconvenient when it is used to study bulk systems of continuous matter. As r increases, the number of interatomic distances that are found in the associated "bin" scales with the differential increase in the number of atoms



**Figure 2.** Asymptotic behavior of the RDF and reduced PDF: (a) The RDF (black) is shown with the asymptotic behavior shown in red, and (b) the associated PDF (black), with asymptotic behavior in red and negative sloping baseline in blue.

out, this scaling is not so convenient for viewing structural features beyond the first few coordination shells. A more tenable function to deal with can be obtained by normalizing the RDF by the spherical area and  $\rho_0$  to get a *reduced* PDF by

$$G(r) = \frac{R(r)}{r} - 4\pi r\rho_0 \tag{3}$$

This happens to define the eponymous PDF. Other normalizations to deal with the divergence of R(r) are thoroughly discussed<sup>30</sup> and clearly illustrated with various advantages,<sup>31</sup> but this choice has two significant advantages. First, it also happens to be the function obtained from the direct Fourier transformation of the properly normalized powder diffraction pattern and, second, errors in this function propagated from the measurement uncertainties are roughly constant in r, so features in the G(r) function at different rvalues carry equal weight and can be visually compared in a meaningful way. As will be discussed below, the more general form is given as

$$G(r) = \frac{R(r)}{r} - 4\pi r \rho_0 \gamma_0 \tag{4}$$

where  $\gamma_0$  is the characteristic function describing the autocorrelation of the shape of the scattering domains or crystallites in the material.<sup>33</sup> This form is important for nanoparticulate or nanostructured materials, but reduces to eq 3,  $\gamma = 1$ , for very large crystals.

#### 2.2. Distribution Functions from Scattering

We confine our discussion to elastic scattering processes, where no energy is exchanged between the probe and the material. Then, the magnitude of the scattering vector can be defined as

$$Q = 4\pi \sin(\theta) / \lambda \tag{5}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of the probe, and the angle formed between the incident and scattered directions is by convention  $2\theta$  (Note: the energy dependent  $2\theta$  is typically used as the independent variable for Rietveld refinements, in part because many abberations to the instrumental profile are specifically angle dependent, and in part out of habit). Physically, the magnitude of  $Q = 2\pi/r$  is a sinusoidally varying signal in the diffraction pattern corresponding to scatterers separated by a distance *r*. If scatterers are spaced periodically, extending over long distances, the scattering intensity in *Q* is in the form of sharp Bragg peaks. If the spatial relationship only exists over short distances, then the scattering intensity in *Q* is broad (diffuse scattering).

Without making any assumptions about the arrangement of atoms in a material, the isotropic, coherent scattering intensity for the collection of atoms is given by

$$I_{c}(Q) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{i,j} b_{i}^{*} b_{j} \delta(r - r_{ij}) \frac{\sin(Qr)}{Qr} dr$$
(6)

which is a form of the Debye scattering equation.<sup>34</sup> This is the objective function of any powder diffraction measurement (additional effects due to the geometry of the measurement, the shape and size of the sample, characteristics of the irradiating source, and removal of inelastic scattering, are all well documented).<sup>2,35</sup> The total scattering structure function S(Q) is the interference function obtained after normalizing by the scattering factors and number of scatterers, given by the commonly used Faber-Ziman formalism<sup>36</sup> as

$$S(Q) = \frac{I_c(Q)}{N\langle b \rangle^2} + \frac{\langle b \rangle^2 - \langle b^2 \rangle}{\langle b \rangle^2}$$
(7)

Equation 6 shows the observed scattering results directly from the RDF of the material (and vice versa). The self-scattering part, when i = j or  $\langle b^2 \rangle / \langle b \rangle^2$ , is separated. This occurs when  $r_{ij}$ = 0, where  $\sin(Qr)/(Qr)$  goes to 1, allowing it to be taken out of the integral. A combination of these definitions and some manipulation then gives

$$Q[S(Q) - 1] = \int_0^\infty \frac{R(r)}{r} \sin(Qr) dr$$
  
= 
$$\int_0^\infty \left[ \frac{R(r)}{r} - 4\pi r \rho_0 \gamma_0 \right] \sin(Qr) dr$$
  
+ 
$$\int_0^\infty 4\pi r \rho_0 \gamma_0 \sin(Qr) dr$$
  
= 
$$F(Q)$$
(8)

The integral in line two of eq 8 now contains the definition of G(r) given above. The integral in line three is generally neglected since its contribution is primarily in the small angle region, which is not measured in a typical experiment. The absence of this term in the experimental and simulated data does however have an effect on the shape of the baseline in G(r).<sup>33,37</sup> F(Q) is the reduced total scattering structure function. It is important to consider that these *structure factor*  $F_{hkl}$  encountered in Bragg peak analyses, which is only summed over atoms in a unit cell. Finally, the functions F(Q) and G(r)arrive at a functional relationship for obtaining a PDF from an experimental scattering pattern:

$$G(r) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{Q_{\min}}^{Q_{\max}} Q[S(Q) - 1] \sin(Qr) \, dQ$$
(9)

where in a real experiment, Q can only be measured over a discrete range. For comparison, examples of the experimental X-ray scattering patterns I(Q), normalized structure functions

S(Q) and F(Q), and PDFs G(r) are shown for crystalline and amorphous states of the same molecule, respectively, in Figure 3.



**Figure 3.** Examples of the various scattering functions and the PDFs of crystalline (blue) and amorphous (red) lactose: (a) background subtracted scattering intensities I(Q), (b) the total scattering structure function S(Q) (dashed line = 1), (c) the reduced structure function F(Q) (dashed line = 0), and (d) the PDF, G(r) (dashed line = 0). The data are from Terban et al.<sup>38</sup>

In the following sections, major areas dealing with molecular materials and components where PDF analysis has been playing an important role are highlighted. We will then continue in more detail with the methodological developments and tools available for chemical structure analysis.

# 3. APPLICATIONS

#### 3.1. Nongraphitic Carbons

Nongraphitic carbons are a large class of materials, often products of combustion or pyrolysis, including chars, blacks, cokes, soot, hard carbon, glassy carbon, and so on. These materials play large-scale industrial roles (e.g., in energy generation and storage, purification, agriculture, pigments, and automobile tires). This has motivated a long history of detailed structural characterization to help enhance strategies for improving property-bearing characteristics such as surface area, porosity, and crystallite size.<sup>39,40</sup>

Scattering methods have played a critical role in understanding disordered carbon structures, as reviewed by Burian et al.,<sup>41</sup> often employing PDF analysis for making physical sense of complicated diffraction patterns. This goes all the way back to 1934: Bertram Warren's use of "Fourier integral analysis" to identify that carbon black contains graphite-like layers.<sup>42</sup> This sparked developments in the theory of 2D disorder in layered materials and the coining of turbostratic disorder, "unordered layers", to distinguish the structure of carbon black from graphite crystallites.<sup>43,44</sup>

Prior to her work on DNA, Rosalind Franklin also made longstanding contributions to the field of carbons.<sup>45</sup> In 1950, she published, up to that time, the most detailed, quantitative analysis of nongraphitic carbon using and advancing the Fourier method.<sup>46</sup> She determined that pyrolyzed polyvinylidene chloride was primarily arranged in bi- or few-layer stacks of nonoriented, graphite-like layers, approximately 15 Å in diameter, with a mean separation of about 26 Å. She ascribed a minority fraction in more highly disordered states to the layer edges and noted, "the nature and extent of the non-organized part and the mutual disposition of the crystallites must be of supreme importance in determining the course of any subsequent structural changes induced by thermal or other treatment."46 This led to the classifications of graphitizing and nongraphitizing carbons, depending on whether they can reorient and crystallize on heating.<sup>47,48</sup> She proposed models in which nongraphitizing carbons consist of a system of strong cross-linking that unites the crystallites into a rigid, finely porous mass, while graphitizing carbons show lesser crosslinkage leading to a more compact structures with nearly parallel orientation, Figure 4a,b

Over the ensuing decades, with improvements in X-ray technologies and advances in neutron sources, the desire to more precisely elucidate the nature of the bonding in these noncrystalline carbons was coupled with a race to achieve higher real-space resolution and better quality data.<sup>50-55</sup> Structures were found to be significantly affected by the presence of micropores and cavities and likely to contain distortions away from perfectly planar hexagonal layers. The similarity of real-space data to energetically favorable models of Schwarzite-type carbon structures<sup>56</sup> and observations of nonplanar structures by high-resolution transmission electron microscopy,<sup>57,58</sup> further indicated the likelihood for non-sixmembered rings that could facilitate the curvature in the small graphite-like layers. Effects of both pentagonal and heptagonal defects and curvature were incorporated into modeling schemes to study the effect of nonplanarity on the PDFs, which led to fullerene-like fragments with improved agreement found for nanoporous carbons.<sup>59</sup> Simple atomic models constructed for nanoporous carbons processed at different temperatures further demonstrated the turbostratic layer relationship. Lower temperatures result in structures with more defective layers due to distributions of higher-number rings and increased curvature that reduces atomic coherence, in the limit of more open structures that no longer resemble graphite-like moieties.<sup>6</sup>

Advanced simulation and modeling methods have helped to develop increasingly detailed models to describe the experimental data and capture particular physical insights into a variety of carbon nanostructures.<sup>61–68</sup> For instance, microcrystalline, turbostratically disordered, and paracrystalline carbon models have been tested against activated carbons from saccharose with paracrystalline models of small coherently scattering domains, approximately 24 Å in diameter and only several layers, giving the best agreement. The results are still in broad agreement with Franklin's models nearly 70 years



Figure 4. Carbon models, old and new: (a) graphitizing carbon and (b) nongraphitizing carbon, reproduced with permission from ref 47. Copyright 1934 Royal Society. (c) Nongraphitic carbons (with ring defects highlighted in gray) reproduced with permission from ref 49. Copyright 2015 International Union of Crystallography.

earlier.<sup>68</sup> The paracrystal model is visualized in Figure 4c.<sup>49</sup> The addition of molecular dynamics has allowed for a more realistic incorporation of various defects including monovacancies (one atom missing, forming one nonagon and one pentagon), divacancies (two atoms missing, forming two pentagons and one octagon), and Stone-Thrower-Wales defects where  $90^{\circ}$  rotations of some C–C bonds form defects with two pentagons and two heptagons.<sup>68</sup> Systematic measurements have allowed for more distinctly resolving pair distances corresponding to longer third NN distances in higher-order rings.<sup>69</sup> Another model suggests the presence of oligomerictype carbon matrices surrounding small islands of more perfect

graphite-like flakes.<sup>70</sup> Similar analyses continue to be of importance in characterizing the effect of different feedstock materials and processing conditions on carbon composite materials.<sup>71</sup> More exotic molecular carbon structures have been investigated, including Buckminsterfullerene  $(C_{60})$ ,<sup>72–74</sup>  $C_{20}$ fullerene,<sup>75</sup> single- and multiwalled carbon nanotubes,<sup>76-7</sup> nano-onions,<sup>80</sup> nanohorns,<sup>81,82</sup> and sp<sup>3</sup> bonded, benzene-derived carbon nanothreads,<sup>83</sup> as well as other nongraphitic, carbon-based, and related materials.<sup>84-91</sup>

# 3.2. Organic Macromolecular Polymers

Natural polymeric materials such as leathers and natural rubber have long been used, as early as the Neolithic period, while the development of modified natural and synthetic polymers (e.g., vulcanized rubber, polystyrene, and polyaniline) began around the mid-19th century.<sup>92</sup> However, it was the development of thermosetting and thermoplastic polymers in the early 20th century that led to a boom in widespread commercial use, for example, Bakelite by Leo Baekeland in 1909, polyamide (Nylon) 6,6 in 1935 (Wallace Carothers at DuPont), and polyamide 6 in 1938 (Paul Schlack at IG Farben). Coincidence with the advancing techniques of X-ray crystallography meant that investigations into the structures of cellulose derivatives<sup>93</sup> and synthetic linear polymers<sup>94</sup> were already extensive by the late 1930s, with a strong caveat important in this endeavor-a lack of single crystals for characterizing high molecular weight polymers. This led also to an early adoption of real-space characterization for disordered structures in the polymer community.

3.2.1. Synthetic Polymers. In 1936, Simard and Warren applied the Fourier integral technique to amorphous rubber.<sup>95</sup> They demonstrated that the positions and numbers of the first few interatomic coordination shells were in good agreement with the intramolecular structure associated with the chain molecule picture of polyisoprene. They suggested that the first sharp diffraction peak and associated damped sine-wave-like oscillation in real space, "... is simply due to the fact that there is a fairly definite distance of closest approach of carbon atoms in different molecules," and thus that little information about relative orientations of the chains or their conformations could be obtained. Bjørnhaug and colleagues, with the Norwegian Pulp and Paper Research Institute, extended real-space analysis to a wider array of synthetic and natural polymers including disordered cellulosic materials, polyvinyl acetate, poly(vinyl alcohol), polystyrene, polyhexamethylene adipamide, poly-(methyl methacrylate), regenerated cellulose, and alginic aciddemonstrating that the real-space PDFs give distinct local structural fingerprints for different unoriented, weakly ordered, polymers.<sup>96</sup> Real-space analyses would soon become a more refined tool to help understand the driving forces for local ordering in noncrystalline polymers. Kilian and Boueke<sup>97</sup> demonstrated the importance and ubiquity of steric effects between phenyl substituents on the resulting macromolecular chain conformations for glassy polystyrene and related compounds. Wecker, Davidson, and Cohen<sup>98</sup> determined that the molecular origins of features in the associated scattering patterns of atactic and isotactic polystyrene glasses correspond to interchain phenyl-phenyl and intrachain phenyl-to-main-chain correlations. Isotactic polystyrene was proposed to show wider experimental *d*-spacings, but higher density than atactic polystyrene, because more favorable packing of helically ordered phenyl group interactions led to

an overall longer distance between the packing of main chains.  $^{98}$ 

Further work, typically with low real-space resolution, largely focused on identifying short-range ordering length-scales in various disordered, synthetic polymers (e.g., milled, molten, slow-cooled, or quenched disordered states),99-103 structure deterioration due to radiation-induced cross-linking,<sup>104-106</sup> and copolymerization.<sup>107,108</sup> Efforts to model structures based on the paracrystal theory of Rolf Hosemann<sup>109</sup> were also developed, <sup>100,103,110,111</sup> but while many of these studies yielded useful insights into processing effects on relative ordering states, many appear to have overinterpreted the medium-range ordering as a result of particular chain-packing orientations (e.g., short-range ordered parallel packing of linear segments), as shown by Mitchell, Lovell, and Windle,<sup>112</sup> and confirming the earlier sentiment by Simard and Warren (see section 4.5). Studies using higher quality experimental data have further aided in accessing more accurate pictures of conformational states in the very local structures of noncrystalline polymers and polymer melts.<sup>113-118</sup> These efforts have also benefitted from methods developed for fitting or comparing total scattering data in reciprocal space.<sup>119–122</sup> A recent review further discusses the use of scattering for characterizing noncrystalline polymers.<sup>121</sup>

PDF studies were also applied to investigate charge transport processes in conductive polymers.<sup>123</sup> Polyaniline (PANI) is a class of low density, easily processable, and relatively inexpensive conductive polymers that has potential applications in gas separations and organic electronics.<sup>124,125</sup> The backbone is built from monomers in reduced and/or oxidized states, and each oxidation state can exist in the base or salt form by doping with protonic acids.<sup>126</sup> Studies investigated the positions of bromine sites from doping into the emeraldine base form of PANI<sup>127,128</sup> and local ordering in amorphous forms as a function of synthesis and processing (undopeddoped-dedoped samples).<sup>129</sup> Decomposition of intra- and interchain contributions showed reversible changes in the intramolecular structure on doping/undoping from the as-cast base form while the interchain structure depends on its processing history, which correlates with enhanced selectivity in gas diffusion studies for the redoped PANI films.<sup>130,131</sup>

The intermediate length-scale structuring of polymers that show nanoscale ordering can also be studied in real space, for example in the class of polymers called dendrimers. These are globular, monodisperse, repetitively branched macromolecules that radiate from a central core and have applications in drug delivery and as sensors.<sup>132</sup> The local structures in dendritic and hyper-branched poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) macromolecules were measured and compared to crystalline  $C_{60}$ .<sup>133</sup> Dendritic PAMAM showed increased atomic ordering of semiregular segments compared to more condensed, hyperbranched PAMAM. 3D atomic models built by successive attachment of amidoamine (CH2-CH2-CO-NH-CH2-CH<sub>2</sub>-NH<sub>2</sub>) monomer units to a diaminododecane core  $(C_{12}H_{28}N_2)$  and subsequently relaxed using molecular dynamics (MD) force fields, Figure 5, could qualitatively reproduce the extent of ordering and some features of the experimental data. In cases such as this, a quantitative fit of the resulting models to the data could aid in further determining remaining inadequacies in the MD ensembles in describing both atomic and intermediate length-scale structuring.

Another important class of polymers is semicrystalline polymers, comprising partly ordered domains but with



**Figure 5.** Complex hierarchical models generated from molecular simulations: different models proposed to interpret data from dendritic and hyperbranched poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) macro-molecules, reproduced with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2005 Elsevier.

significant interfacial backfolding between ordered and amorphous domains that results in weakly crystalline, heterogeneous structures. In many cases, idealized crystal structures have been determined using fiber diffraction, but atomic-scale structural insights into unmodified and unoriented states are difficult by these methods. This information is, however, crucial for real-world industrial applications. A study of polyamide 6 (PA6) investigated samples produced through different synthetic procedures, including hydrolytic and anionic syntheses, and postprocessing treatments of annealing or foaming.<sup>32</sup> Reliable measurements of atomic conformation details and lattice parameter values for nanocrystalline domains could be obtained from real-space refinement despite limited information available in O-space for constraining Rietveld-style refinements. The interlayer spacing, domain size, and amorphous content were shown to be most affected by synthesis and treatment conditions, and the crystalline domains were shown to be significantly smaller than the typical spherulites observed by TEM. Scattering intensities often attributed to impurity  $\gamma$  PA6 were shown to arise from only short-range rather than long-range ordered structural states. These results suggest the utility for revisiting many semicrystalline polymers systems in the unoriented state using modern real-space methods. The effects of polymer chain translations, rotations, and individual atom adjustments on describing the structures within polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) and polychlorotrifluoroethylene (PCTFE) have also

been investigated using empirical potential structure refinement (section 6.3).<sup>134</sup>

Thermoplastic polyurethanes (TPUs) are a wide-ranging class of important, industrial elastomers. They are semicrystalline, block copolymers comprising microphase-separated soft and hard regions. Soft segments are composed of polyester or polyether chains that give the material its plasticity, while the hard segment domains are formed by the addition of a chain extending diol and a diisocyanate, and provide rigidity and elasticity through physical cross-linking.<sup>135,136</sup> PDF investigations were applied to study the structural states of a series of TPU model hard phases with varying ratios of 4,4′-methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) and 1,4-butanediol (BD).<sup>137</sup> At a ratio of 1:1 MDI:BD, the hard phase structure was amorphous. Two different nanocrystalline forms were observed upon increasing the ratio to values of 1:1.2, 1:1.5, and 1:2. A new model for the MDI-BD hard phase structure (Figure 6) was proposed with hydrogen bonding occurring along one



**Figure 6.** Atomic structure within nanosized domains: atomic force microscopy image<sup>139</sup> of TPU hard phases (lighter regions) consisting of 4,4'-methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) and 1,4-butanediol (BD) within an ester-based soft segment matrix (darker regions). The MDI-BD hard segment is shown below along with a sequence of H-bonded chains from the model hard phase structure.<sup>137</sup>

direction perpendicular to the chain axis and the other packing direction stabilized by edge-to-face interactions between neighboring phenyl groups, in contrast to a previous model proposed by Blackwell et al.<sup>138</sup> with H-bonding in both directions. At 1:2, the hard phase could be well described by the molecular packing motifs formed by unpolymerized MDI capped by butanol, which was supported by the lower molecular weight of the 1:2 polymer measured by gas phase chromatography.<sup>137</sup> TPUs with different compositions of hard segments and soft segments (e.g., varying combinations of MDI-BD or HDI-BD and ether or ester components) form a wide range of nanocrystalline structural states and morphologies. The hard phase domains in a given sample are observed to exist in a distribution of both ordered and disordered states,<sup>137,139</sup> which is likely related to the presence of a rigid

giving another target for further investigation. 3.2.2. Biopolymers. Real space analyses have played a pivotal role in understanding biologically important macromolecular polymers as well. In addition to the measurements of cellulosic and alginic acid polymers mentioned above,<sup>96</sup> early utility was demonstrated in the foundational work of Linus Pauling, Robert Corey, and Herman Branson in establishing the structure of the  $\alpha$ -helix for polypeptides. Linus Pauling, Lawrence Brockway, and co-workers had already been using PDF analysis of electron diffraction data to build up libraries of accurate bond distances and angles for various molecular structures including those relating to amino acid building blocks of biopolymeric proteins.<sup>143-146</sup> They would eventually demonstrate the agreement of the proposed 3.7-helix conformation<sup>147,148</sup> with correlation functions extracted from the Patterson function of hemoglobin, in contrast to models proposed by William Bragg, John Kendrew, and Max Perutz.<sup>149</sup> They suggested the likelihood that this polypeptide configuration is represented in other globular proteins.<sup>148</sup> Further assessments investigated bovine serum albumin<sup>150</sup> and the validity of such analysis for globular proteins in general.<sup>151</sup>

amorphous fraction in semicrystalline thermoplastics,<sup>140-</sup>

Benmore, Yarger, and co-workers investigated the structures of spider dragline silk fibers.<sup>152</sup> Silks are extremely tough materials, typically considered to be a distribution of crystalline  $\beta$ -sheet-like structures within an amorphous matrix. Total scattering structure functions and corresponding differential PDFs were derived from slices along different directions of 2D diffraction patterns from fibers oriented both perpendicular and parallel to the incoming beam. The majority of real-space correlations consisted of weak ordering up to ~1 nm, suggesting that the structure is dominated by orientated nanocrystalline and amorphous entities. Disordering of the molecular orientations of sheet or chain fragments along the fiber axis could be associated with the flexibility of the silk. The longer length-scale packing of  $\beta$  sheet crystals along the fibers was also investigated by pair distributions obtained from the small angle scattering (SAS) regime (see section 5.8).<sup>153</sup>

#### 3.3. Small Molecules

**3.3.1. Pharmaceuticals.** It it commonly noted that anywhere from 70 to 90% of drug candidates at various stages of development have low solubility.<sup>154</sup> Extensive investigations into formulation engineering techniques have addressed these physical property limitations, leading to intense and wide-spread research thrusts into the use of salts, eutectics, cocrystals, nanoparticulates,<sup>155</sup> and especially amorphous

phases,<sup>156,157</sup> for achieving suitable physical and pharmacokinetic properties. A large body of work has focused on the production and characterization of amorphous drug formulations.<sup>158,159</sup> The noncrystalline nature creates many problems including the unique identification of the drug form for purposes of quality control and intellectual property litigation, quantitative analysis of the structure and/or phase composition, and stabilization for a suitable product shelf life.

Applications of PDF analysis toward amorphous pharmaceutical formulations have included pharmaceutical drugs prepared via milling,<sup>160–165</sup> dehydration,<sup>166</sup> compaction,<sup>167</sup> and quench cooling.<sup>168</sup> However, many of these studies neglected the lack of atomic-scale resolution and significant termination effects associated with the limited reciprocal space probed using low-energy Cu K $\alpha$  radiation and low angular-range measurements,<sup>169,170</sup> thus making it difficult to infer direct structural insights from the data. However, high quality data measured from both synchrotron X-ray, laboratory X-ray, and neutron total scattering experiments can and have been used to directly compare changes in intramolecular bond distances, intermolecular packing, and to track processing and aging induced changes of both amorphous and nanostructured pharmaceuticals.<sup>171–174</sup> For instance, nanocrystalline domains of approximately 4.5 nm diameter of the antiepileptic drug carbamazepine form III could be identified in a melt-quenched formulation.<sup>172</sup> PDF measurements also provide additional information for constraining accurate bond distances, intermolecular associations, and intramolecular thermal behavior in comparison to conventional methods for solution and refinement from powder diffraction.<sup>175-177</sup> This may extend to solving structures in cases with limited crystallinity (see section 5.2 for further details) as well as obtaining information about molecular conformations and packing in the amorphous state.

Minority amorphous phases can be unintentionally generated during formulation processes, while minority crystalline phases can be left over from incomplete amorphization or partial recrystallization. Amorphous and crystalline components are also often intentionally mixed to modify the physical properties of the formulation,<sup>178</sup> or for use in liquid suspension, making it important to identify and quantify these components. High flux scattering from synchrotron sources along with PDF analysis has been demonstrated to unambiguously identify pharmaceutical ingredient nanoparticles in aqueous suspension at concentrations as low as 0.25 wt %.<sup>179</sup> This can be useful for characterizing solution-based drug products as used for instance in intravenous therapies or nebulizers. Further reduced concentrations may be assessed with sufficient particle crystallinity and suitable profile resolution.<sup>180</sup> On the other hand, there are a variety of ways to quantify amorphous and crystalline phase content,<sup>181</sup> but there is currently no broadly applicable standard technique. Phase quantification for amorphous and crystalline pharmaceuticals has been demonstrated using the PDF method for both single and multicomponent systems, <sup>38,177,182–184</sup> which may extend particular benefit to characterizing materials containing multiple disordered phases (see section 5.3).

An issue with the use of amorphous formulations is that they are thermodynamically metastable and therefore tend to revert to thermodynamically stable forms (i.e., crystallize). This leads to unstable formulations that may not have a suitable shelf life for market product purposes. By mixing the active

pharmaceutical ingredients with excipients, typically polymers or sugars, the combination of higher solubility and propensity to remain in a metastable state can be optimized. An important aspect of this process is in choosing the excipient material. The drug's solubility within the excipient can determine whether the formulation remains suitably mixed or phase segregates. All the while, this processing must maintain (and sometimes enhance) the therapeutic action of the individual constituents and the intramolecular structural integrity of the drug. Numerous studies in the literature have focused on determining the degree of mixing in multicomponent dispersions,<sup>185-193</sup> though again with limited data quality. The best examples of this application have been demonstrated by Benmore and co-workers in assessing the miscibility and interactions in drug-polymer mixtures. The antifungal drug itraconazole was studied in polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) or hypromellose phthalate (HPMCP) polymers,<sup>194</sup> and amorphous solid dispersions of a breast-cancer treatment drug lapatinib in HPMCP and hypromellose (HPMC-E3) (see section 5.4 for more details).<sup>195</sup> Other increasingly important applications for local characterization may include the loading of pharmaceutical agents in microporous carriers.<sup>196</sup>

Understanding crystallization,<sup>197</sup> disordering mecha-nisms,<sup>183</sup> and relaxation processes<sup>198,199</sup> can further aid in understanding property changes associated with different processing and formulation procedures. Such analyses can be useful for determining issues related to compound stability during processing and comparing the viability of different processing methods. For example, the extent of crystallite structural disordering could be shown to correlate with the specific conditions of different milling and compaction procedures for brittle versus soft active pharmaceutical ingredients as determined by nanoindentation.<sup>200</sup> Another study showed that amorphous and mesomorphous calcium ketoprofen show similar levels of local ordering, despite a more ordered lamellar structure in the mesomorphous form, while disordering of the crystalline dihydrate occurs from water loss and structural collapse upon both heating and melt quenching.<sup>171</sup> In the opposite sense, environmental conditions that drive different nucleation behaviors are also interesting to stabilize compounds or crystallize particular polymorphs. An in situ study of paracetamol nucleation showed that there is a propensity for different intermolecular packing interactions just pior to crystallization from methanol versus 1-propanol, driving the formation of either monoclinic form I or orthorhombic form II, respectively.<sup>19</sup>

**3.3.2.** Saccharides. Besides their use as sweeteners, saccharides (also carbohydrates or sugars) play an important role in biological processes and are widespread filling and binding agents in food and pharmaceutical formulations.<sup>201</sup> Because they can form different stereoisomeric forms called anomers, display a plethora of means to forming favorable hydrogen bonding interactions, and are often hygroscopic, they tend to form many crystalline polymorphs, hydrates, and often glasses.<sup>202</sup> Varying properties impact choices during both product development and end-product performance such as caking, hardness, flowability, compaction, solubility, stability, and sweetness.<sup>178</sup> Thus, it is important to understand the product formation and modifications under different synthesis, processing, and storage conditions.

In a similar manner to the studies addressing pharmaceutical agents, total scattering and real-space analysis have been applied toward understanding these processing pathway effects on sugar structure and stability. Applications of high-energy total scattering toward low-Z materials were discussed in a 2013 article by Petkov et al.<sup>203</sup> They demonstrated that poorly crystalline and amorphous glucosides including cellulose and trehalose show distinct local structuring with characteristics comparable to certain bulk crystalline forms. This would suggest a means to understanding the molecular interactions governing different sugar forms.

Sugar compounds can be made into glasses through thermal-, mechanical-, and solution-based routes. However, not all forms are equal, displaying differences for example in morphology and thermal behavior. Notably, the latter leads to significant differences in the stability of the amorphous state against crystallization. Samples of amorphous lactose prepared by spray-drying, lyophilization, and melt-quenching were studied at increasing time spent under accelerated aging conditions.<sup>38</sup> Substantial deviation in the local structure of the melt-quenched sample compared to sprav-dried and lyophilized samples was observed, which correlated with their respective tendencies to remain stable or crystallize to the monohydrate crystalline form under aging. Though local structure differences were observed, and a lack of long-range ordering signal appeared to rule out significant differences in the presence of preformed crystal nuclei, other root causes of this effect such as differences in moisture content or impurities could not be ruled out. More detailed studies were undertaken on the physicochemical properties and local structures of sucrose as a function of amorphization pathway.<sup>204</sup> Different processing mechanisms lead to differences in, for example, thermal behavior, and morphologies as shown in Figure 7. A



**Figure** 7. Differing morphologies for amorphous sucrose prepared through (a) freeze-drying, (b) spray drying, (c) ball milling, and (d) melt quenching. Figure reproduced with permission from ref 204. Copyright 2019 Elsevier.

local structural modification was distinctly observed for stable, melt-quenched sucrose. This was identified as coming from a modulation in the on-average intermolecular packing between cyclic structures. Despite some differences in moisture content, the modification correlated most with a higher concentration of thermal decomposition indicator compounds such as glucose, fructose, 5-(hydroxymethyl)furfural, and 1-kestose identified by high-performance liquid chromatography and anion-exchange chromatography with pulsed amperometric detection. Melt-quenched sucrose was postlyophilized and compared to mixed sucrose/glucose/fructose,<sup>205</sup> and a followup study confirmed that degradation impurities modify the packing of sucrose molecules and contribute to inhibiting crystallization.

The amorphization mechanism was studied by Bordet et al.<sup>183</sup> for  $\beta$ -trehalose using high energy milling. By tracking simultaneously the amorphous/crystalline phase fraction and the coherence length of the crystalline domains, they described amorphization as a two-part process through which amorphous layers form and thicken around crystalline cores, and there is a progressive increase of defect density that reduces the coherence length of the ordered domains within the core. Rigidity of the glucose units up to 4 Å and conformational disordering of the glycosidic linkage between ball-milled and melt-quenched  $\beta$ -trehalose were observed.<sup>183</sup> Analysis of further molecular packing shells and composition analyses were not undertaken as with sucrose,<sup>204,205</sup> though further experimental investigation is warranted regarding the development and effects of impurities on the stability of the thermally accessed versus mechanically accessed forms.

Because of their hygroscopic properties and functions in aqueous systems, the study of interactions between water and sugars is also a fundamental area concerning issues from the development of the glassy state from solution-based processes to the perceived taste of sugar. For example, neutron diffraction studies coupled with local structure analysis have shown that the strength of hydrogen-bonding interactions and amount of water in the sugar hydration shells affect how the molecules can interact with taste receptors, and therefore the sweetness.<sup>206-208</sup> The sweetness favors stronger hydrogenbonding interactions and increased hydration states, possibly indicating that water mediates binding with sugar-receptors. Related to the studies of sugar-water interactions is the role of sugars, notably trehalose, to bioprotection or the stabilization of biomacromolecules such as proteins, lipids, and DNA against environmental stressors in vivo. Studies have shown that trehalose forms relatively weak hydrogen bonds with water with a minor impact on the structure of solution water versus bulk water,<sup>207,209,210</sup> therefore preferring trehalose-trehalose accumulation and vitrification,<sup>210,211</sup> possibly around biomolecules, as implied by the protection mechanism.

3.3.3. Water and Aqueous Solutions. Water plays a prominent role in almost all aspects of our lives. An understanding of the local arrangement and interactions of water molecules is critical to understand the complex phase behavior and properties of water and the various phases of ice. Total scattering measurements and PDF analysis are some ways of testing models of structural states and interaction potentials for liquid and amorphous water phases. Measurements as early as the 1930s by Katzoff<sup>212</sup> and Morgan and Warren,<sup>213</sup> already demonstrated a tetrahedral-like (though imperfectly so) nature of liquid water with primary O-O distances centered around ~2.8 and 4.5 Å. Measurements of water were further involved in significant advances in experimental data collection, reduction, and interpretation, especially in the works of Alfred Narten<sup>214–218</sup> and later Alan Soper and co-workers.<sup>219–223</sup> A ground-breaking turn in this effort was the development of empirical potential structure refinement (EPSR), which allows complex atomistic models to be applied to study complex liquids such as water without overfitting by using a small number of empirical potential parameters as variables (see section 6.3 for more details).<sup>224</sup>

The microscopic nature of water has been a very contentious topic in the literature with a variety of models proposed including heterogeneous mixtures of different local structures.<sup>225–228</sup> Ambient water is considered to form a distributed hydrogen-bonding network with tetrahedral-like local coordinations.<sup>229,230</sup> That said, O–O coordinations slightly higher than expected for perfect tetrahedral coordination (i.e., between 4–5 neighbors), is generally reported for liquid water. This may be thought of as being due to occupied interstitial positions, which helps explain the higher density of liquid water than crystalline ice.<sup>231</sup> Variations in coordination shell numbers, O–O–O bond angles, and the extent of structural order are observed as a function of temperature<sup>221,232–234</sup> and pressure,<sup>235,236</sup> leading to low- and high-density liquid states<sup>237–239</sup> (Figure 8) as well as different metastable forms of amorphous ice<sup>240–247</sup>

As already discussed for sugars, a detailed understanding of the structure of water is necessary as a foundation on which to understand the complex interactions provided by water when

# (a) Low density water



(b) High density water



**Figure 8.** Water coordination: spatial density functions for (a) low and (b) high density water as determined from EPSR simulations, plotted in a 10 Å  $\times$  10 Å window, with a central water molecule lying in the *zy* plane. Lobes of density (I) are observed opposite each OH vector on the central molecule and in a broad band of density at right angles to these underneath the central molecule, corresponding to the first shell of approximately tetrahedrally bonded water molecules. A second shell (II), out of phase with the first shell, is observed to collapse going from low to high density water, merging with the first shell near the *x*-axis. Reproduced with permission from ref 238. Copyright 2000 American Physical Society.

operating as a medium for other chemical species. The propensities for self- or intermolecular associations of organic molecules in aqueous and ionic solutions are fundamental to many physiological processes such as membrane permeability and protein folding, aggregation, denaturation, or stabilization. Using isotopic substitution neutron-scattering measurements (see section 7.1.2) combined with EPSR, some clues have been gleaned into how the incorporation of urea into water may affect the solution's ability to dissolve alkanes, or urea's role as a denaturant.<sup>248</sup> Trimethylamine N-oxide was shown to interact directly with urea, but its role in counteracting denaturation at physiological concentrations may have more to do with the mediating effects of water.<sup>249,250</sup> Similar studies have investigated interactions in aqueous solutions of dimethyl sulfoxide,<sup>251</sup> proline and related peptides,<sup>252</sup> glutamine and polyglutamine,<sup>253,254</sup> glutathione,<sup>253</sup> indole,<sup>256</sup> aspartic acid,<sup>257</sup> propylene glycol,<sup>258</sup> phosphocholine,<sup>259,260</sup> and 1,2-dioleoylsn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine (DOPE).<sup>261</sup>

Despite their miscibility, mixtures of water and alcohols over varying concentrations have been observed to prefer the formation of molecular clustering and bipercolating networks.<sup>262–265</sup> These molecular-level heterogeneities were suggested as a possible origin of mixture properties deviating from ideality, favored over the competing model of the restructuring of water for instance. Such interactions could also play a role in the mediation of flavor-enhancing amphipathic molecules in the dilution of whisky,<sup>266</sup> and may warrant neutron diffraction experiments on Scotch.

Beyond biological implications,<sup>267</sup> ion solvation is important in topics such as electrochemistry or the physical properties of groundwaters.<sup>268</sup> Various methods<sup>269</sup> have been used to extract signals of ion solvation shell formation in different electrolyte solutions including, for example, a wide variety of alkali,<sup>270–273</sup> alkaline-earth,<sup>274</sup> transition metal,<sup>270</sup> and lanthanide<sup>275,276</sup> chlorides, and various potassium halides.<sup>277</sup> With respect to their geophysical roles in both terrestrial and even Martian environments, molecular anions including sulfate and perchlorate solvation have been investigated.<sup>278–280</sup> PDFs were also recently used to identify the formation of adsorbed and hydrated layers around nanoparticles in suspension.<sup>281</sup> While not discussed further here, it it worth noting that an additionally large body of work has also focused on the molecular states in other liquids<sup>15,282,283</sup> such as hydrocarbons,<sup>284–292</sup> their derivatives,<sup>293–298</sup> ionic liquids,<sup>299–303</sup> and acids.<sup>304,305</sup>

#### 3.4. Materials with Molecular Components

**3.4.1. Coordination Compounds and Metal–Organic Frameworks.** Porous coordination compounds and metal– organic frameworks (MOFs) are a broad class of materials typically consisting of metal ions or clusters interconnected by strongly bonded associations with organic molecules, providing a plethora of topologies, geometries, and functionalities.<sup>306–308</sup> They have become a major forefront in materials design and synthesis, especially since the 1990s and early 2000s, utilizing the concepts of coordination chemistry, framework solids, and reticular synthesis.<sup>309–313</sup> This is an extremely broad classification, encompassing a rich variety of subcomponent chemistries and wide-ranging, potential applications in gas storage, gas/vapor separation, catalysis, magnets, sensors, drug delivery and more. Industrialization efforts have centered primarily on gas capture and release applications such as controlled fruit ripening, toxic gas storage, and water spe

harvesting.<sup>314,315</sup> MOFs have been typically characterized as a class of crystalline coordination compounds with ordered pore structures. However, added degrees of freedom granted by the building block occupancies, orientations, connectivity, and flexibility lead to complex local structural effects responsible for many intriguing macroscopic properties such as negative thermal expansion (NTE), significant structural flexibility (often termed breathing), and disordered intermediates during processing. The use of PDF specifically for MOFs has recently been reviewed by Castillo-Blas et al.<sup>316</sup>

Framework flexibility and defects have become a prominent topic of discussion and a prime target for local structure investigations. The presence of low temperature static disorder within zinc(II) isonicotinate was investigated to track translation, rotation, and distortion components of the bond angles within the  $ZnN_2O_2$  tetrahedra and within the X–Zn–X (X  $\equiv$ ligand center-of-mass).<sup>317</sup> The framework flexibility could be explained by large transverse displacements of the ligands governed by displacements of neighboring Zn sites and correlated bending of the intermediating linker. The rotations of phenyl groups were investigated in sodium p-chlorobenzenesulfonate, although the poor agreement factors suggest that the models could not give a good description to the local structure as tested.<sup>318</sup> Conformational flexibility of linkers has been implicated in complex breathing behaviors, for example trans-1,4-cyclohexanedicarboxylic acid linkers in an aliphatic analogue of UiO-66(Zr).<sup>319</sup> The removal of adsorbed content results in locally oriented nanodomains of tetragonal-type distortions of the nodes, driven by contraction of approximately one-third of the linkers, Figure 9. Framework flexibility has likewise been shown to aid in reversible bonding rearrangements induced by both hydration and dehydration mechanisms<sup>320,321</sup>



**Figure 9.** Local domain formation in metal–organic frameworks: evacuation-induced linker contractions lead to tetragonal nanodomains, reproduced with permission from ref 319. Copyright 2016 John Wiley and Sons.

The presence of vacancies in many MOF systems has become well-known. Consistent  $Hf_6$  intercluster correlations on increasing terephthalate linker vacancies were identified in UiO-66(Hf), helping to elucidate the presence of Schottky-like linker–cluster vacancies that are correlated over ~7 nm, Figure 9.<sup>322</sup> Controlled incorporation of such defects has been subsequently demonstrated for tuning the magnitude of NTE observed.<sup>323</sup> The observation of linker vacancies in the porphyrinic MOF PCN-221 was also observed to coincide with orientational disordering of Zr<sub>6</sub> clusters. Such behavior could open a new level for controlling the amount and type of coordinatively unsaturated sites open for interaction with guest species.<sup>324</sup> Localized distortions of the clusters themselves, separate from the overall framework symmetry, have been demonstrated for example in Hf and Zr oxide nodes induced by both rising temperature and site-isolated binding effects.<sup>325,326</sup>

Amorphous MOFs now make up an emerging subclass of the typically crystalline MOFs with potential applications in toxic/radioactive waste separation and containment. While amorphous MOFs had appeared as undesired products or intermediates, they have gained interest for applications in gas separation, guest trapping, ion transport, or sensors for instance by reversible changes in luminescent or electrical conductivity on amorphization and crystallization.<sup>327</sup> Detailed structural investigations, due in large part to the works of Bennett, Cheetham, and co-workers, have shown that amorphous zeolitic imidazolate frameworks (ZIFs) can form continuous random networks analogous to amorphous silica.<sup>328</sup> Further work has explored the structural states of, pathways to, and interrelationships between amorphous and liquid MOF states,<sup>329–336</sup> opening the door to new composite materials and blends.<sup>337–339</sup> Structural changes associated with interesting behaviors have been characterized including changes in insulating to semiconducting transitions,<sup>321</sup> and polyamorphism of amorphous intermediate structures.<sup>340</sup> Disordered metal-organic networks have also been shown to successfully incoporate Co<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> cubane catalysts for the oxygen evolution reaction with improved stability over their use in solution.<sup>341</sup> Investigations into the nucleation of MOFs from solution have also given insights into the prenucleation species and disordered intermediates involved in forming ultimately crystalline structures in ZIF-8<sup>342</sup> and UiO-66(Zr).

Besides the structural states of the frameworks and their components, real-space studies have flourished in helping to verify and elucidate the mechanisms of functionalization processes. PDFs are uniquely sensitive for identifying the presence, site-isolation, and structural states of species added into the pores and/or bound to coordinatively unsaturated sites on the clusters (see section 5.6 for more details), for instance by gas and liquid adsorption, <sup>344–353</sup> atomic layer deposition, <sup>326,354–356</sup> ligand exchange, <sup>357</sup> nanocasting, <sup>358</sup> and the incorporation or nucleation of larger complexes and nanoparticles. <sup>356,359–365</sup> These processes will be especially important for enabling applications in gas loading/storage, remediation, catalysis, and more. Further effects on the structural state of the framework have been investigated due to electrochemical cycling for battery applications<sup>366</sup> and degradation, <sup>367,368</sup> and due to in situ loading and detoxification of chemical warfare agent simulants.

**3.4.2. Layered frameworks.** Layered framework materials constitute another large class of microporous materials with a similarly wide range of potential applications. Porosity can be manifested through tailored spacing of layered motifs using molecular pillars or through synthesis of molecularly precise layers that stack to form ordered channels running perpendicular to the layers. An example of the former includes so-called unconventional metal–organic frameworks (UMOFs), which can be pre- or postsynthetically function-alized and have applications as ion-exchange materials, proton conductors, catalysts, and sorbents.<sup>370</sup> UMOFs comprise primarily layered zirconium, tin, or aluminum phosphonates, which form into pillared structures with porosity controlled through intermediating organic linkers. These compounds have been shown to form highly turbostratic (see section 4.6)

nanocrystalline layers with weak stacking correlations.<sup>371</sup> Open sites between the inorganic layers and coordinated by phosphate oxygens provide ion-exchange sites for separating lanthanide ions  $(L^{3+})$  from actinide ions  $(A^{3+})$  in spent nuclear fuel rods,<sup>372</sup> by taking advantage of their affinity for more positively charged  $L^{3+}$  over oxidized actinide ions  $AO_2^+$ .

Covalent organic frameworks (COFs) are a class of porous organic polymers that can be synthetically controlled by polymerization of judiciously preselected building blocks.<sup>37</sup> Though they can form both 3D and 2D structural motifs, the particular application of local structure analysis has gained recent interest for the 2D layered structures. Although energetic studies have shown that the stacking of polymerized layers should prefer slight offsets, <sup>374,375</sup> a large number of studies have continued to identify hexagonal systems from diffraction, suggesting eclipsed stacking motifs. Pütz et al.<sup>376</sup> used PDF analysis to show that the local stacking behavior in an apparent high-symmetry form of triphenyl triazine imine COF (TTI-COF) synthesized at room temperature actually shows local interlayer offsets of about 1.6 Å on average, similar to an ordered slip-stacked form and in agreement with the previous theoretical calculations. The apparent high symmetry results from an averaging of the randomized slipping direction from layer to layer. For example, different types of stacking are displayed in Figure 10. Similar behavior was also observed in



Figure 10. Different potential stacking modes in 2D COFs: (A) no offset, ordered offset, and random offset stacking, (B) parallel versus antiparallel directions of imine bonds, and (C) layer formation by condensation of aldehyde and amine components. Reproduced with permission from ref 376 under CC BY 3.0 license.

layered poly(heptazine imide) (PHI) compounds, where water-coordinated potassium loading in the pores led to a structure-directing effect and more ordered stacking, while proton-exchange led to a more random ordering of the layers.<sup>377</sup> The synthesis and subsequent local structure assessment of a silicate covalent organic framework (SiCOF) have suggested a predominantly eclipsed stacking motif.<sup>378</sup> It is plausible that the twisted orientations of the linkers could stabilize more preferential interactions between the aromatic moieties, though the lack of distinct interlayer correlations still suggests the presence of disorder in the stacking direction, and further quantitative modeling of these materials would be useful to better determine the nature of these interactions. Though COFs are primarily defined by their crystalline

porosity, similar to MOFs, it is clear that disorder can actually be a fundamental component of their makeup. In fact, disordered COFs have been demonstrated through the reduction of amine-linked rPI-3-COF with formic acid, which leads to conformational distortion and increased stacking offsets, drastically reducing pore accessibility.<sup>379</sup> Crystalline COFs were also shown to form via disordered intermediate amide-bonding networks.<sup>380</sup>

The incorporation of catalytic species within COFs has also been investigated. The interactions and catalytic behavior of palladium complexes loaded onto defect sites within iminebased COFs synthesized from 1,3,5-tris(4-aminophenyl)benzene (TAPB) and 1,3,5-benzenetricarbaldehyde (BTCA) was studied.<sup>381</sup> After the catalytic Suzuki–Miyaura reaction, Pd<sup>0</sup> nanocrystals approximately 3–4 nm in diameter could be identified in addition to well-defined Pd<sup>II</sup>Br<sub>2</sub> sites resulting from the exchange of labile Cl for Br during the catalytic cycle. Similar assessment was made for Pt<sup>II</sup> complexes, indicating aggregation of Pt during catalysis of the complexes in solution, but site isolation within the COF.<sup>382</sup>

Many other layered or 2D materials show complex structures and significant disorder. One example is transition metal carbides/nitrides encompassing a class of materials called MXenes.<sup>383</sup> PDF studies have aided in the determination of layer composition and stacking, the effects of surface functional groups such as hydroxyl groups that can influence the nature of interlayer packing and intercalation properties,<sup>384–388</sup> and the formation of MXene–organic hetero-interfaces using small organic molecules.<sup>389</sup> Investigation of other complex layered structures have included turbostratic xerogel slabs<sup>390</sup> with intercalated or nanocomposite variants.<sup>391,392</sup>

**3.4.3. Thiophosphate Electrolytes.** Sulfur and phosphorus form complex structures with various discrete, chain, and layered motifs. Investigations using PDF techniques have aided in the characterization of elemental sulfur S<sub>8</sub> in crystalline, <sup>393–395</sup> plastic, <sup>394–397</sup> and liquid<sup>394–405</sup> states. Phosphorus is known to display a rich allotropic phase space and different liquid and glassy states, which have also been studied by PDF, <sup>406–411</sup> and may be further bolstered by improved atomistic simulation methods.

Of particular technological interest is the combination of sulfur and phosphorus within thiophosphate solid electrolytes for applications toward solid-state batteries.<sup>413</sup> With this comes the need to understand ion conduction mechanisms and thus the effects of the molecular anion interactions on the cation diffusion pathways. PDF data have been used to support a predominance of planar arrangements of  $[P_2S_6]^{4-}$  in the local structure of Li<sub>4</sub>P<sub>2</sub>S<sub>6</sub>,<sup>414</sup> as observed for the Na<sub>4</sub>P<sub>2</sub>S<sub>6</sub> analogue.<sup>415</sup> Features left over in the difference, and changes in the goodness-of-fit by only a few percent between different models, suggest that contributions from stacking faults (see section 4.6) are probably needed to resolve the disorder of the P2 dumbell sites observed in the average structure. The presence of local orientational distortions have been suggested of  $[PS_4]^{3-}$  anions in argyrodite-type  $Li_6PS_5Cl^{416}$  and  $Na_3PS_4$ .<sup>417</sup> A number of recent studies have begun investigating the local structures of glasses prepared by mechanical milling of  $(\text{Li}_2\text{S})_x(\text{P}_2\text{S}_5)_{1-x}$ <sup>414,418,419</sup> and  $(Na_2S)_x(P_2S_5)_{1-x}^{420}$  and the subsequent crystallization behavior. It is interesting that the glassy materials in these different studies show significant structural similarities, despite the wide variation in molecular anion species, for example,  $[PS_4]^{3-}$ ,

 $[P_2S_7]^{4-}$ ,  $[P_2S_6]^{4-}$ , and  $[PS_3]^-$  varying with the ratio of input Li<sub>2</sub>S, as measured spectroscopically.<sup>421</sup> The local structure of glassy KSnPS<sub>4</sub> was also compared to its crystalline counterpart.<sup>422</sup> An ongoing challenge is to better understand the nature of these disordered phases, including the distributions of, and possible structural relationships between, the different molecular species. It is worth noting that the models of the intramolecular peak widths often applied to these materials are inaccurate, and improved benchmarking and treatment of these features (see section 4.3) is necessary for a more accurate extraction of any disordered phases, identification of impurity anion species, or for example, more quantitative characterization of composite mixtures.<sup>423</sup>

New compositions on the phosphorus–sulfur phase diagram are still being discovered, for example, a recent amorphous compound with the composition  $P_2S$ .<sup>424</sup> This study used a wide range of spectroscopic techniques and an assessment of a large set of theoretical and experimental structure models against the experimental PDF to determine local structural properties of the compound, finding that it showed similarities to the interconnected rings and bicyclic structures observed in violet phosphorus and  $P_4S_3$ , but could not be described as a simple mixture of the two different phases.

3.4.4. Hybrid Organic-Inorganic Perovskites. Hybrid perovskites with the formula ABX<sub>3</sub> (with A, B, and X being organic or inorganic ions) are highly promising photovoltaic materials, which have seen rapidly rising power conversion efficiencies over the past years.<sup>425,426</sup> There has been a massive effort to understand the favorable charge transport properties of these materials, in spite of their mechanical softness compared to other typical solar-cell materials. Most PDF studies of these materials have focused on identifying dynamic local distortions<sup>427-430</sup> and formation pathways of the inorganic octahedra, <sup>431</sup> mostly because it is difficult to see the organic components among heavily scattering elements such as Pb and I with X-rays. The use of neutrons, however, can give greater sensitivity to the organic ions.<sup>432-434</sup> A study of methylammonium lead bromide showed that the local structure of the low temperature orthorhombic phase was essentially maintained on heating from 5-300 K, suggesting that the hydrogen bonding associations of the methylammonium ions  $(CH_3NH_3^+)$  with the Br<sup>-</sup> ions are maintained in the instantaneous local structure, whether static at low temperature or configurationally degenerate at higher temperatures.<sup>433</sup> Likewise, the formation of a feature at  $\sim 3.7$  Å on cooling formamidinium lead iodide could be associated with hydrogen bonding N-I pairs, suggesting increased association of the formamidinium ion  $(CH[NH_2]_2^+)$  and inorganic cage with the slowing of the molecular motions.<sup>434</sup>

#### 4. REAL-SPACE STRUCTURE CHARACTERISTICS

We now switch from reviews of scientific applications of PDF methods for molecular systems, to more specific discussions of the PDF analysis and its methodology.

#### 4.1. Structural Order and Domains

Structural order can be thought of in terms of the spatial relationship between separate regions of atomic density in a material. If we sit on an atom, can we predict where other atoms will be, and over what distance will our predictions remain accurate? In a perfect crystal, the location of every other atom is known exactly, while in disordered materials, there is some uncertainty that decreases the accuracy of our prediction with increasing distance.

Short-, medium-, and long-range order (SRO, MRO, LRO) are used to characterize both the length-scale over which distinct spatial relationships between atoms exist and the types of interactions that participate over those distances.<sup>162,435<sup>+</sup></sup> In molecular systems, SRO can be thought of as atoms that are directly, or indirectly bonded within a small molecule or subunit of a larger molecule. MRO is associated with the conformation of larger, torsionally flexible molecules and the local interactions with their neighbors. LRO is then related to the ordering of molecules over longer distances, which may or may not resemble a periodic packing. Bates et al.<sup>162</sup> neatly discussed how the symmetries present, along with the degree of order, can be used to define the material class, for instance by translational, orientational, and conformational symmetry operators. Crystals contain all three operators; mesophases such as liquid crystals, condis crystals, and plastic crystals have one or two of the long-range symmetry operators, and amorphous states have none. Different examples of disorder are demonstrated.

The degree of structural order can be studied through the damping properties of the PDF signal. The simplest method is to determine the average structural coherence length (often referred to as crystallite or domain size). This is a measure of the maximum distance over which a distinct spatial relationship exists between atoms, after averaging over all domains in the sample. In the PDF, it can be observed as the distance where peaks in the signal damp to zero. The relative degree of order between samples can be studied by comparing damping behavior, and the presence or absence of associated changes, with things such as sample composition or processing conditions. Examples of PDFs for ordered and disordered versions of different materials are compared in Figure 11. A caveat is that when the order is long ranged, this distance may not be measurable, because the signal is also damped by effects due to the Q-resolution of the scattering experiment (see section 7.7).  $^{32,139,177,436-439}$  If the crystallite domain size,  $\xi \gg$  $2\pi/\Delta Q$ , where  $\Delta Q$  is the *Q*-resolution of the measurement, the signal damping is dominated by resolution effects, and any quantitative estimate of the domain size becomes unreliable. It is important to consider this aspect when making such determinations. In a typical PDF experiment at a synchrotron using a 2D detector (rapid acquisition PDF (RAPDF) geometry,437 see section 7.2.1) this will apply to domains larger than 10 nm or so, and a separate experiment with higher Q-resolution should be performed for accurate domain size characterization. For smaller domains, quantitative information about the size and shape of the average domain can be extracted from the form of the envelope attenuating the signal. This envelope function is the spherically averaged autocorrelation of the domain and can be accounted for by multiplying a reference PDF simulated by a crystal structure model by a characteristic function  $\gamma(r)^{33,440-442}$  to damp the LRO signal,

$$G_{\rm nano}(r) = \gamma(r)G_{\infty}(r) \tag{10}$$

reflecting the expected attenuation with increasing-r. The reference PDF may come from a measurement if that sample can be assumed as both relatively highly ordered and of the same atomic structure.<sup>172</sup> It is often sufficient to assume spherically shaped domains for which the analytical expression is described by

0

10



Figure 11. Examples of PDFs for ordered and disordered materials: (top) turbostratic, nanocrystalline layers of Zr-phosphonate-phosphate UMOF versus crystalline layered  $\alpha$ -Zr-phosphate hydrate,<sup>371</sup> (top, middle) crystalline versus amorphous small molecule HIV drug,<sup>177</sup> and (bottom, middle) ordered slip-stacked TTI-COF and disordered TTI-COF with ordered porous channels<sup>376</sup> versus disordered rPI-3-COF with collapsed pores,<sup>379</sup> and (bottom) liquid water.342

r (Å)

30

40

50

$$\gamma(r)_{\text{sphere}} = \left[1 - \frac{3r}{2d} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{r}{d}\right)^3\right] H(d-r)$$
(11)

with domain diameter *d*, and a step function H(r) with value 1 for  $r \le d$  and 0 beyond.<sup>440,442–444</sup> Analytical expressions for  $\gamma(r)$  have been published for many other simple geometries including prolate and oblate spheroids,<sup>442,446</sup> spherical shells,<sup>442,446</sup> nanorods or nanotubes,<sup>442,446</sup> nanosheets,<sup>442</sup> and spherical distributions including log-normal spherical distribu-tions.<sup>444,447</sup> Usher et al.<sup>448</sup> used a systematic parametrization procedure to develop numerical approximations for describing both simple and more complex shapes including spheres, octahedrons, cubes, tetrahedrons, rods, flat plates, and tetrapods.

Samples often do not consist of identically shaped or monodisperse particles. This can make it difficult to distinguish between different shape models by PDF modeling alone. However, if information is available from a complementary technique such as electron microscopy, a more suitable geometry may be chosen.<sup>33,447,449,450</sup> If the small-angle scattering signal is measured, this can be used directly to obtain the proper form of the average domain shape envelope for the corresponding PDF.<sup>37,451</sup>

As particle size is reduced and surface-to-volume ratio increases, or in cases in which particles are highly anisotropic along certain crystallographic directions, these spherically averaged envelope functions may no longer be a suitable approximation. The approximation used in eq 10 assumes that the internal structure and the particle shape are separable. However, if the shape is strongly determined by the internal symmetries of the structure, then this is no longer true. For example, a sample may be rod-shaped specifically because of a preferential growth direction in the structure. In such cases, it becomes necessary to use structure models that simulate the whole cluster or domain to accurately describe the relationship between the atomic structure and morphology, which results in correlation between the damping properties and relative peak intensities in real space. This has been discussed extensively for inorganic nanoparticles  $^{452-460}$  and layered nanomaterials.  $^{371,386,387,449,461,462}$  To our knowledge, this has yet to be applied in a similar way to small molecule or organic nanocrystals. One benefit of decreased domain size, in the limit of very small domains or for amorphous matter, is that it becomes possible to directly observe the on-average size of the coherent structural order.<sup>139,342,463</sup>

#### 4.2. Molecular Conformation

Different intermolecular packings (polymorphic or amorphous forms) can develop from the same molecule, and so it is useful to consider the effects of the individual molecule on the scattering and resulting PDF. Considering the coherent scattering intensities to come from either intramolecular or intermolecular interferences, the equation for the reduced total scattering structure function can be reformulated in terms of atoms *i* and *j* located within molecules  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , as in

$$F(Q) = \frac{1}{N\langle b \rangle^2} \sum_{\alpha\beta} \sum_{i \neq j} b^*_{\alpha i} b_{\beta j} \frac{\sin Q r_{ij}}{r_{ij}}$$
(12)

where  $\alpha = \beta$  represents intramolecular pairs and  $\alpha \neq \beta$ represents intermolecular pairs, or more simply

$$F(Q) = F_{\text{intra}}(Q) + F_{\text{inter}}(Q)$$
(13)

In materials where the diffuse scattering dominates,  $F_{intra}(Q)$ can be simulated and compared to measured data, typically above  $2-4 \text{ Å}^{-1}$  depending on the extent of the molecular motif and its conformational flexibility. This is the case for noncrystalline molecular materials, and therefore  $F_{intra}(Q)$ can be used to identify plausible molecular conformations absent a crystal structure. In crystalline molecular materials, increased thermal factors between molecules (and faster damping of low-Z form factors, e.g., in organic materials) means that the high-Q region is also mostly dominated by  $F_{intra}(Q)$ . Refinement can aid the analysis, using for instance

$$F_{\text{intra}}(Q) = \frac{1}{N\langle b \rangle^2} \sum_{\alpha, i \neq j} b_i^* b_j \frac{\sin Q r_{ij}}{r_{ij}} \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma_{ij}^2 Q^2}{2}\right)$$
(14)

as implemented in the program X-ray Intermolecular Structure Factor (XISF) from Mou, Benmore, and Yarger.<sup>464</sup> The exponential term accounts for Debye–Waller effects, where  $\sigma_{ii}$ is the root-mean-square displacement for atom-pair ij. An example of fitting with XISF is shown in Figure 12.

Similar analysis can be performed using the corresponding PDFs, with the additional benefit that unlike the seemingly arbitrary shape of the interference pattern, the real-space signal



**Figure 12.** Modeling total scattering intensities in reciprocal space: fit of Probucol molecular structure to high-Q region. Here, qS(Q) is equivalent to the definition of F(Q) used in the current paper. Reproduced with permission from ref 464. Copyright 2015 International Union of Crystallography.

can be more intuitive to assess with respect to bond distances in the model. It is useful then to consider how changes in molecular conformation might affect the PDF signal. If free rotors exist in the molecular structure, then any rotation of these groups with respect to one another can change the pairdistance distribution. Consider as an example biphenyl  $(C_6H_5)_{21}$ , which consists of two benzene molecules linked together by a single rotor, shown in Figure 13. For illustrative purposes, a planar conformation with torsion angle  $0^{\circ}$  is used as the starting point. As the torsion angle is rotated to  $90^{\circ}$ , the R- and para- carbons remain in plane with respect to each other. However, the ortho- and meta- carbons rotate out of plane, resulting in modified pair-lengths between the two separate phenyl groups. For example, as C2 rotates out of plane, the C2-C2' distance increases, while the C2-C6' distance decreases, until converging (C2-C2' = C2-C6') at 90°. One additional curve, shown in black, is the average of all prior rotation angles. This is what would be expected if the central bond is a free rotor. While biphenyl does not present a true free rotor,<sup>465</sup> this averaging effect demonstrates how the observed signal will also be modified by a distribution of conformations present in the material. Of interest is the fact that some peaks in PDF are washed out, for example, the peaks between 4.5 and 5 Å and between 5.5 and 6.5 Å, whereas other peaks are preserved, for example the peak at 6.6 Å that comes from the carbon atoms that are widely separated in space but which lie on the axis of the rotor. Thus, PDF analysis can be be useful in the assessment of conformational details, particularly in disordered or noncrystalline materials that cannot be assessed using typical crystallographic methods and where distributions of conformations may exist.

In practice, the assessment of conformations in this way can be difficult due to significant overlap of intramolecular and intermolecular pair distances, for example, at  $\gtrsim 3$  Å for organic molecular materials. For cases with significant intermolecular



**Figure 13.** Conformational effects on the PDF: simulated PDFs offset from one another as a function of biphenyl dihedral angle from 0 to  $90^{\circ}$ . The black curve represents an average over all angles.

MRO or LRO, the analysis should consider both conformation and packing in space. However, single-molecule models can still be useful. If the correlation between atom-pairs in neighboring molecules is very weak when averaged over all possible neighbor orientations, for example in many amorphous materials, then the intermolecular signal will be very broad leaving the intramolecular signal to dominate the sharp signal over short distances. Thus, the assessment of conformations in a single-molecule model can serve at least two purposes. First, it can help to confirm which conformations or conformation distributions are consistent with the observed data. Second, it can help to identify how distributed the conformations must be to successfully reduce the simulated intramolecular coherence compared to the observed signal. If the orientations of neighboring molecules are on average highly correlated, for example, for the formation of dimers, then it may become necessary to use multimolecule models to simultaneously explore different dimer orientations.

Conformation distributions can be tested using spectroscopic or computational methods. Bordet et al.<sup>183</sup> measured amorphous  $\beta$ -trehalose and found that the PDF simulated from a single conformer of the known crystal structure did not match well. A disordered model was built by varying the torsion angles of the two glycosidic linkages, and weighting the contributions according to the probability distribution reported from <sup>13</sup>C SSNMR data.<sup>466</sup> The qualitative improvement in the match between simulated and experimental PDF patterns is shown in Figure 14a. Another example is given for a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) maturation inhibitor GSK2838232B in Figure 14b. In this case, an unweighted averaging of conformations predicted by using Mercury<sup>467</sup> also gave substantially better agreement with the local structure observed for a ball-milled amorphous sample, as suggested by significantly broadened distribution of chemical shifts observed by <sup>13</sup>C SSNMR.<sup>177</sup> These observations show that for larger molecules with more conformational degrees of

![](_page_16_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 14.** Experimental effects of conformational disorder in amorphous compounds: (a) comparison between PDFs of a single molecule from the crystal structure, a weighted average of conformers, and the measured data for melt quenched  $\beta$ -trehalose. The data were digitized from Bordet et al.<sup>183</sup> with the conformer distribution determined from <sup>13</sup>C SSNMR.<sup>466</sup> A similar comparison is given in (b) for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 maturation inhibitor GSK2838232B; data are from Terban et al.<sup>177</sup> In this case, the conformations are predicted from the program Mercury.<sup>467</sup>

freedom, the sharp features in the intramolecular region can be dominated by the rigid subunits of the molecule, while correlations across the linkage of rotatable bonds are significantly broadened.

Similar concepts can be useful for the assessment of subunits within coordination compounds and other network-forming materials. Conformational distortions have been observed in a macrocyclic gadolinium chelate coordination polymer. On micronization, the crystal structure of Zn-Gd-DOTA-4AmP becomes amorphous, and disordering of the phosphonate terminated arms coordinating  $Zn^{2+}$  ions leads to a loss of coherence between the Gd and Zn.<sup>468</sup> In amorphous zeolitic gel precursors, the presence of ring structures forming in the gels was detected prior to crystallization,469 as was the presence of seven-membered rings in nongraphitic carbons.<sup>69</sup> PDFs can also substantially aid in identifying secondary building unit (SBU) structures. Mohideen et al.<sup>470</sup> discerned the presence of Cu-tetramers versus Cu-dimers in a Cu-based layered coordination polymer, STAM-2, and Cliffe et al.<sup>471</sup> determined the presence of Hf<sub>6</sub> double clusters in 2D layers cleaved from hcp UiO-67(Hf) MOF along with the delamination mechanism. By comparing samples from a variety of synthetic procedures of different porphyrinic Zroxo MOFs, Koschnick et al.<sup>324</sup> demonstrated that Zr<sub>6</sub>O<sub>8</sub> SBUs

in the MOF PCN-221 had been incorrectly assigned as  $\rm Zr_8O_8$  due to orientational disorder.

# 4.3. Bond Stiffness and Correlated Motion

The width of the peaks in a PDF represent the probability distributions for the interatomic distances associated with given atom-pairs. This distribution is affected by both atomic motion and static displacive disorder. When the disorder is sufficiently small, it can be described by a Gaussian distribution with some width. The widths are captured in isotropic, or anisotropic, atomic displacement parameters (ADPs),<sup>472</sup> and highly anisotropic ADPs often indicate the presence of non-Gaussian disorder. In local structure studies, after noting the presence of significantly anisotropic ADPs in an average refinement, it is common to use different models for the disorder to achieve smaller and more isotropic ADPs.<sup>427,429</sup> More generally, the ADPs obtained from crystallographic average refinements can overestimate the PDF peak widths for low-*r* peaks because of correlated atomic motions. When atoms are directly neighboring one another, or associated by distinct bonding arrangements, their dynamics tend to effect one another, for example, the thermal motions of neighboring atoms may tend to push and pull one another, thus decreasing the time-averaged distance distribution. This has the effect of narrowing the width of the associated peak.<sup>473-475</sup>

This presents a special challenge for molecular materials, because different types of interactions manifest between intramolecular versus intermolecular atom-pairs. This requires special treatments that are generally not needed for most inorganic materials. Covalently interacting, intramolecular atom-pairs will generally experience a higher degree of correlated motion, resulting in narrow peak profiles. Hydrogen and van der Waals bonding between separate molecular species is relatively soft, resulting in larger vibrational amplitudes and correspondingly much broader peaks in the PDF. The broad peaks in the high-*r* region become overlapped and show up as broad, complex features that are not well separated, but are representative of the underlying structure, such as functional groups or entire molecules. These peaks are a direct result of conformation and packing of the molecules, but also reflect the inherent disorder in molecular packing in many molecular systems. Similar behavior also occurs for correlations between flexible ligand molecules and inorganic clusters in MOFs, as well as molecular segments associated by distinct network connectivity, as seen for example in some amorphous MOFs.<sup>476</sup>

The program PDFgui<sup>475</sup> suggests the parameters  $\delta_1$  or  $\delta_2$  for describing correlated motion, with linear and quadratic rdependence of the peak broadening, respectively. This behavior has a basis in theory (the correlated Debye model),<sup>473,474,477</sup> but is more often just used as convenient fitting parameters. Where there is a sharp cutoff between highly correlated low-*r* peaks and less correlated intermediate-*r* peaks, it is possible to use the sratio parameter. This is a reasonable approximation for the step-function-like sharpening behavior of rigid molecules up to a cutoff distance of **rcut** beyond which intermolecular interactions begin to dominate.<sup>475</sup> However, this is not ideal, because there is a range of distances over which intramolecular atom-pairs and intermolecular pairs coexist, meaning that sharp peaks are present sitting on top of broad peaks. In this case, a distinct modeling procedure has been described in which separate ADPs are used to describe the mean squared displacements (e.g.,  $U_{ii}$ ,  $B_{ii}$ ) of intramolecular and intermolecular pairs, respectively, in the simulated PDF. This is implemented for example by Rademacher et al.<sup>478</sup> using the program DISCUS,<sup>479</sup> and by Prill et al.<sup>175</sup> using the program Diffpy-CMI.<sup>480</sup> This can be performed using Diffpy-CMI by first calculating the PDF from a crystal  $G_c(r)$  as described above, with ADPs  $U_{inter}$ . Then, the PDF is separately calculated for an individual molecule  $G_{m1}(r)$  with  $U_{inter}$  and subtracted. Finally, the individual molecule PDF is calculated again  $G_{m2}(r)$  but with separate ADPs  $U_{intra}$  and added, giving the total contribution

$$G_{\text{total}}(r) = G_c(r) - G_{m1}(r) + G_{m2}(r)$$
(15)

The procedure is visualized in Figure 15 as implemented by Prill et al.<sup>175</sup> in the case of naphthalene. Similar principles were

![](_page_17_Figure_4.jpeg)

**Figure 15.** Systematic illustration of intra- and inter-molecular bond contributions to the PDF of a small molecule solid: (a) simulated PDF patterns of (1)  $G_{m2}(r)$ , (2)  $G_c(r)$ , (3)  $G_{m1}(r)$ , (4)  $G_c(r) - G_{m1}(r)$ , and (5)  $G_{total}(r)$ , as in eq 15. (b) Resulting refinement. The blue curve is the experimental PDF of naphthalene. The red curve represents the corresponding calculated PDF using the new approach with two isotropic displacement parameters. The green curve depicts the fit difference, while the red line at the bottom shows the fit difference from the standard approach. Adapted with permission from ref 175. Copyright 2015 International Union of Crystallography.

discussed earlier by Narten and co-workers for applications in molecular liquids.<sup>481</sup> For flexible, macromolecular fluids, for instance, it is no longer possible to uniquely separate the total scattering structure function (or PDF) into intra- and intermolecular contributions. However, the long-range intra-molecular interactions can be assumed to be screened out by intermolecular interactions, and therefore, the intramolecular component can be approximated at the monomeric length-scale.<sup>482</sup> Separate intra- and inter-molecular atomic ADPs have also been utilized for modeling chain structure in the solid state.<sup>130,137</sup>

In TOPAS v6 and up,<sup>483</sup> this discrepancy in intra- versus inter-molecular peak widths can also be modeled by designating specific atomic-pairs within the unit cell using the **pdf\_for\_pairs** macro, which allows a new peak broadening parameter or function to be defined that overrides the previous thermal parameter descriptions. For example, in a unit cell where all atoms are generically described with thermal parameter **beq = Biso**, if C1 and C2 are two sites sharing a chemical bond, then the broadening of the corresponding peak can be redefined by defining a new parameter for the intramolecular peak width:

#### prm Bintra 0.1

then specifying the corresponding bond with

# pdf\_for\_pairs "C1" "C2" pdf\_only\_eq\_0 pdf\_gauss\_fwhm = Bintra;

In this way, the distinct intramolecular pairs may also be described as an *r*-dependent function, and sections of larger molecules may be segregated into distinctly correlated subunits to account for conformational distortions.<sup>177</sup> More information can be found in the TOPAS technical reference<sup>484</sup> and the PDF macros on the TOPAS wiki page.<sup>485</sup>

# 4.4. Molecular Coordination and Orientation

By focusing on the intermediate and long-distance regions of the PDF, information on the intermolecular packing arrangement can be determined. The signal depends on both the conformations and 3D locations and orientations of the molecules. For highly crystalline materials, this provides comparable information to reciprocal-space analyses of the Bragg peaks. For less well ordered materials, it provides further insights. Because the atomic density distribution seen in the PDF is a complicated function of 3D information collapsed onto one axis, it can sometimes appear confusing for distinguishing molecular arrangements. However, these realspace functions are highly sensitive to even small molecular rearrangements. This is shown by comparing different polymorphic and/or hydrated forms of lactose to a measurement for  $\alpha$ -lactose monohydrate in Figure 16.<sup>38</sup> Similarities exist between simulated patterns from different structural models reflecting similarities in the preferred intermolecular neighbor packings between the (energetically) viable models. Differences between the distinct packing models can be differentiated from fine-scale features that are sensitive to these differences. It is useful to point out how the PDF reflects molecular packing information in a more intuitive way than the Bragg scattering in reciprocal space. Structures with similar intermolecular packing arrangements but which, nonetheless, result in LRO with different symmetries and unit cells will yield diffraction patterns that, to the eye, appear to be quite unrelated, but PDFs that are highly similar. In this way, PDFs can give a better measure of similarity in packing between

3.0

2.

2.0

1.0

0.5

G (Å<sup>-2</sup>)

![](_page_18_Figure_1.jpeg)

stable  $\alpha$ -lactose. Bw=0.53

pubs.acs.org/CR

 $\alpha$ -lactose monohydrate, Rw=0.24 0.0 10 20 30 40 50r (Å) **Figure 16.** Refinement of different polymorphic structure models (anhydrates and hydrates) to the experimental PDF for lactose:

(anhydrates and hydrates) to the experimental PDF for lactose: Similarities in local intermolecular packing between models allow for varying degrees of agreement to some features, even for models with the wrong packing, but the models can be differentiated from finescale features that are sensitive to the packing. Figure reproduced with permission from ref 38. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society.

models, to help the scientist compare and contrast intermolecular associations in different polymorphic forms.

This information about molecular packing persists in the PDF even when the material is not well crystallized, for example, in nanocrystalline drug and food compounds,<sup>38,172</sup> poorly crystalline pigments,<sup>486</sup> or thin-film materials.<sup>487</sup> This is also evident for materials that undergo conformational or orientational order—disorder transitions or form plastic phases. In such cases, insights can be gained by comparison with related crystalline forms such as for *p*-terphenyl<sup>478</sup> and cyclohexane.<sup>488</sup> Head-to-tail disorder of molecules was studied for the case of 2-monomethyl-quinacridone (Pigment Red 192).<sup>489</sup> A preferred local orientational ordering of molecules was observed along one diagonal direction, in agreement with theoretical calculations.

For amorphous structures with no LRO at all, there often still exists some MRO defined by the preferred intermolecular arrangements, with correlations typically existing over a few molecular packing distances,  $^{38,173,177,204,205,424}$  as shown for melt-quenched active pharmaceutical ingredients: carbamazepine, cinnazirine, miconazole, clotrimazole, and probucol in Figure 17. For small rigid molecules, the frequency in *r* of broad correlations in the PDF can give some insight into the

![](_page_18_Figure_7.jpeg)

**Figure 17.** Extraction of intermolecular features from disordered pharmaceutical PDFs: measured PDFs (solid lines) are multiplied by r to highlight the medium-range interactions and compared with the intramolecular curves calculated from the crystal structures (dotted lines). The difference between the solid and dotted lines corresponds to the intermolecular PDF (dashed line below) with maxima highlighted by arrows. Here D(r) is a slightly different normalization of G(r).<sup>31</sup> Reproduced with permission from ref 173. Copyright 2013 Elsevier.

preferred packing orientations of molecules. However, for larger, more flexible molecules, they can rather reflect the distance of closest approach between different subunits averaged over different conformations.<sup>204,205</sup> The peaks of the extended, intermolecular correlations in PDFs of amorphous molecular materials can be around an order of magnitude smaller than those in the ordered form, and close to 2 orders of magnitude smaller than the intramolecular peaks, therefore requiring amplification for example by  $r \times G(r)$ ,<sup>173</sup> and high quality data with minimal noise in the high-Q range. Lower  $Q_{max}$  cutoffs may be used in combination with modification functions to reduce termination effects and increase the visibility of the structural correlations at higher distances (see section 7.4).

The study of molecular spatial and orientational correlations in liquids has significantly benefitted from the use of MD and EPSR simulations (sections 3.3.3 and 6.3) to develop the most probable spatial density function (SDF) to describe the intermolecular density correlations or *solvation structure*.<sup>238,490-493</sup> In a study of acetone and dimethyl sulfoxide, McLain et al.<sup>296</sup> determined that both liquids show a high degree of preferred molecular orientations within the first coordination shell, dictated by the underlying symmetry of the

![](_page_19_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 18. Demonstration of interchain packing: (a) square (purple) and (b) hexagonal (orange) stacking of cylindrical columns and (c) the associated density distribution functions. (d) The hexagonal stacking model (orange) was fit to the PDF simulated from the structure of  $\delta$  poly(lactic acid) (PLA) (blue).

![](_page_19_Figure_2.jpeg)

**Figure 19.** Comparison of candidates models with different conformations and interchain packing to the experimental data: PDFs simulated from different models of MDI:BD thermoplastic polyurethane models are compared to the experimental data. Ranking by Pearson correlation coefficient (see section 5.1) allowed for identification of the best candidate, Struc. 8. Reproduced with permission from ref 137. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

respective molecules. Both liquids showed a preference for antiparallel alignments of dipole moments, but with a broader distribution for acetone and a more specific *head-to-tail* arrangement of the S=O···S=O bonds.<sup>296</sup> Headen et al.<sup>292</sup> studied the nature of aromatic  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions in liquid benzene and liquid toluene. Benzene molecules were found to be the more highly correlated, but both benzene and toluene were found to contain coordination shells with an average of approximately 12 neighbors. At small separations (<5 Å) parallel displaced orientations were favored where the neighbor is slightly shifted to mimic that observed in the interlayer structure of graphite (and similar to stacking offsets in COFs<sup>374-376,379</sup>). At larger separations (>5 Å), interactions are dominated by an *edge-to-face* interaction where two H atoms are directed toward the acceptor aromatic ring (similar to the motif observed in crystalline  $benzene^{494,495}$  or as suggested in the packing of neighboring polyurethane chains<sup>137</sup>).

#### 4.5. Chain Packing

Chain- or 1D-like motifs are a common structural feature of many organic polymers and coordination compounds. Differences in the bonding properties along the chain versus between neighboring chain structures can affect the relative sharpness or broadness of the associated peaks, similar to the broadening observed for intermolecular peaks from small molecules. Furthermore, the effects of chain rigidity or persistence length and the overall small contribution from the pairs along a single chain to the total PDF at higher distances can lead to a significant loss of distinct atom-pair peak details at longer distances along the chain.<sup>481,482</sup> Thus, the MRO and LRO signals in the PDF, if present, often reflect lower frequency density modulations that result from the packing directions perpendicular to the 1D chains. This is demonstrated simply using the density fluctuations of stacked cylinders. Square and hexagonal stackings of cylinders lead to different density distributions. The change in unit cell angle from 90° to 120° leads to a contraction of the 2nd neighbor distance in the square stacking model, which becomes equal to the first neighbor distance, as shown in Figure 18. Compared to the atomic PDF calculated for  $\delta$  poly(lactic acid) (PLA) that has an orthorhombic unit cell but hexagonal-like packing of spiral chains, the hexagonal cylinder model reproduces the low frequency modulations in the density giving an accurate value for the nearest neighbor interchain distance.

As discussed in section 3.2.1, many studies of amorphous and molten polymer structures have attempted to determine local chain packing motifs by the relative positions and amplitudes of broad maxima extended over SRO and MRO distances. However, a difficulty in this endeavor arises in that the first sharp diffraction peak of the amorphous polymer scattering patterns predominantly arises from a fairly welldefined distance of closest approach between molecular subunits,<sup>95,112</sup> rather than a particular packing pattern of necessarily rigid chain segments. Voigt-Martin and Mijlhoff also discussed a concern that a potentially significant source of error in such analyses could result from the generation of low frequency termination oscillations due to the  $Q_{\min}$  cutoff (see section 7.4 for further discussion).<sup>496</sup> It is difficult to make this assessment a posteriori for claims made in early papers. The observation of long-wavelength ripples in the PDF certainly implies the presence of some kind of density modulations present in the structure, but care must be taken not to read too much into the value of the wavelength unless it has been established to not be affected by variations in  $Q_{\min}$  (see section 5.8). In situations such as these, conventional RAPDF data can be augmented with data collected on a detector at a further distance from the sample (i.e., medium angle X-ray scattering or MAXS) or even a full-on small angle scattering measurement.

Many poorly ordered, semicrystalline polymers do have some degree of LRO present, and the resulting long distance signals can be used to differentiate different polymorphs<sup>137,139</sup> and to differentiate the packing characteristics resulting from different processing methods.<sup>32</sup> In thermoplastic polyurethanes synthesized using 4,4'-methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) and 1,4-butanediol (BD), kinking of the diphenyl-methane leads to oscillatory behavior along the chain axis and more complex intermolecular packing motifs, and the chain packing can no longer be thought of in terms of linear packing motifs. Different models were constructed by using either gauche or trans configurations of the central bond in the BD fragment, different orientations of the urethane linkage with respect to the neighboring diol and phenyl segments, and varying the dihedral angle of the diphenyl-methane segment.<sup>137</sup> This resulted in different chain packing motifs in the direction perpendicular to the hydrogen bonding direction. A particular match to the intermolecular packing pattern could be discerned through a combination of similarity comparisons as shown in Figure 19 and subsequent structure refinement.

#### 4.6. Layer Stacking

Layered motifs are a common feature in many materials.<sup>497,498</sup> In general, differences in preferred bonding interactions within and between layers lead to a variety of interesting disordering mechanisms that can complicate the idea of a crystal and therefore the assessment or solution of its structure.<sup>499</sup> These can include relative shifts or rotations between layers, interstratification by other chemical species, or delamination effects leading to true 2D materials. When possible, candidate stacking vectors should be derived using high-resolution reciprocal-space diffraction data or by comparison to ordered variants, although PDF data can be very useful for constraining intralayer bond distances and verifying local stacking motifs, such as in honeycomb structures.<sup>500,501</sup> In other cases, diffraction analysis may not be feasible due to severe stacking disorder or even nanosized in-plane dimensions, and this is where PDF methods can become particularly useful.

A feature of many disordered layered materials is turbostratism, or the random orientational arrangement from one layer to the next.<sup>43</sup> In these cases, the interatomic correlations coming from atom-pairs located in separate layers is smeared out such that only information on the individual layer structure, along with the average density distribution in the direction of the layer stacking, can be obtained. As a simple demonstration, in Figure 20, consider the PDF for parallel

![](_page_20_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 20.** Representations of interlayer packing for turbostratic layers: (a) periodically stacked planes of constant electron density and (b) the associated PDFs (offset for clarity with dotted lines representing G(r) = 0). Dark blue and red represent thin and thicker layers with a spacing of 3 Å, and green and light blue represent thin and very thick layers with a spacing of 6 Å.

planes of uniform electron density, with no distinct atomic sites within the layers. For very thin planes, the density distribution appears as a sawtooth pattern where the PDF sharply rises at each distance-of-closest-approach between planes and then falls off more gradually to higher distances. This, and for the same reasons, resembles the well-known Warren line-shape in diffraction.<sup>43</sup> Increasing the thickness of

![](_page_21_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 21.** Different COF layer stacking models fit to experimental data: best PDF fits obtained from refinement over 1-20 Å to (a) the ordered HT-TTI-COF assuming unidirectionally slipped stacking ( $R_w = 12\%$ ) and of LT-TTI-COF, assuming (b) eclipsed ( $R_w = 32\%$ ), (c) unidirectionally slipped ( $R_w = 26\%$ ), or (d) randomly slipped stacking ( $R_w = 21\%$ ). Reproduced with permission from ref 376 under CC BY 3.0 license.

the layers broadens these sharp features into an increasingly sine-wave-like oscillation. For an isolated single layer, with no stacking, these oscillations would not occur, and the PDF can then be described by a single layer model, for example in the case of delaminated layered double hydroxides (LDH).<sup>461</sup> In cases of severe turbostratic disorder, these oscillations may be negligible if the ordering between layers is also very weak, for example, if the layers are not parallel or are bent. For the most information, the oscillatory behavior can be extracted from the fine-scale features due to the atomic-structure and analyzed separately from the intralayer components.<sup>371</sup> Another possibility is to use a hybrid modeling approach with the intralayer structure described by an atomic model and the interlayer density fluctuations described by a second model with smeared electron density, as above, or an analytical description, for example, in the style used to model the radial distribution functions of some glassy carbons.<sup>51,55</sup> Turbostratic disorder can also be approximated using anisotropic ADPs. Petkov et al.<sup>60</sup> modeled the out-of-plane disorder in nongraphitic carbons by allowing for larger ADPs in the out-ofplane direction to dampen the interlayer correlations.

In many cases, fairly definite types of interlayer associations are present. For example, slipped stacking of neighboring layers in preferred directions is observed in porous 2D polymers including imide and amide COFs<sup>376,379</sup> and poly(heptazine imide) (PHI).377 Although the long-range ordering of the slipping direction can be lost, the signal of local interlayer interactions is still preserved in the PDF if specific relationships are preferred between neighboring layers. For example, refinements of ordered slip-stacked, eclipsed, and randomly slipped models against the PDFs of ordered (HT) and disordered (RT) TTI-COF demonstrate the level of misfit, and improvement expected, for these different descriptions of the local layer stacking, Figure 21. In this case, even though an eclipsed model fits the diffraction pattern very well in reciprocal space, it is clear that the local structure prefers offsets of neighboring layers by the better agreement with the unidrectionally slipped model of the HT phase. Refinement instead of models with random slipping directions showed substantially better agreement in real space, and could fit the reciprocal-space diffraction pattern without the use of large valued microstrain parameters. As related to the use of separate in-plane versus out-of-plane thermal parameters for such layered motifs,<sup>32,60,376</sup> the reduced correlations between layers can result from both disordered stacking relationships as well as conformational flexibility.<sup>379</sup> When using anisotropic out-ofplane ADPs, it is important to keep track of correlations

between ADPs, layer conformation, and the stacking vectors used to describe the modifications to the layer positions.

Refinements to the local structure may be used to obtain a crystallographic unit-cell-type description of the local structure in layered materials where in which a solution from reciprocal space is not possible.<sup>385,390,392,502</sup> Information about the presence and density of particular types of local interlayer interactions may also be accessible in nanomaterials for which features in reciprocal space are too diffuse for approaches focused on Bragg peak analyses.<sup>503,504</sup> In practice, models of different stacking sequences can be constructed and then fit as separate phases to the experimental PDF up to the repeat distance of the stacking sequences in the model. Allowing random displacements in many-layer, supercell models can be useful for verifying the correct intralayer structure and likelihood for stacking faults,<sup>505</sup> but this style of refinement is typically not very useful for determining precise kinds of faults that exist within the material or their probability. Most work in this area has focused on the simulation of the diffraction effects due to different kinds of stacking faults in reciprocal space, for instance the recursive approach used by DIFFaX.<sup>506,507</sup> Recent efforts using statistical analysis of Markov chain Monte Carlo sampling has been suggested as a means to estimating the most probable stacking configurations from real-space data.<sup>508</sup> Other recent work by Playford et al.<sup>509</sup> has used experimental PDFs to determine the fractions of cubic versus hexagonal stacking between layers of water molecules in ice crystals. They discussed that the PDF data were less sensitive than the diffraction data to higher order memory effects, or "Reichweite", where the probabilities of 2nd, 3rd, and so on, stacking events are affected by the first neighbor association. Because of this, they suggested that the PDFs may actually be a better measure of the percentage of cubic stacking events (cubicity). Figure 22 shows the effects of hydrogen disorder, cubicity, and different types of memory effects on the PDFs. Overall, it is expected that with high quality data and careful analysis, further development in the extraction of information from real-space refinements may be possible.

# 4.7. Micropores

The pores in ordered framework-type materials can be considered 3D tesselations in space that, like the atoms in a crystal, also have a distinct phase relationship. Since the PDF is the autocorrelation of the electron density, it therefore intrinsically includes the correlations of the regions lacking electron density. To understand how the real-space signal of the pore structure manifests, one can consider the PDF for the inverse structure where pores are represented as a

![](_page_22_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 22.** Influence of different interlayer structural characteristics on the calculated PDFs: (a) hydrogen-ordered/disordered ice Ih, (b) hydrogen-disordered ice I with cubicities of 0, 0.5, and 1, and (c) hydrogen-disordered ice I with 0.5 cubicity and different memory effects (strictly alternating, random stacking, and two slabs of cubic and hexagonal stacking. Here D(r) is a slightly different normalization of G(r).<sup>31</sup> Reproduced with permission from ref 509. Copyright 2018 International Union of Crystallography.

pseudoatomic solid; wherein the atom positions represent the pore distribution. This is demonstrated in Figure 23. Here, the PDFs have been simulated for two metal—organic frameworks, MOF-5 for which the pores are packed in a simple cubic (SC) arrangement and ZIF-8 for which the pores are arranged in a body-centered cubic (BCC) manner. To illustrate the simple, pseudoatom approximation, the corresponding monatomic SC and BCC models are utilized, with lattice dimensions rescaled accordingly. The respective PDFs are superimposed showing that the diffuse, long-wavelength density fluctuations are described well by this model. Similar approaches have been used to model the pore structuring in layered porous structures.<sup>371,376</sup> In many cases, such voids within framework structures may be filled with gas or solvent molecules, and the composition, amount, and relative structuring should also be considered. Pore filling may act to suppress the amplitude of these low frequency oscillations due to the decrease in the density difference between the framework and occupied interstitial space.<sup>369,377</sup>

The observation of low frequency oscillations in the experimental PDFs can be useful for probing the presence and possible geometry of void structures present in a compound. This idea has been used to index the local pore structuring of microporous, amorphous MOFs against potential crystallographic models determined using model building and DFT relaxations.<sup>341</sup> The MOFs incorporated cobalt-oxo cubane  $(Co_4O_4)$  clusters to be used as a catalyst for the oxygen evolution reaction, and the clusters were connected with different organic linkers including 1,3,5-tris(4carboxylatophenyl)benzene (Co<sub>4</sub>-BTB), 1,3,5-benzenetricarboxylate (Co<sub>4</sub>-BTC), tris(4-pyridyl)benzene (Co<sub>4</sub>-TPB), tris-(4-pyridyl)pyridine (Co<sub>4</sub>-TPP), or tris(4-pyridyl)triazine (Co<sub>4</sub>-TPT). Despite lacking long-range order, void structuring was observed, which allows catalytic functionality to be carried out in liquid solution. By testing the different crystal structure models developed, the PDF data were useful for determining their validity for describing the local connectivity and possible pore morphologies, as shown in Figure 24. The Co<sub>4</sub>-BTC was a near exact match, and the Co<sub>4</sub>-BTB described the features upon elimination of the lowest order Bragg reflections. In the other cases, the pore structure in the samples was shown to be similar to one another, but different from the models. The formation of longer-range oscillations can be an indicator of ordered network formation during synthesis, for example in the crystallization of ZIF-8,<sup>342</sup> and this should be cross-checked against the development of a corresponding peak in Q-space. Likewise, such indications can be further used to check for or rule out the presence of porosity in precursor or intermediate structures formed for instance during the nucleation of MOFs<sup>342,343</sup> and in MOF liquids and glasses.<sup>334-336,476</sup> It is expected that such an analysis could be of further use for investigating the local structure and distortion for instance in molecular cages<sup>510</sup> or other porous liquids.<sup>511</sup>

![](_page_22_Figure_8.jpeg)

**Figure 23.** Demonstration of packing of pores in a periodic structure and the resulting density modulations present in the respective PDF signal: the long-wavelength signal can be thought of as the autocorrelation of the pores (red), superimposed onto the PDF of the discrete atom–atom pair distances (blue). Examples are shown for frameworks with both (a,b) simple cubic packing for MOF-5 and (c,d) body centered cubic packing for ZIF-8.

![](_page_23_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 24.** Short-range ordering of pore structure within disordered, metal-organic network stabilized  $Co_4O_4$  frameworks: experimental data (colored curves) are fit with DFT-derived crystal structure models (black). Reproduced with permission from ref 341. Copyright 2019 National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.

#### 5. CHARACTERIZATION METHODOLOGIES

#### 5.1. Fingerprinting and Refinement

The identification of certain phases or structural features within a material is one of the most important purposes for diffraction methods.<sup>35</sup> In reciprocal space, this is generally carried out by qualitative or quantitative assessment of the measured diffraction patterns, from simple visual comparison all the way to refinement of a known structure model. Databases and tools exist specifically for identifying possible phases from observed Bragg peak positions.<sup>512–515</sup> Diffuse diffraction patterns can be compared to identify differences between the samples, which may result from changes in structure, moisture content, impurities, etc., though very good quality data are required and with limited information accessible about the structure itself.<sup>159,516</sup>

PDFs provide a very sensitive signal for fingerprinting samples, with the additional advantage that crystalline Bragg reflections are not required. Slight but meaningful differences in diffuse scattering, considered as part of a *background* in most reciprocal-space analyses, may codify distinct structural differences between two samples (or sample and structure model). These differences can be studied by various methods in reciprocal space,<sup>464,517</sup> although the extremely diffuse nature of the signals may lead to poor distinction of different candidates by many metrics.

When no LRO is present, the PDF provides a way to directly access structural properties such as bond lengths in samples where comparison of diffuse diffraction halos may be ambiguous. For similar materials, small differences in bonding character, for instance aliphatic versus aromatic content, can be resolved by shifts in the nearest neighbor bond-length distribution,<sup>139</sup> or the presence of different ring or cluster structures as discussed in section 4.2. Differences in the molecular motifs present, or in the interaction between them, may generate characteristic signals in the MRO regions that may be identified through comparison to ordered structure models, even in the absence of well-ordered crystalline samples.<sup>137,341,424,518</sup>

A basic method for fingerprinting is to determine the degree of matching between the experimental PDF of an unknown compound and another PDF, which can be measured or simulated from a plausible model. Different metrics can be used to accomplish this. Simple metrics include measures of statistical correlation such as the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (PCC), which measures the strength of the linear relationship between two data sets, or Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, which measures how well the relationship between data sets can be described by an arbitrary monotonic function. The PCC is defined as

$$PCC = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=0}^{n} \left( \frac{G_1(r_i) - \langle G_1(r_i) \rangle}{\text{stdev}[G_1(r_i)]} \right) \\ \times \left( \frac{G_2(r_i) - \langle G_2(r_i) \rangle}{\text{stdev}[G_2(r_i)]} \right)$$
(16)

where  $\langle \cdots \rangle$  denotes the average of the values for the respective function and stdev[ $\cdots$ ] represents the standard deviation of all data points in the function. It gives a value between -1 and 1, where 1 implies perfect correlation, 0 implies no correlation, and -1 implies perfect anticorrelation. An advantage of this measure is that the resulting value is independent of the scale of each function and simply yields the similarity in the shape of the function, for example slight peak shifting. The PCC can be readily computed using standard statistical packages in Python or R, or for example, by uploading a set of PDFs to the PDF in the cloud Web site (PDFitc.org).<sup>519</sup>

Values around 0.8 or higher have typically been taken to indicate a high level of structural similarity, 38,137,169,172,182 though this is somewhat arbitrary. A more meaningful analysis may be carried out with multiple data sets, where comparison of PCC values between separate pairs of data sets can indicate better matching with one versus the other.<sup>38,137</sup> In addition to computing the PCC, visual inspection of the PDF curves as a sanity check should not be overlooked. It should be noted that in the PDF, high PCCs could result between different materials or polymorphs composed of the same molecular species, due to a high degree of match in the intramolecular region. In this case, the coefficient can be evaluated over different ranges to yield information about the similarity of the species, their conformations, and their packing, separately. Deceptively low Pearson coefficient values could result between materials of the same structure when there are large differences in the domain size and degree of structural coherence. However, this can be corrected for prior to the coefficient calculation by applying a damping envelope to correct for the disparity in the curves (see section 4.1).<sup>172</sup> Different effects can also be mitigated by comparing only certain distance ranges; comparing only the long distance range of the PDFs for instance has allowed for the identification of a suitable molecular packing model out of a large group of candidate structures.<sup>13</sup>

![](_page_24_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 25.** Database mining for structure models: potential models to describe amorphous  $P_2S$  were obtained from the Inorganic Crystal Structure Database (ICSD), including materials with compositions of  $P_xS_y$ ,  $P_xSe_y$ , and P. The models were iteratively fit to the local structure of the PDF data to determine best candidates using different refinement methods biased against the description of the local bonding properties (short distances), biased to the packing of molecular motifs (long distances), or for overall best agreement (full range). Reproduced with permission from ref 424. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

Another similarity metric uses the cross-correlation and respective autocorrelation functions of two data sets and gives sensitivity to comparisons for which shifts in the peaks may obscure actually high structural similarity.<sup>520,521</sup> Such differences in the PDFs from otherwise similar structures can result from things like slight differences in lattice parameters, molecular orientations, or even conformations. The use of this metric requires a slight transformation of the PDF data set and a weighting function that constrains the calculation of the correlations over a finite range around any given point. This metric therefore gives an additional benefit over the PCC in that it may help to identify apparently bad structural model candidates that might be a good model after structure refinement.

Other goodness-of-fit metrics used in crystallography<sup>522</sup> are more commonly used for comparison to a PDF simulated from a structure model, for example, after carrying out a structure refinement (see section 6). The weighted profile R-factor ( $R_{wp}$ or  $R_w$ ), used in many refinement programs, is defined as

$$R_{\rm wp} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i} w_{i} [G_{\rm obs}(r_{i}) - G_{\rm calc}(r_{i})]^{2}}{\sum_{i} w_{i} [G_{\rm obs}(r_{i})]^{2}}}$$
(17)

It measures the absolute value of the discrepancy between observed and calculated profiles with the contribution of each point weighted by the uncertainty of the value,  $w_i = 1/\sigma^2[G_{obs}(r_i)]$ . Depending on the mode of data collection, determining accurate uncertainties is not always easy,<sup>523</sup> and an equal weighting can be assumed by fixing  $w_i = 1$ . There is no

commonly agreed upon standard for what a "good value" should be. Whereas refinement of simple inorganic crystals may give  $R_{wp}$  < 2.0%, many studies quote values of 30% or more to indicate some structural insights, and it must thus be assessed on a case-by-case basis depending on the assumptions made, the structural features of interest, and the scope of the conclusion. Transue et al.<sup>424</sup> used a combination of database mining and local structure fitting to determine potential structure models to describe the features observed for amorphous, vulcanized P<sub>2</sub>S, demonstrated in Figure 25. While describing an amorphous material with crystalline models will always have inherent issues, this method enables the indexing of certain physical properties, and in this case allowed for the identification of chemical bonding environments similar to P<sub>4</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and molecular packing properties reminiscent of both P<sub>4</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Hittorf's phosphorus.

An alternative method for "fitting" when no structural information is known, for example, for fingerprinting or quality control purposes, can be performed by fitting a series of peaks.<sup>524</sup> A model can be generated from a *target sample*, and then other samples can be compared to determine the similarity in peak position and shape. Or, the peak positions could be constrained by the parent phase and then refit to the other sample PDFs to determine how well the structure is described by the target structure.<sup>179</sup> For highly resolved data of simple materials at short distances, a peak may truly represent a single atom-pair type, and sophisticated ways for extracting pair-distance lists over short distances exist.<sup>524,525</sup> However, for complex molecular materials, these fitted peaks may comprise a

mixture of different pairs whose specific contributions are impossible to unambiguously deconvolute. Thus, the fit only encodes the total signal but not the specific contributions. More specialized use cases also exist, such as the identification of topological features as was demonstrated for the coordination topology of amorphous zeolitic imidazolate frameworks in comparison to models of vitreous SiO<sub>2</sub> by simply stretching the reference SiO<sub>2</sub> PDF.<sup>328</sup>

In certain cases, the target is to identify or compare unknown, often amorphous or impurity phases, mixed within a known phase. If a suitable structure model is known, this component can also be modeled by fitting to the high-r region of the PDF, then fixing the fit parameters, calculating over the whole range, and subtracting from the experimental signal, for example, to isolate unknown amorphous phases present.<sup>90,526</sup> However, care should be exercised when the short distance behavior of the pure phase is not well characterized. The shortrange, correlated motion behavior of the pure phase should be known to avoid misassignment of features or discrepancies in intensities. Another approach is to subtract a measurement of the pure known phase. If the concentration is low, the sensitivity of these methods are much lower since the signal is dominated by the majority structure, and therefore misfit in fitting a model can be detrimental. If the parent phase can be measured separately, without any significant structural modification, then it can be possible to directly subtract away its scattering contribution in order to isolate that from the minority component. This analysis generally requires longer measurement times since the statistics measured from the minority component are much lower than from the total sample.<sup>179</sup>

A future direction for fingerprinting and phase matching is through large-scale data mining, allowing for a more comprehensive search for, and identification of, potentially useful models. This has been implemented in the PDF in the cloud (PDFitc) project,<sup>527</sup> for searching open source databases and in the Crystallography Open Database (COD) and Material Project (MP), for candidate structures.

#### 5.2. Structure Solution

For nanocrystalline materials, crystallographic methods focused on Bragg peak analysis are not typically viable for ab initio structure determination. The idea of a unique structure may not even be well-defined for poorly ordered or amorphous materials. In these latter cases, different regions of the sample, or different nanoparticles will have aspects that are common, and aspects that vary from region to region or particle to particle. The measured PDF represents an average over all the variations, unless individual particles are studied, for example, using tomography on aberration corrected TEM images.<sup>6</sup> Diffraction data reveal aspects of the structure that survive the averaging. This information can be extracted using small-box modeling or large-box modeling methods such as reverse Monte Carlo (RMC) or empirical potential structure refinement (EPSR) that can yield distributions of possible structural properties in the material. These methods will be discussed later in section 6.

For crystals, which have a mostly unique structure solution, it is often possible to determine that structure from powder diffraction data.<sup>3,528,529</sup> Since the PDF is the Fourier transform of powder data, it seems plausible that it should be possible to determine structure directly from a PDF, under favorable circumstances. An ab initio determination of the molecular structure has been shown to be possible from experimental data when a sufficient number of distinct peaks are available (i.e., the molecule is rigid with few overlapping contributions).<sup>73</sup> This was demonstrated for the canonical case of buckminsterfullerene  $C_{60}$ , using a cluster buildup algorithm, called Liga, developed for the purpose, Figure 26. The

![](_page_25_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 26.** Reconstruction of  $C_{60}$  molecule from experimental R(r) using the Liga algorithm. Figure reproduced with permission from ref 73. Copyright 2006 Springer Nature.

algorithm relies on reliable extraction of atom-pair positions from well-resolved peaks, further using the multiplicities based on the integrated intensity in the corresponding RDF in the elemental material (carbon), though was shown to be robust against reduction and even loss of this information.<sup>530</sup> It uses a competition between candidate clusters, building promising clusters to larger size, and reducing the size of less ideal clusters, based on a score with respect to the list of distances extracted from the PDF.<sup>73,530</sup> The approach also worked well to determine a number of inorganic crystal structures of compounds and minerals.<sup>530</sup> Unfortunately, for more complex, low symmetry molecules it failed, due to an inadequacy of information in the signal due to peak overlaps; the inverse problem became ill posed.<sup>531</sup> Additional information, for example, knowing the number of unique chemical environments in the molecule, further constrains the problem and may remove the ill conditioned nature of the problem.<sup>74</sup> For

molecular systems, the problem can be simplified if the molecular geometry and its conformational degrees of freedom are already known. By fixing the molecular geometry and optimizing only the molecular positions and orientations, structure solutions were accomplished by Prill et al.<sup>176</sup> The crystal structures for quinacridone, naphthalene, allopurinol, and paracetamol were solved from experimental PDFs given inputs for the molecular structure, unit cell parameters, and guesses for the number of molecules in the asymmetric unit, with or without symmetry imposed on the molecular positions. Given constraints on bond lengths and torsional angles, the conformational flexibility could be parametrized for individual molecules in the asymmetric unit by reducing the symmetry, for example refining as P1 with Z = Z' = 4, instead of  $P2_1/c$ with Z = 4, Z' = 1. This method appears highly promising, especially given that there is substantial space for improvement, for example by incorporating ensemble-type behavior for orientational or substitutional disorder in the crystal,<sup>532</sup> or using crystal structure prediction methods to obtain new starting configurations.<sup>533,534</sup> A brute force method extended from these ideas has been recently demonstrated for the solution of small molecule crystal structures without a priori knowledge of the unit cell or space group symmetry.<sup>535</sup> This method requires only the molecular geometry, experimental PDF, and a setup of the allowed search-space including, for example, allowed ranges for lattice parameters and cell volume, space groups to be investigated, and any restrictions on molecular position, orientation, or internal degrees of freedom. The proceeding steps then involve random structure generation, evaluation, and refinement, significantly benefiting from fast simulation of the PDFs from the models.<sup>483</sup> Success of the method was demonstrated for barbituric acid form IV using a range of only 1-20 Å, indicating that it may also work for nanocrystalline materials with structural coherence on the order of only a few nanometers.

Section 4.6 discussed the stacking relationships in layered materials. In some cases, the atomic structure within the layers must also be determined. Even if the layers in the material are not long-range ordered, it is possible to test different structural candidates for the layer motif by comparing only over short distances. Once suitable candidates can be identified, they can then be used for further structure solution by optimizing the interlayer degrees of freedom, for example, interlayer distance and relative orientation as discussed above. For example, in a study of  $V_2O_5 \cdot nH_2O$  xerogel,<sup>390</sup> fitting to the local structure enabled the presence of bilayers to be identified as opposed to single layers. Then, the bilayer motif was placed into a unit cell with an appropriate interlayer stacking distance and refined over a wider r-range, resulting in a suitable model for the material. In a similar way, the structure of a 2D metal carbide  $(MXene)^{383}$  was determined for  $Ti_3C_2T_r$  where T stands for surface terminating species such as hydroxy ligands.<sup>385</sup> Here, the starting structures were single layers generated from DFT calculations. The layers were placed into a unit cell with a *c*-axis lattice parameter approximated from the diffraction pattern with the number of layers constrained to two. A suitable model could not be obtained by translation alone, but a good fit could be obtained by a symmetrically allowed rotation of the second layer by 60°. Thus, a suitable space group could be deduced,  $P6_3/mmc_1$ , with a screw axis along *c*, which was further used to constrain the atomic positions in the final refinement. This allowed for further investigation of the effects of intercalation by potassium hydroxide or sodium acetate.

A fundamental difference in structure solution by reciprocalspace crystallographic methods is the importance of first indexing a structural symmetry, which massively reduces the parameter space of the problem. However, in real space, the modeling is often begun without assuming any symmetry (P1). Then, attempts are made to build up the model starting with known structural motifs, for example, molecules or secondary building units, while using any knowledge or reasonable guesses about packing distances, orientations, and/or connectivity. Working up from this, MRO structural motifs or even emergent symmetry relationships may be identified in the ensuing models. Since all the information on the diffraction pattern is contained in the PDF (the Fourier transform is a linear transform), it is not implausible to imagine that similar indexing processes could be performed in real space as well. Liu et al. 536 have approached this idea using machine learning to try and predict space groups directly from the PDF. This may pave the way to better approaches for using crystallographic symmetries to reduce the parameter space for realspace structure solution.

#### 5.3. Phase Quantification

The determination of relative phase fractions in mixed phase materials is critical for materials characterization, especially in the preparation of pharmaceutical and food formulations. This includes quantification of different phases of the same molecule (e.g., mixed polymorphic forms persisting during crystallization or amorphous and crystalline phase fractions produced through various processing procedures) or different molecular species (e.g., from phase segregation due to immiscibility).

Various procedures for phase quantification with reciprocalspace analyses are well-developed.<sup>537</sup> Methods catering specifically to estimating crystalline and amorphous components for example in molecular solids<sup>538</sup> or partially disordered polymer mixtures<sup>539–541</sup> have been suggested, depending upon certain measurement conditions and assumptions about the samples. Some phase quantification applications can also be performed using PDF data.

It is useful to reconsider the total scattering structure function in terms of partial structure functions associated with the atoms *i*,*j* situated in separate phases  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . If the sum over individual molecules in eq 12 is replaced with a sum over atoms of distinct phases, we obtain

$$S(Q) = S_{\alpha\alpha}(Q) + S_{\beta\beta}(Q) + S_{\alpha\beta}(Q)$$
(18)

and a PDF similarly described as a sum of phase-specific partials as in

$$G(r) = G_{\alpha\alpha}(r) + G_{\beta\beta}(r) + G_{\alpha\beta}(r)$$
<sup>(19)</sup>

If it can be assumed that separate phases coexisting in the material do not have any coherent structural relationship, then the cross-phase terms,  $G_{\alpha\beta}(r)$ , become zero on average and the observed data are a linear sum of the PDFs of the separate phases p, where

$$G(r) = \sum_{p} G_{p}(r)$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

In general, this is a very good assumption. Only in special cases, where two phases have well-defined relationships to each other, such as through epitaxy, does this assumption not hold.  $^{542,543}$  The contribution to the total from each phase (for X-rays) is roughly proportional to the squared number of

contributing electrons of that phase within the scattering volume, or more roughly to its atomic number density weighted percent, which is generally rather close to its mass percent. One way to reconstruct the total in eq 20 is by scaling measured PDFs from the pure phases. When standards are measured together with the sample-of-interest, this has the advantage of accounting for experimental effects and systematic errors in the measured PDFs. The mixed phase sample data  $G_{mix}$  can be reconstructed by optimizing the scale factors of the standards, for example, for crystalline and amorphous data sets  $G_{s1}$  and  $G_{s2}$ , by

$$G_{\rm mix} = xG_{\rm s1}(r) + (1-x)G_{\rm s2}(r)$$
(21)

The concentration, x, is varied such as to optimize some metric relating  $G_{\text{mix}}$  and the measurement  $G_{\text{exp}}$ . 38,137,177,182,183,544 A program for carrying out a similar assessment for in situ data has been published.<sup>545</sup> Accurate quantification relies on a consistent scaling of the standard data sets. Formally, this is accomplished by data processing programs (see section 7.6) that explicitly place the scattering data onto an absolute scale prior to Fourier transformation. When the data are not on an absolute scale, a consistent data scaling must be determined. This could be estimated for instance by fitting a structure model to the standards to determine the scaling or by measuring the density and rescaling according to the  $-4\pi r\rho_0$ baseline. If the samples are composed of the same molecules, it may be sufficient to assume the same density by equating the integral areas of the first coordination shell, because the coordination environments within the molecules should be the same.<sup>38,177,182</sup> The assumption of equal density is often not bad (e.g., the difference in crystal densities for polymorphs of the same organic molecule often do not exceed 5%)<sup>546</sup> even for the amorphous forms.<sup>547</sup> In the cases where the atomic density differences between phases are more significant, then measured or predicted densities might be used to normalize the data to the RDF and normalize by the integral areas of the associated peak.

If the structures of  $G_{s1}$  and  $G_{s2}$  are known, or if there is a suitable model that reproduces the experimental density and fits the PDF, then phase contributions can also be simulated from said models. In this case, the experimental effects must be carefully taken into account. This can be difficult, for the reasons given above about intra- and inter-molecular correlations and variation in conformations. However, if successful, it does have advantages over the summation of standards that scale factors normalized per mass, atomic number, or molecule can be directly extracted (for example, they are listed in the output file of PDFgui), and additional measurements of standards are no longer necessary. In principle, the structural description of a phase that becomes modified in the mixed state can taken into account. Preparing pure phase standards may not be possible, for example when a pure amorphous compound is not stable against crystallization. It is sometimes possible to account for the presence of amorphous phases by computing the PDF for just the molecule itself, and not the full crystal structure. If the molecule is flexible, it may even be better explained by the sum of the PDFs of the rigid subunits of the molecule. The amorphous component in a mixed crystalline and amorphous system is then estimated from the refined scale factors of a two-phase model of the PDF: one calculated from a single molecule and one from the crystal structure of the same material. However, this method should not be expected to give quantitatively

accurate values if the amorphous phase has significant MRO. In cases for which significant intermolecular contributions are present in the amorphous phase, one could also consider using MD simulations to develop an amorphous model.

A similar strategy also works if the sample consists of LRO and MRO nanocrystallites. In this case, the MRO component can be approximated using the crystal structure model and damping the longer-r correlations to zero (as discussed in section 4.1), using

$$G_{\rm mix} = s \sum_{p} \left[ x_p G_p(r) \gamma_p(r) \right]$$
(22)

where *s* is a global scaling factor,  $x_p$  is the specific phase fraction for phase *p*, and  $\gamma_p$  is any modification due to finite domain size and shape. A model for addressing the problem of amorphous and crystalline phase fractions in a two-phase mixture could look like

$$G_{\rm mix} = s[xG_c(r) + (1-x)G_c(r)\gamma_2(r, d_{c_a})]$$
(23)

with the simulated PDF for the crystalline structure model  $G_c(r)$ , and where  $\gamma$  is the characteristic function to describe the damping, and  $d_c$  is the coherence of the nanostructured or amorphous phase. Different methods to account for the presence of amorphous/crystalline phase fractions were tested for PDF data of a pharmaceutical ingredient and compared to reciprocal-space pattern fitting results, Figure 27.<sup>177</sup> In this case, the same trend was found for summation of standards versus summations of models, except when the crystallite size of the crystalline model was allowed to vary. The limits of detection and quantitation were determined at 4% and 13% respectively. That these values are an order of magnitude higher than 0.37% and 1%, achieved for whole pattern fitting of diffraction data from a model system of lactose,<sup>538</sup> may suggest that reciprocal-space analysis is the approach-of-choice when possible. However, the PDF approach may still be semiquantitatively useful in nonideal cases where proper structure models and standard patterns are both not available.

Purely statistical approaches can be used to track the phase evolution as a function of some control variable such as time or temperature. The set of PDFs are considered to be statistically independent and formed into a matrix where each column contains a PDF. This matrix can then be decomposed in different ways, for example, principal component analysis (PCA),<sup>548</sup> which finds the eigenvectors with respect to the variation in the PDFs, or non-negative matrix factorization  $(NMF)^{184}$  that places a positivity constraint on both the components and their weights. PCA is mathematically more straightforward, but NMF results in more physical components.<sup>549</sup> These methods are used to greatly reduce the number of PDFs that need to be modeled. Instead of doing PDF refinements to possibly hundreds of data sets in the timeseries, it is only necessary to refine models to the 3 or 4 or 5 most important components. Every one of the PDFs in the series is then determined by a linear combination of these components, where the weights are output by the NMF procedure. In both cases, results must be judiciously checked for meeting realistic expectations. It is worth noting that, because the matrix decomposition methods are determining the smallest number of components that captures the most variance in the data, they are monitoring what is changing in the data as a function of time. For example, if the experiment is to monitor an in situ reaction, a number of reagents react to

![](_page_28_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 27.** Effect of disordered phase fraction for an HIV pharmaceutical drug,  $C_{48}H_{73}ClN_2O_6$ : (a) the peaks due to intramolecular bonding experience negligible change, and the disordered phase does not contribute to the long-range region. A monotonic increase in peak amplitudes due to intermolecular ordering is observed with increasing ordered phase concentration. (b) The results of all phase quantification methods are plotted against the weight percents obtained by massing the separate components prior to mixing. Figure reproduced with permission from ref 177. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

produce the product, or a number of products. In this case, the NMF components will reflect the reaction equation; in other words, one of the components will yield a linear combination of the PDFs of the reagents with weights given by the balanced stoichiometric reaction equation, and the other will give the same for the products. There is a lot of open space for improvements in the application of these methods, particularly in terms of protocol standardization.

#### 5.4. Component Miscibility

The understanding of intermolecular interactions is pivotal in both cocrystal and pharmaceutical formulation design.<sup>550–552</sup> If the components of a mixed-phase system are highly miscible with each other, then eq 20 is no longer a good assumption, because a new scattering contribution arises from the restructuring of mixed species. A prominent problem in pharmaceutical and polymer processing, is the ability to determine the level of solubility between solid phase components. The driving force to mix hinges on the formation of new, preferred structural states involving both components. This can strongly impact the observed properties and stabilize individual components against product-degrading transformations. This has been a primary focus for much PDF research 9

carried out in the pharmaceutical literature, for example, for the study of amorphous pharmaceutical-polymer blends.<sup>185–193</sup>

Considering a mixture of drug (D) and polymer (P) molecules, eq 18 can be reformulated into component-specific terms as

$$S(Q) = S_{\text{intra}}^{\text{D-D}}(Q) + S_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(Q) + S_{\text{intra}}^{\text{P-P}}(Q) + S_{\text{inter}}^{\text{P-P}}(Q) + S_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-P}}(Q)$$
(24)

The target for the experimental analysis is to determine whether the cross-component terms  $S_{inter}^{D-P'}(Q)$  are present, and hopefully gain some insight into the nature of these structural states. Unfortunately, the accurate extraction of this term is not trivial. One method to do so has been demonstrated for a compositional series of itraconazole and polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP).<sup>194</sup> The process requires first analyzing the measured Xray diffraction patterns and identifying compositional ranges for which isosbestic points exist (or do not exist) in relationship to the pure phase patterns. Ranges where new isosbestic points develop that are inconsistent with the pure phase patterns may suggest new structures developing from interactions between drug and polymer and the development of a region of new phase stability in the system. If the structure of the polymer is not strongly affected by the presence of the drug,  $S_{intra}^{P-P}(Q) + S_{inter}^{P-P}(Q)$  may be approximated and subtracted using the measurement of the pure polymer. If the drug disperses well, or in cases of dilute drug concentrations, it may also be possible to consider drug-drug interactions  $S_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(Q)$ as negligible. Finally,  $S_{inter}^{D-P}(Q)$  can then be extracted by subtracting  $S_{intra}^{D-D}(Q)$  simulated from a model of a single drug molecule, as discussed in section 4.2. Note that this requires a suitable molecular conformation, which may not necessarily be well-represented by the crystal form, and thus conformational searches and comparison of simulated and experimental S(Q)may be useful for identifying an optimal model.

A similar assessment was utilized by de Araujo et al.<sup>195</sup> to assess the mixing and associated stability of dispersions of the active pharmaceutical ingredient lapatinib within hypromellose phthalate (HPMCP) and hypromellose (HPMC-E3) at ratios of 1:3, 1:1, and 3:1. Equation 24 can analogously be written in real space as

$$G(r) = G_{\text{intra}}^{\text{D-D}}(r) + G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(r) + G_{\text{intra}}^{\text{P-P}}(r) + G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{P-P}}(r) + G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-P}}(r)$$
(25)

and in this case,  $S_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(Q)$  or likewise  $G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(r)$  could not be neglected. A subtraction of the reference polymer measurement  $G_{\text{polymer}}$  from the drug loaded polymer measurement  $G_{\text{loaded}}$  results in a difference function given as

$$\Delta G(r) = G_{\text{loaded}}(r) - G_{\text{polymer}}(r)$$
$$= G_{\text{intra}}^{\text{D-D}}(r) + G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-D}}(r) + G_{\text{inter}}^{\text{D-P}}(r).$$
(26)

Further subtraction of the intramolecular drug component in reciprocal or real space results in only the intermolecular components. In either case, the partial signals resulting from these differences are commonly referred to as the difference PDF (dPDF). By comparison to  $G_{inter}^{D-D}(r)$  of the pure drug, signals corresponding to some orientational correlations between either (or both) drug molecules or drug and polymer remain and lead to lower stability against lapatinib recrystallization. Salt formation between lapatinib and HPMCP resulted in reaction and a homogeneously disordered

pubs.acs.org/CR

dispersion of the drug, suggested by a lack of intermediaterange structure in the dPDF signal, Figure 28. A similar

![](_page_29_Figure_4.jpeg)

**Figure 28.** Extraction of intermolecular dPDF including drug-drug/ drug-polymer correlations for dispersions of lapatinib (LP) with (a) hypromellose phthalate (HPMCP) and (b) hypromellose (HPMC-E3) at ratios of 1:3, 1:1, and 3:1. Decreased intermolecular correlations for 1:1 and 1:3 LP:HPMCP for instance were noted to correlate with salt formation and increased stability. Here D(r) is a slightly different normalization of G(r).<sup>31</sup> Figure adapted with permission from ref 195. Copyright 2017 Springer Nature.

assessment of polymer dispersions with the antiparasitic drug flubendazole was also carried out.<sup>553</sup> In these implementations, the software XISF<sup>464</sup> was used for fitting intramolecular components in *Q*-space, though similar methods in real space can be implemented using, for example, Diffpy-CMI<sup>480</sup> to calculate single molecule PDFs using the Debye equation method.

Another method for determining the presence or absence of significant intercomponent interactions is to reference X-ray scattering and PDF data to the pure component patterns. For phase separated systems, the PDF is assumed to be an incoherent sum of drug-drug and excipient-excipient interactions, and it should be suitably fit by a linear summation of reference patterns from the individual phases. In highly miscible systems, the fitting of standards should not suffice due to the third intercomponent interactions between drug-excipient. This should lead to a poor fit from the reference data or scale factors that deviate significantly from known weight percentages.<sup>185</sup> When reference patterns for individual

components cannot be obtained, for example when an individual component will not form a glass on its own, a similar method to PCA termed the Pure Curve Resolution Method (PCRM) has be used. Dispersions are measured over a range of mass ratios and a statistical analysis is used to extract reference patterns from the variance in the data.<sup>187,188</sup> There are significant benefits to performing these measurements over a wider *Q*-range, in that near-neighbor and intramolecular pair-correlations can be resolved, and there is less error due to termination effects.

A further approach to extracting intermolecular interactions, rather than the reference methods described, is to holistically model the interacting system. However, this method requires more assumptions in building and constraining a starting model, especially where structural details of amorphous excipient materials are unknown. It may be more feasible for studying intermolecular modifications in single component systems, for example, modifications to hydrogen bonding structure,<sup>198</sup> though support from other techniques is increasingly critical.

#### 5.5. Impurities and Degradants

It is important to detect and understand the presence of impurities in functional materials. Unlike solid dispersions mixed with known components, the nature of the impurities may be unknown. They may be present in the starting materials or inadvertantly produced through reactions or degradation. At high concentrations of segregated phases, impurities may be assessed by some of the indexing methods described above, for example to determine inorganic degradation phases in MOFs, <sup>367,368</sup> in either the diffraction pattern or PDF. If crystalline, impurity components may be identifiable at well below 1 wt %. <sup>179,180,554</sup>

Identification strategies become more difficult for impurities dispersed at low concentrations within the sample-of-interest. Ideally, if the impurity composition contains different elements, especially with higher scattering power (e.g., higher Z elements for X-rays), then PDFs may show altered relative intensities or new peaks from different bond lengths at short distances. It is typically not possible to assign the chemistry of a peak from the distance alone, so other methods such as various spectroscopies (FT-IR, NMR, EDX, etc.) could be helpful.

Molecular impurities can be observed in the form of moisture from the atmosphere, other solvents from processing, or degradation products.<sup>159</sup> In these cases, additional analyses may be necessary, via, for example, chromatographic, thermal, or mass-spectrometric methods. If the impurity composition is very similar to the sample-of-interest, or the weight-percent is too low, other effects may be observed in the PDF. For example, when sucrose is melted, degradation to glucose and fructose and formation of oligomers has little effect on the intramolecular bond distribution, but the presence of the mono- and polysaccharide compounds modifies the intermolecular distribution of pyranose and/or furanose rings, which can be observed by changes in the broad density modulations from roughly 6-16 Å.<sup>204,205</sup> This is accompanied by systematic changes in the observed diffraction patterns, and it is therefore critical to assess the role of impurities on the diffraction patterns of amorphous materials.<sup>159</sup> Residual moisture/solvent can also have a significant effect on the diffractoion patterns and PDFs.<sup>177,197</sup> Signals in the PDF could be observed and extracted from dichloromethane leftover from

microfluidic processing around 4 wt % in an amorphous HIV drug formulation by subtraction of the PDF of the ball-milled amorphous form.<sup>177</sup> Complicated situations with distributions of different species with similar bonding properties, such as different thiophosphate anions discussed in section 3.4.3, may require further standard measurements in order to benchmark the local bonding properties, for example, intramolecular peak widths and relative intensities of pure species, to have any chance of indexing the presence of the components in mixtures.

#### 5.6. Incorporation and Binding

Target applications for nanoporous molecular materials include nanoscale sieves or filters to take up, store, and/or neutralize certain ionic or molecular components. This encompasses a wide variety of so-called host-guest compounds with uptake of noncovalently interacting guests into, for example, inclusion (molecular host cavity or lattice of channels/tunnels), intercalation (laminar host structures), and clathrate (host-cage or lattice of host molecules) compounds. Many incorporation processes do not result in crystalline guest-structures, leading to diffuse, difficult-tointerpret effects on the diffraction pattern. However, an understanding of the adsorption processes, and the resulting structural states at the atomic scale, is required to improve selectivities. The goal in total scattering studies is therefore to isolate and interpret the scattering contributions from the localized guest structuring.

The approaches discussed in sections 5.3 and 5.4 can be used for a system with host (H) and guest (Gu) structures. If the scattering contribution or real-space structure of the host can be adequately modeled and removed, then the dPDF, in this case the difference between the guest-loaded PDF,  $G_{\text{loaded}}(r)$  and the bare host,  $G_{\text{host}}$ , can be written as

$$\Delta G^{\text{Gu}}(r) = G_{\text{loaded}}(r) - G_{\text{host}}(r)$$
$$= G^{\text{Gu-Gu}}(r) + G^{\text{Gu-H}}(r).$$
(27)

In other words, the dPDF contains information pertaining to the structural relationship predominantly between the guest and host material, but also any guest–guest correlations that survive the averaging. For certain elements, the dPDF can be formally accessed experimentally through the use of anomalous differential X-ray scattering (section 7.1.1) or through isotopic substitution with neutrons (see section 7.1.2). A routine for extracting partial PDFs from combined X-ray and neutron data, MIXSCAT, has also been proposed.<sup>555</sup>

Another form of the differential PDF may be accessed using two measurements, one of the host material as-is and the other with it loaded with the guest. The subtraction of the two signals in this case also gives  $\Delta G^{\text{Gu}}(r)$  when the structure of the *host* component does not change. This can be a good assumption when loading levels of the component of interest are very low, the interactions between guest and host material are relatively weak, and/or the host material is very rigid. An example of extracting the *guest* dPDF using this principle for N<sub>2</sub> gas within Prussian Blue is given in Figure 29. If the host structure does change, then  $G^{\text{H}-\text{H}}(r)$  cannot be formally removed in this way. The modified host structure must then also be accounted for using a model or also possibly by applying modification operations to the empty host data set (expansion, contraction, broadening, scaling, damping, etc.).<sup>369</sup>

![](_page_30_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Figure 29.** Examples of guest structuring accessed via difference PDF analysis: associations of disordered N<sub>2</sub> gas with itself and the host framework within the pores of Prussian Blue  $Mn_3[Co(CN)_6]_2 \cdot x\{N_2\}$ . Adapted with permission from ref 344. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society.

A weighted difference approach to extracting the local structure of Cs<sup>+</sup> cations within zeolite ITQ-4 was motivated by the survival of the silicate framework local structure when intercalated by varying concentrations of Cs<sup>+, 556</sup> Upon signal extraction, intrinsic structural features could be directly observed, such as a distinct coherence length of approximately 13 Å, and the nearest neighbor Cs bond distances of approximately 4 Å. Further, models incorporating the Cs ions into the host structure in various ways could be tested and ruled out, showing that locally ordered zigzag chains of Cs<sup>+</sup> ions form along the 1D channels in the zeolite. PDF coupled with Raman measurements could also identify functionalization of Hg by thiolate sulfur bridging within mesostructured silica.<sup>557</sup> A similar data treatment and analysis involved determining how Tb<sup>3+</sup> ions load between Zr-phosphate layers linked by the phenyl-phosphonate groups.<sup>371</sup> By subtracting the scattering from the empty host-structure, prior to Fourier transformation, a distinct and well-defined local coordination environment for the Tb ion could be determined. This was done by assembling a library of known, predicted, and closely related structures of TbPO<sub>4</sub>, then simulating the Tb-associated dPDFs using PDFgui. In another example, a detailed investigation of  $[\mbox{Fe}(\mbox{CN})_5\mbox{NO}]^{2-}$  anions within mesoporous silica allowed for identifying models for their orientations within the pore and chemical association with Na<sup>+</sup> cations.<sup>558</sup>

The loading of molecular gas and liquid species into microporous hosts has also been studied, for example, the substructures of  $H_2$  and  $N_2$  loaded into Prussian Blue analogues.<sup>344,345</sup>  $H_2$  showed a disordered, nondirectional orientation distribution within the pore, without any direct

binding to  $Mn^{2+}$  sites, whereas different adsorption sites with varying occupation were observed for deuterium loading into IRMOF-1.<sup>347</sup> The confinement driven structuring has also been studied for various species within nanoconfined graphitic pores.<sup>559–563</sup> I<sub>2</sub> incorporation into ZIF-8 for radioiodine capture and storage has also been investigated, showing that I<sub>2</sub> loading is consistent between crystalline ZIF-8 and after amorphization, which helps to inhibit subsequent release of the guest molecules.<sup>348</sup> The binding behavior of I<sub>2</sub> was found to change with increasing loading concentration, further leading to a loss of long-range order in the host.<sup>349</sup> A study of hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) binding into the metal–organic framework CPO-27 showed directional coordination of H<sub>2</sub>S to Ni sites by a Ni–S peak at ~2.55 Å as well as binding at coordinatively unsaturated sites left after dehydration.<sup>350</sup>

The binding associations of different compounds and complexes with  $Zr_6O_8$  clusters have also been investigated in a variety of MOFs. These associations can typically be identified by the appearance of peaks at the distance between the most strongly scattering species of the guest component and the Zr atoms of the MOF node, such as for Sb(OH)<sub>6</sub><sup>-,564</sup> selenate/selenite anions,<sup>352</sup> InMe<sub>3</sub>,<sup>354</sup> PS<sub>4</sub><sup>3-,565</sup> and dimethyl methylphosphonate.<sup>369</sup> In many cases, any distortion to the rigid Zr-oxo clusters appears negligible, allowing direct extraction of the dPDF of the binding associations and comparison to distances expected for different binding models. Interestingly, apparently stronger interactions associated with structural modifications such as the bridging of Ni-hydroxo clusters<sup>326</sup> can lead to significant distortions, as observed in temperature-induced polymorphic transitions of both Zr-oxo and Hf-oxo-clusters.<sup>325</sup>

#### 5.7. Interfacial Modification

In select cases, the rearrangement of solvent molecules at interfaces has been studied by total scattering and PDF methods.<sup>281</sup> Grazing incidence wide-angle X-ray scattering (GIWAXS) has been applied to study the arrangement of water molecules at the liquid–vapor interface.<sup>566</sup> By tuning the beam to sufficiently low incidence-angles, total scattering structure functions could be obtained corresponding only to the interfacial region. The inability to describe a shift in the first sharp diffraction peak with respect to measurements of bulk water by geometrical effects suggested an expansion of the molecular packing near the surface, in agreement with prior ab initio molecular dynamics simulations.<sup>567</sup>

Comparison methods using so-called double-difference PDF analysis have been used to investigate the rearrangement of solvent molecules around dilute, suspended nanoparticles. This was first demonstrated for various nanoparticles dispersed in methanol, ethanol, 1-propanol, and n-hexane.<sup>568</sup> These suspensions also show characteristic shifts in the first sharp diffraction peak that suggest modifications to the solvent behavior. In their analysis, scattering contributions from the bulk solvents were subtracted from the suspensions, and the resulting PDFs were found to consist of signal from the dilute nanoparticle structures with additional damped sine-wave-like oscillations suggesting the modification of layers of solvent molecules due to the interaction with the particle surfaces. The modulations were found to scale with the chain length of the solvent with reordering up to distances of 2 nm. Similar analysis in subsequent work suggests that water molecules rearrange into adsorbed and further hydration shells at faceted surfaces for different nanoparticles and capping agents.<sup>281,56</sup>

Solid interfaces can also govern material properties. The interfacial structuring of sunlight-harvesting dye molecules and semiconductor materials is important for the function of dye-sensitized solar cells. A recent study has suggested a method for probing the structural modifications associated with different dye binding modes at TiO<sub>2</sub> interfaces through difference analysis ( $\Delta G_{\text{sensitized}}(r) - G_{\text{unsensitized}}(r)$ ).<sup>570</sup> While the data did not appear to strongly discern between the proposed models, the qualitative agreement in peak positions shows promise for indexing such structural states and possibly to provide an avenue to determine deficiencies in simple DFT-derived models versus real interface structures. The NMF approach discussed for phase analysis in section 5.3 has also been recently demonstrated for extracting the interfacial signal from an experimental set of PDFs.<sup>571</sup>

# 5.8. Density Distributions from Small and Medium Angle Scattering

Longer length-scale density modulations appear in the lowangle region of the scattering pattern and are studied using small angle scattering (SAS). Having this scattering information available can be useful for studying things such as the distribution of larger, secondary molecular motifs or layers, the distribution of separate phases or domains, or the distribution of particles themselves, rather than their internal atomic structure. Peaks observed for instance in paracrystalline and semicrystalline polymers (including thermoplastic polyurethanes) are often attributed to microphase segregated crystalline and amorphous (or hard and soft) regions, often in the form of lamellar stacks 572-575 or a random close-packed or liquid-like distribution of segregated domains.<sup>576</sup> For a 3D isotropic material (e.g., random close-packed or liquid-like), the position of the peak in the observed SAXS intensities, I(Q), can be related to the interdomain spacing d by the Bragg relationship (i.e.,  $d = 2\pi/Q$ ).<sup>577,578</sup> Discrete objects are also routinely investigated, for instance the size, conformation, and even interactions between biological macromolecules in solution.57

SAS data are commonly assessed by various forms of realspace distribution functions that come with different requirements for the validity of their use and varying benefits for assessing different physical properties of structural heterogeneities.<sup>573,580–583</sup> The most common forms are the generalized 3D and 1D correlation functions. These functions represent the longer-range fluctuation in the density with respect to the average and are related to the probability that a rod of length *r* will have both ends in the same phase. The 3D correlation function corresponds to the case of isotropic materials, and can be calculated by

$$\Gamma_3(r) = \frac{1}{Q^*} \int_0^\infty Q^2 I(Q) \frac{\sin(Qr)}{Qr} \, \mathrm{d}Q \tag{28}$$

where  $Q^*$  is the SAS invariant, defined by  $Q^* = \int_0^\infty Q^2 I(Q) \, dq$ . The 1D correlation function corresponds to the case of scattering from orientationally averaged 1D stacks and can likewise be calculated from

$$\Gamma_{\rm l}(r) = \frac{1}{Q^*} \int_0^\infty Q^2 I(Q) \cos(Qr) \, \mathrm{d}Q \tag{29}$$

These functions can be assessed for measured data using for instance the program SasView.<sup>584</sup> Other common real-space functions used to assess SAS data include the chord distribution function, g(r) (3D isotropic case),<sup>580</sup> and the

interface distribution function,  $g_1(r)$  (1D stacks),<sup>573,574</sup> which are respectively related to the second derivatives of the 3D and 1D correlation functions. Density distributions from SAS signals are commonly used to assess morphologies of discrete macromolecular and nanoparticulate structures in dilute suspension,<sup>585,586</sup> This can aid in determining macromolecular conformations such as cis versus trans conformations of dumbbell shaped polyoxometalate-organic hybrid molecules in dimethyl sulfoxide solution.<sup>587</sup> Real-space assessment of coherent SAS interferences between particles or phases is also possible, for example, to investigate distributions of lamellar or secondary molecular structure motifs.<sup>153,588</sup>

The particular formalism used by the atomic PDF can be extended to the SAS regime in cases where certain scattering properties for the scattering entities are satisfied. The total scattering structure function can then be described by

$$S(Q) = \frac{I_c(Q)}{NP(Q)}$$
(30)

where P(Q) is the orientationally averaged intensity resulting from the form factor for the particular scattering motifs.<sup>589</sup> This approach has been developed as a particular application for studying the spatial arrangement in assemblies of nanoparticles in real space.<sup>590</sup>

Absent a priori knowledge of the scattering behavior of the motifs, Benmore et al.<sup>591</sup> have recently proposed a method for stitching the SAS signal onto the wide-angle, total scattering signal at the I(Q) level, and then propagating forward to real space. This is no longer the standard atomic PDF, G(r), which does not include the SAS signal by definition,<sup>33</sup> but a modified form that carries additional, lower-frequency density modulations associated with long-range morphological or phase inhomogeneities, as shown for mesoporous silica samples in Figure 30. While this approach has not yet been applied to further scientific use cases, it is expected that these measurements could provide an experimental reference for testing the validity of large-scale, molecular dynamics simulations or other hierarchical models. 592-595 Total scattering and the associated extended-range PDF, including the relevant SAS regime, could be generated using the Debye formalism and validated against the experimental data. Given sufficient computing power, this could theoretically be performed for any size model and simulation time-scale. It could be particularly useful for applications to phenomena including phase segregation, nucleation, or the study of composite materials with mesoscale inhomogeneities.

The medium-angle scattering (MAS) regime (roughly 0.1-5.0  $Å^{-1}$ ) generally contains the information about density fluctuations associated with the packing of chain, layer, and/or pore motifs as discussed in sections 4.5, 4.6, and 4.7. Larger thermal displacements and conformational disorder often lead to negligible distinct atom-pair correlations across motifs, and so use of data with a lower  $Q_{max}$  does not substantially degrade the real-space signal at long distances (a caveat being that the SRO cannot be accurately assessed with such data). High Qresolution measurements of this MAS region can be useful for extracting the density distribution of these structures over larger distances. This allows for less ambiguously discerning particular packing structures and differences in both coherence length and morphology. The PDFs (in this case lower resolution density distributions) obtained from high Qresolution Cu K $\alpha_1$  data are compared to atomic PDFs

![](_page_32_Figure_9.jpeg)

Figure 30. Extended-range PDF: (a) the overlap region in Q-space between the SAXS and WAXS detectors shown for the case of ordered mesoporous amorphous silica MCM-41, and (b) the extended range X-ray PDFs for amorphous mesoporous silicas SBA-15 and MCM-41 (solid black curves). In the lower part of the figure, the X-ray PDF of MCM-41 is compared to the published neutron PDF (blue dotted line, scaled for clarity). Adapted with permission from ref 591. Copyright 2020 Elsevier.

obtained from typical synchrotron measurements of different thermoplastic polyurethanes in Figure 31. The power of this approach lies in the increased ability to differentiate uniform amorphous versus nanocrystalline structures as well as to determine differences in the damping profiles that correlate with both particle morphologies and size distributions observed from microscopy.<sup>139</sup> This is an important consideration when measuring microporous MOFs and COFs, which may show strong Bragg reflections at much lower Q values than typical condensed crystal structures. For the assessment of low frequency structural oscillations at high distances, the effects of the  $Q_{min}$  should also be assessed, see section 7.4.

# 5.9. In Situ Structural Transformations

The structural effects and characterization methods discussed thus far give a useful toolset for analyzing systems over the course of exposure to some stimulus and ensuing transformation or reaction. Thus, by detecting and following changes in the conformation, contacts, packing, degree of order, etc., one can begin to determine directly the associated atomic-scale structural mechanisms. In addition to ex situ modalities, it is becoming increasingly common to study

![](_page_33_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 31.** Intermediate and long-range chain packing density fluctuations: long-distance range of PDFs from RAPDF experiment (black) and from higher Q-resolution experiments (color) showing structural correlations over an increased distance and substantial differences in damping profiles due to differences in domain size and shape distributions as confirmed by TEM and AFM measurements. Reproduced with permission from ref 139 under CC BY 4.0 license.

![](_page_33_Figure_5.jpeg)

**Figure 32.** A demonstration of in situ, differential PDF (dPDF) to track the presence of DMMP gas and its binding and degradation products with respect to Zr-oxo clusters: schematic representations with corresponding simulated PDF signals for (a,b) a free DMMP molecule, (c,d) monodentate bound DMMP, (e,f) monodentate bound MMPA, and (g,h) bidentate bound MMPA. Black curves show the dPDF corresponding to DMMP–DMMP plus DMMP–cluster pair distances with the bridging oxygen considered as part of the DMMP molecule (red curves with bridging oxygen considered as part of the cluster). The experimental dPDFs are shown in (i) for the different activation, DMMP dosing, and reactivation steps, with respect to the structure at the beginning of each step and compared to the simulated dPDFs. The structural differences are negligible for most steps, except for the increase in gas signal with flowing DMMP, and the subsequent removal of DMMP during heating. The presence of a peak at ~3.5 Å indicates the development of bound gas that is not removed during heating. Reproduced with permission from ref 369 under CC BY 4.0 license.

transformations in situ, typically with high energy, high flux X-rays and complex sample environments.

Variable-temperature studies are fundamental to studying phase transformations and properties such as thermal expansion. The combination with total scattering is particularly useful when the structural development has some noncrystalline component such as with order—disorder transitions. For example, cyclohexane displays orientational disorder in the high symmetry, or plastic crystal state,  ${}^{596,597}$  where the molecules are rotationally disordered on their lattice points.  ${}^{488}$  However, based on RMC modeling (section 6.2), the persistence of short-range orientational order of the molecules in the plastic phase was observed. Symmetry-reducing local distortions of the symmetric  $M_6O_8$  (M = Zr, Hf) octahedral clusters were observed within MOF crystals of NU-1000 and UiO-66.  ${}^{598}$  The distortions could be likened to monoclinic to

cubic transitions in bulk ZrO<sub>2</sub> and HfO<sub>2</sub> crystals. However, the distortions were observed to occur on heating between approximately 100-200 °C, rather than cooling down from ~1170 °C (ZrO<sub>2</sub>) or ~1750 °C (HfO<sub>2</sub>) for the bulk crystal phase. Interestingly, the distortions have no observable effect on the symmetry of the MOF crystal. Such behavior could hold potential for tailoring the electronic state of the active sites, allowing for instance tuning of the catalytic behavior under particular operating conditions. Local distortions in metal-organic compounds can also lead to interesting thermal behavior. Chapman and co-workers investigated the local mechanism of negative thermal expansion (NTE) in  $Zn(CN)_2$ on heating from 100-400 K.<sup>599</sup> PDF analysis indicated that an increase in transverse displacements of cyanide bridges between Zn centers allows for an overall contraction of nonnearest neighbors despite expansion of nearest neighbor bond length. Slight NTE was also observed in a variable-temperature PDF study of Zr-UiO-67.369

The importance of sorption and desorption behavior for applications of microporous materials has led to increasing use of gas flow-cell type setups. Structural transitions induced by dehydration were tracked for MOF Cu-SIP-3 by Allan et al.<sup>320</sup> Powdered material was heated in a gas flow cell from 300-500 K under He. An assessment of changes in the local structure allowed a more detailed mechanism of a low-temperature to high-temperature transformation to be discerned in which sulfonate groups move to coordinate Cu sites in positions left open by the removed water. Incomplete transformation led to a more disordered state until enough water was removed for the structure to relax into the dehydrated crystal form. Subsequent gas loading experiments with NO showed that it could act in place of water molecules to reform a partially ordered hydrate structure.<sup>320</sup> The decomposition mechanism of a nerve-agent simulant within the MOF Zr-UiO-67 was recently studied using a variable-temperature, gas-flow setup,<sup>369</sup> for applications in the remediation of toxic chemical agents. Introduction of dimethyl methylphosphonate (DMMP), a simulant molecule for the nerve agent sarin, was controlled by dosing a He gas flow with DMMP vapor into the MOF. After filling the pores, the remaining DMMP was subsequently removed using a combination of ambient He flow and heating steps to reactivate the MOF. Lattice parameters and on-average pore densities could be correlated with local behavior tracked through dPDF analysis, Figure 32, which showed that DMMMP binds to Zr-oxo clusters and degrades into bidentate-bound methyl methylphosphonate (MMPA).

In situ studies can also be used to study nucleation processes from a solvent or other media. Most work in this area has focused on inorganic nanocrystals;<sup>21</sup> however, a few studies have also applied these principals to molecular and low-Z materials. The crystallization of paracetamol from both 1propanol and methanol was followed with coupled in situ Xray total scattering and Raman spectroscopy.<sup>197</sup> Droplets of solution were levitated in the beam path using an acoustic levitator, then continuously measured as the solvent evaporated and subsequently as the resulting amorphous paracetamol crystallized. The choice of solvent was suggested to have an effect on the local hydrogen bonding that formed during the evaporation process, which acts to template the resulting crystallization into either form I or form II. Nucleation of MOFs from precursor materials have also been investigated. Despite rapid nucleation and growth, a view to the early stage development of ZIF-8 could be achieved by

measuring close to the point of mixing between streams of 2methylimidazole (2-MeIm) in MeOH. A high concentration of  $Zn(2-MeIm)_4$ -type clusters could be confirmed by PDF in conjunction with  $Zn(2-MeIm)_x(NO_3)_y$ -type  $(x \gg y)$  clusters observed by separate electrospray ionization mass spectrometry measurements.<sup>342</sup> Xu et al.<sup>343</sup> observed the formation of hexanuclear zirconium clusters in the metal salt precursor solution already at room temperature, and the formation of a disorder intermediate with structural correlations up to 23 Å prior to the formation of the MOF UiO-66 during solvothermal synthesis.

Other in situ experiments are also possible but challenging. One might consider other external stimuli, for example, the study of light-induced structural modifications associated with photoisomerization of ruthenium sulfur dioxide complexes.<sup>600</sup> Many PDF studies on milling or compaction effects on the structures of pharmaceuticals have been performed ex situ.<sup>177,183,200</sup> While, in situ ball milling procedures have become possible in high energy X-ray setups, no in situ PDF studies of milling or other mechanochemical reactions have been performed to our knowledge. This may primarily result from the complexity of the milling apparatuses and difficulty in separating the large and random scattering contributions from balls. However, this is a challenge that we expect will soon be overcome, as PDFs should provide significant value for studying the structural details of nucleating clusters and amorphous intermediates during the complicated reaction pathways induced by milling, including but not limited to small molecules,<sup>601</sup> COFs,<sup>602</sup> and MOFs.<sup>603,604</sup>

#### 6. MODELING STRATEGIES

So far, we have covered various physical observables that can be detected by PDF methods and the ways in which structural features are manifest in the PDF. We now turn to the problem of how to construct and refine structural models to gain deeper insights. Various schools of thought in approaching these problems exist, often classified as being "small box" and "big box" modeling, and recent discussions on these topics are available.<sup>11,28</sup>

## 6.1. Real-Space Crystal Structure Refinement

Small-box approaches use the minimal number of parameters to describe the structure. This approach generally starts from predetermined candidate models from conventional structure analyses, databases, or sometimes even hand-built models. The models are usually crystallographic models, but they do not need to be (e.g., single molecules, small particles, or other simple models may be used to index structural features in the data). Because the PDF is sensitive to deviations from the crystallographic structure, the local structure can then be explored by comparing different candidate models, or allowing distortions or displacements of atoms or atomic motifs to test whether they improve the agreement between simulated and the experimental PDF. The PDF is calculated after expanding the atoms of the unit cell using periodic boundary conditions;-

$$G_c(r) = s \times \gamma(r) \\ \times \left[ \left( \frac{R(r)}{r} - 4\pi r \rho_0 \right) \circledast S(r) \circledast M(r) \right] \times B(r) \quad (31)$$

with a scaling factor s and characteristic function  $\gamma(r)$  describing the crystallite shape and size. Here the circled asterisk symbol indicates a convolution, and S(r) and M(r)

correspond to effects due to reciprocal-space modifications to F(Q). The effect of a finite truncation of the data at  $Q_{max}$ results in  $S(r) = \sin(Q_{\max}r)/(Q_{\max}r)$ . This produces spurious oscillations in the PDF, which come from the data termination and are enhanced by poor signal-to-noise at  $Q_{max}$ . Q-dependent modification functions, such as the Lorch and modified Lorch functions, are sometimes applied to suppress the truncation effect.<sup>605–608</sup> The modification function is multiplied by F(Q)prior to transformation, or equivalently, its Fourier transform is convoluted with the unmodified PDF. This must also be accounted for in the model (i.e., convoluting M(r) with the simulated PDF) to properly describe any additional broadening of structural peaks at low-r, which can reduce the effective real-space resolution. Although they can aid in visual inspection, the modifications are mostly cosmetic, as the error in the data is not reduced.<sup>609</sup> It is often better to use only S(r)to account for termination effects, as long as the data are measured with good statistics. When carrying out difference analysis between measured PDFs, many systematic errors will generally cancel out anyway. Finally, B(r) accounts for

instrumental contributions, including effects of the Q-resolution and peak profile, see section 7.7.

The radial distribution is calculated by

$$R(r) = \frac{1}{N\langle b \rangle^2} \sum_{i,j \neq i} \frac{b_i^* b_j}{\sigma_{ij} \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(\frac{-(r - r_{ij})^2}{2\sigma_{ij}^2}\right)$$
(32)

where the  $\delta$  functions of eq 1 are replaced by Gaussian peaks due to thermal (and other nonspecific disorder) effects. The broadening factor  $\sigma_{ij}$  is defined by the root mean squared displacement coming from the ADP tensors of the atom-pairs and can include functions of r to define short-range correlated motion of atoms.<sup>473</sup> The broadening terms can further include r-dependent broadening related to Q-dependence of the instrumental resolution (section 7.7).<sup>475,610</sup>

Parameters of the model are refined in a similar manner to Rietveld refinement,<sup>611</sup> including for instance the lattice parameters of the unit cell *a*, *b*, *c*,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , fractional coordinates of the atoms, isotropic or anisotropic ADPs, correlated motion parameters, occupancies, damping functions, etc., to achieve the best agreement with eq 17. Such unit-cell models can also be set up in lower symmetries, for instance by populating all the atoms of the unit cell in P1 symmetry, and/or set up as supercells, to access different local structure modifications, for example, different relative orientations of neighboring molecules or modulated structures.

When refining molecular positions or conformations, it is particularly important to utilize rigid body implementations or a corresponding set of constraints and restraints on the atompair distances, angles, and torsions to ensure that the structural integrity of the molecule is maintained.<sup>176,177</sup> Rigid body implementations such as the *z*-matrix format available in TOPAS<sup>612</sup> or through the pyobjcryst package in Diffpy-CMI<sup>480,613</sup> make the parametrization of specific conformational distortions and coherent orientational modifications much easier.

A variety of programs are available for accomplishing such refinements. One of the most common and easy to use is PDFgui.<sup>475</sup> This program works best for quick comparisons, but it is not ideal for molecular materials. It includes a constant peak sharpening parameter **sratio** with a cutoff distance **rcut** to approximate the local  $\sigma_{ij}$  behavior for intramolecular correlations, but it cannot explicitly separate intramolecular

and intermolecular pair contributions. More accurate fits can be achieved with programs that can accomplish this including DISCUS,<sup>478,479,610</sup> Diffpy-CMI,<sup>175,480</sup> or TOPAS v6 and up.<sup>4</sup> A graphical use interface for Diffpy-CMI for fitting molecular materials is also available.<sup>614</sup> DISCUS and Diffpy-CMI both provide options to also generate PDFs through the use of the Debye scattering equation, eq 6,<sup>34</sup> and then propagate to F(Q)to be Fourier transformed. This is particularly useful for nonperiodic models such as discrete nanoparticles or single molecules. This also allows direct utilization of the Odependence of the scattering form factors for X-rays and the possibility to implement additional experimental effects such as instrument-specific peak profiles. TOPAS provides a different algorithm for constructing PDFs in real space that results in a significant improvement in calculation speed, especially for models with many atoms, for example, MOFs or large supercell models. This is also useful for running refinements over longer *r*-ranges and/or refining many data sets from, for example, in situ experiments.

#### 6.2. Reverse Monte Carlo Modeling

Reverse Monte Carlo (RMC) modeling<sup>615–617</sup> is an alternative approach to obtain a model that can describe the experimentally observed data. This is a "big-box" approach that starts with a much larger ensemble of atoms (typically thousands) that can be built for instance as a large supercell of a crystallographic model, or obtained from molecular dynamics simulations. An agreement factor is defined by

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i} w_{i} [G_{obs}(r_{i}) - G_{calc}(r_{i})]^{2}$$
(33)

with  $w_i$  as in eq 17. The structure is evolved by randomly selecting and moving an atom and then recalculating eq 33. The updates are based on the Metropolis algorithm<sup>618</sup> where the agreement between the model and the data takes the place of the energy in the Monte Carlo expression. The move is accepted if  $\chi_1^2 < \chi_0^2$ , and if  $\chi_1^2 < \chi_0^2$ , the move can still be accepted with a probability of

$$P = \exp(-[\chi_1^2 - \chi_0^2]/2)$$
(34)

Because RMC seeks to maximize the disorder of the given model, it is a good tool for determining a range of atomic configurations that can describe the observed data. However, for the same reason, it has difficulty finding coherent movements of collections of atoms, such as might be expected for large molecules or layers.<sup>509</sup> Although in principle the Metropolis algorithm is a global optimizer (given sufficient time it will find the global minimum from any starting point), in practice convergence is way too slow for this to succeed, and it is used more as a local minimizer. A good starting model is therefore rather critical in most circumstances. Additionally, it is usually necessary to add additional constraints such as distance constraints to maintain molecular topology or to use rigid bodies for particular molecular motifs.<sup>619</sup> The choice and testing of different types of constraints can then be used to aid in the determination of factors responsible for features in the experimental data. In sufficiently simple cases, structure determination of locally ordered nanoporous materials has also been demonstrated using RMC.<sup>328,620</sup>

## 6.3. Empirical Potential Structure Refinement

Partial PDFs encode the potential of mean force between the respective atomic species; specifically,

$$\psi_{\alpha\beta}(r) = -kT \ln \left[ \frac{R_{\alpha\beta}(r)}{4\pi r^2 \rho_0} \right]$$
(35)

This allows the development of refinement programs that straddle big box and small box philosophies such as the empirical potential structure refinement (EPSR) meth-od.<sup>224,621,622</sup> The approach is as follows: (1) parametrize an empirical potential using a small number of refinable parameters; (2) build large boxes of (thousands) of atoms and minimize the energy of the system with respect to the given potential by moving atoms around; (3) compare the resulting PDF to the measured PDF; (4) update the potential parameters; (5) continually repeat the process in such a way as to get the minimum energy structure to give an optimal agreement to the measured PDF. Although there are a large number of atoms, the number of degrees of freedom of the model (the potential parameters) is small, and so there is little danger of overfitting the data and obtaining nonunique results. In more detail, a starting model is constructed for a known molecular species by filling a large box to satisfy the appropriate density of the system. Starting potential functions are guessed for the intramolecular and intermolecular potentials. In most cases, simple harmonic potentials are used for the intramolecular potentials  $\Delta U_{intra}$  to simulate zeropoint fluctutations within the molecular structure, while Lennard-Jones plus Coulombic terms are used to describe the intermolecular potentials  $\Delta U_{\text{inter}}$ . Once the initial system is equilibrated to the reference potentials, the difference between  $R_{\rm obs}$  and  $R_{\rm calc}$  is used to generate an empirical potential  $\Delta U_{\rm emp}$ which is then used to perturb the starting potential toward agreement with the experimental data. The energy minimization step also uses a Metropolis approach for which the acceptance criterion for atomic moves is based on the total potential energy of the system. Moves are accepted if they reduced the total potential energy and otherwise accepted with a probability of

$$P = \exp[-[\Delta U_{\text{intra}} + (\Delta U_{\text{inter}} + \Delta U_{\text{emp}})/(k_{\text{B}}T)]]$$
(36)

This approach has been particularly effective for modeling disordered systems such as molecular liquids and glasses.<sup>623-626</sup> For disordered systems such as this, the information content in the PDF is small, and the success of the technique depends on having more than one differential PDF obtained from neutron scattering of samples that are chemically identical but have a different isotopic composition (section 7.1.2).

#### 6.4. Theoretical Methods

Classical molecular dynamics (MD) force fields and quantum mechanical methods such as DFT can be used separately to produce models for comparison against experimental PDF data. Compared to the previous methods, the resulting structures are not biased against the measured data, and this can therefore be used to test the effectiveness of certain force fields or DFT methods for reproducing features of the data such as bond lengths, coordination numbers, or further intermediate-range environments. This approach has been recently successful in testing the idea of polymorphous networks for describing the nature of materials consisting of locally low-symmetry related states that lead to on-average, high-symmetry macroscopic structures, for example in halide perovskites,<sup>627</sup> and iron superconductors.<sup>628</sup> Care should be taken as such approaches can be biased by the starting

configurations fed into the relaxation tool of choice, and therefore may require a variety of different starting states when attempting to determine best candidate models, especially for a less-well-defined system.<sup>137,369,424</sup> Another possibility to mitigate poor starting models from either bad guesses or insufficient experimental data is to use an iterative combination of structure refinement to experimental data and molecular relaxation by theoretical methods.<sup>629,630</sup> For complex, hierarchical simulations, the multitude of contributions to the simulated real-space signal may make it difficult to discern for which structural properties the simulation succeeds and for which it fails. Recent publications by Keffer and co-workers have suggested an approach to decomposing various atomicand mesoscale structural properties of composite models from large-scale MD simulations.<sup>631,632</sup>

# 6.5. Complex Modeling

Complex modeling encompasses the idea of combining information from separate experimental probes into a global minimization routine. This should optimally leverage the use of more physical/chemical information on the sample available to constrain the model and additionally reduce the effect of uncertainties or systematic errors from any one measurement. This idea is most commonly observed in many RMC and EPSR studies where the experimental reciprocal-space data are often used as a coconstraint in the structural evolution.<sup>223,317,488,625,633</sup> This mitigates the tendency of the Metropolis algorithm to disorder the structure in the absence of the distinctly separated Bragg peak information that enforces long-range order on the solution. A combination of real-space and reciprocal-space simulated annealing and/or Rietveld corefinement, for example, can be easily implemented using TOPAS v6 and higher.<sup>483,612,634</sup> Reciprocal-space corefinement is of course only the tip of the iceberg in complex modeling. Other examples include the combination of TEM or SAS for domain size/shape/distribution,447,450 and NMR or EXAFS for additional information on local chemical environments.<sup>74,635–639</sup> A challenge with complex modeling is the optimal weighting of the different data contributions, especially if they have overlapping information content (such as PDF and EXAFS) but different uncontrolled for systematic errors. Significant conclusions should be checked that they are somewhat robust to these factors.

#### 7. EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

#### 7.1. Scattering Probes

In this section, some practical aspects of using different types of radiation are discussed. In addition to varying advantages and disadvantages between the use of X-rays, neutrons, or electrons, one of the primary benefits of using these different probes is in their differing ability to "see" different elements. This is encoded in the weights that contribute to the relative strengths of peaks from different atom-pairs in the PDF, as shown in Figure 33. The Q-dependence of form factors must be additionally considered for X-rays and electrons.

**7.1.1. X-rays.** X-rays are the most widely available and probably the most versatile probe for carrying out total scattering measurements on molecular materials. The scattering power depends on the electron density of the sample (i.e., the species of atoms and their spatial distribution within the sample), roughly proportional to  $Z^2$ . The scattering from low-Z materials, especially organics and many inorganic molecular materials such as water, produces a much weaker coherent

![](_page_37_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 33.** Relative scattering strength and contrast: (a) atomic X-ray form factors f(Q = 0), (b) coherent neutron scattering lengths for natural abundance elements plus selected isotopes, and (c) atomic form factors for electrons of neutral atoms  $f_{\rm el}(Q = 0)$ .

scattering signal than, for example, many typical metals and ceramics. The form factors are also highly O-dependent, damping with increasing Q, and more significantly for low-Z elements due to the lesser number of core electrons. This results in a relatively weaker signal at higher Q. During the data reduction, the division by smaller  $\langle f(Q) \rangle^2$  values amplifies the uncertainties in the resulting S(Q), as shown in Figure 34. Measurement times of just a few seconds are often quoted for in situ measurements of even inorganic nanoparticles,<sup>641</sup> but low-Z materials require longer measurement times to collect data of a commensurate quality. Uncertainties in extracting the high-Q signal are further exacerbated by the need to account for other additive and multiplicative abberations to the scattering signal such as subtracting the Compton scattering contribution and instrumental distortions to the measured image or pattern.<sup>640</sup>

An issue with the data reduction for X-rays is that the removal of the Q-dependence is only approximate for multielement materials (this issue is relevant to electrons as well). The typical normalization of the scattering using the Morningstar-Krutter-Warren approximation<sup>642</sup> assumes that the Q-dependence of the individual contributions to the total scattering pattern,  $f_i(Q)f_j(Q)$ , can all be suitably described by the square of the atomic concentration weighted average

![](_page_37_Figure_7.jpeg)

**Figure 34.** Effect of X-ray form factor: corrected elastic scattering  $I_x(Q)$  from SiO<sub>2</sub> glass (black) and its X-ray form factor (red). The inset shows the weighting function [WF(Q)] due to the division of  $N(f)^2$  in eq 7. The red dashed line represents the Q-value of equal accuracy raw measurements with errors in  $I_x(Q)$  in the range of 0.05–0.5%, considering the increasing magnitude of the correction factors. This demonstrates that it is about as difficult to obtain S(Q) of water out to ~25 Å as it is to measure for GeSe<sub>2</sub> to ~40 Å. Reproduced with permission from ref 640. Copyright 2012 Elsevier.

 $\langle f(Q) \rangle^2$ . However, this is not exactly true, leading to some remaining Q-dependent components that get Fourier transformed into the real-space PDF signal. This should be considered during the modeling stages. An exact expression of the PDF accounting for these effects has been derived by separating and modifying the partial contributions from different atomic species to the total PDF.<sup>643</sup> A more practical approach may be to calculate the scattering intensity of the model from the Debye equation, eq 6, and then propagate to real space in the same procedure as the experimental data. This Debye model approach is already implemented in several modeling softwares (section 6.1),<sup>480,610</sup> and further allows for other instrument or sample related effects to be applied in reciprocal space.<sup>610</sup>

The validity of the form factors under the independent atom model (IAM) is another consideration when dealing with molecular (primarily low-Z) materials, because the formation of a molecule involves redistribution of the electron density. Although the majority of the coherent scattering predominates from the core electrons of the atoms,<sup>644</sup> the larger proportion of valence electrons for first or second row elements can lead to a more significant impact on the shape of f(Q). These effects were detailed for instance in an early series of papers by Roy McWeeny,<sup>645-648</sup> and powerful methods for the analysis of electron charge-densities have since been developed.<sup>649,650</sup> The effects are most significant for molecules involving hydrogen, and the effects of IAM versus molecular form factors have been studied, for example, for water.<sup>608,651,652</sup> The deviation between IAM versus molecular form factors measured from the gas is relatively smaller for even second-row molecules<sup>653,654</sup> and the impact on the intermolecular correlations may be further reduced through orientational averaging.<sup>6</sup> Thus, the IAM can still be suitable in cases where extreme accuracy in the intramolecular signal is not required, for instance in studying MRO structuring. Good fits with structure models can still be achieved,  $^{32,175-177,376,535}$  and the systematic modification to intramolecular signals should cancel when directly comparing experimental data sets. However, with

increasingly high quality measurements and more accurate methods for data reduction, these effects may be important for certain use cases. Advancing methods in the field of quantum crystallography for determining the electronic structure<sup>655–657</sup> may be further considered for implementation in real-space analyses.

The high contrast between light and heavy elements to Xrays can be beneficial, for instance in discerning signals from metal species in organic or aqueous host systems via the difference methods discussed, or for example, to discern structuring of inorganic secondary building units in MOFs. One can also take advantage of the fact that the scattering power of different elements also changes significantly as a function of X-ray energy around the absorption edge of a given element. This is called anomalous differential X-ray scattering.<sup>18,658,659</sup> In practice, two separate measurements of the same sample are collected, varying the energy of the incident beam in the vicinity of the absorption edge of a particular element in the sample. The results are subtracted, giving the changing signal from the specific element, which can then be used to obtain the dPDF. However, this is less widely used than it might be because of the technical challenges of successfully doing the corrections, and due to the limited Qrange relevant to elements in the top half of the periodic table.

In terms of data quality, synchrotron facilities produce optimally high energy, high flux X-ray beams for PDF measurements. The photon flux can be many orders of magnitude higher than what laboratory sources can produce, dramatically shortening the time needed to collect a full data set. The higher energy X-rays penetrate samples better, minimizing absorption in samples with high Z elements or with larger diameters, and making it possible to penetrate large or complex sample environments. This allows more flexibility for in situ or in operando measurements. Most beamlines suited for total scattering measurements operate using the rapid acquisition PDF (RAPDF) mode (see section 7.2.1).<sup>437</sup>

Current beamlines with capabilities to collect high quality total scattering measurements for PDF analysis include beamlines 6-ID-D and 11-ID-B at the Advanced Photon Source (Chicago, Illinois, USA),<sup>660,661</sup> P02.1, P07, and P21.1 at DESY (Hamburg, Germany),<sup>662–664</sup> I15-1 at Diamond (Didcot, UK),<sup>665</sup> ID11, ID15A, and ID31 at the ESRF (Grenoble, France),<sup>666–668</sup> 28-ID-1 (PDF) and 28-ID-2 (XPD) at NSLS-II (Upton, New York, USA),<sup>669</sup> BL04B2 and BL08W at SPring-8 (Sayo, Hyogo, Japan),<sup>670</sup> XDS-W09A at LNSL (Campinas, Brazil),<sup>671</sup> ID1A3 at CHESS (Ithaca, New York, USA), DanMAX at MAX IV (Lund, Sweden), and BL04-MSPD at ALBA (Barcelona, Spain), though this list changes with time.

X-ray total scattering data can also be obtained from laboratory powder diffractometers. Measurement time can be much longer, often 15–30 h for one data set compared to seconds or minutes at a synchrotron. The beam energy is not tunable, but various energies are available through the choice of anode material. A silver anode can produce a  $Q_{\text{max}}$  comparable to synchrotron sources (Ag K $\alpha_1$ ,  $\lambda = 0.5594$  Å,  $Q_{\text{max}}(2\theta = 160^\circ) = 22.12$  Å<sup>-1</sup>). However, for weakly scattering materials, the statistics of the signals measured at high momentum transfer are often not sufficient to include in the analysis, and so it can be beneficial to trade higher energy for improved statistics using a molybdenum anode (Mo K $\alpha_1$ ,  $\lambda = 0.7093$  Å,  $Q_{\text{max}}(2\theta = 160^\circ) = 17.45$  Å<sup>-1</sup>). Typical powder diffractometers with a copper anode (Cu K $\alpha_1$ ,  $\lambda = 1.5406$  Å,

 $Q_{\text{max}}(2\theta = 160^{\circ}) = 8.03 \text{ Å}^{-1}$ ) are not generally recommended for PDF analysis. The shorter Q-range can make data reduction more difficult, because less data dominated by the X-ray form factor at higher Q-values is available to constrain the normalization procedure. Furthermore, the nonstructural oscillations in real space (see section 7.4) coming from the truncation of F(Q) at lower values of Q become larger and more difficult to distinguish from the structural signal.<sup>169</sup> Nevertheless, when carefully measured with very good statistics and to high angles, it is possible to use PDFs from Cu radiation for certain applications such as qualitative phase analysis or determining the extent of structural coherence in amorphous or nanocrystalline samples. There can even be benefits in the increased Q-resolution when using lower energy X-rays, as discussed in section 5.8. Overall, monochromatic laboratory diffraction systems and software designed with PDF measurements in mind are becoming increasingly common among many major diffraction system manufacturers.

7.1.2. Neutrons. Neutrons can be highly complementary to X-rays as a probe of the material structure. Their use requires specialized facilities, for example, a nuclear reactor or a spallation source. Spallation sources operated using the timeof-flight method are generally preferred for PDF work due to the high flux of short-wavelength epithermal neutrons. Neutrons scatter off the atomic nuclei, and the scattering power depends on the neutron scattering length, b, of the element, as shown in Figure 33. This depends on the isotopic makeup of the nucleus as well as its spin state, and varies across the periodic table and among atomic isotopes in a way that appears somewhat random in contrast to the monotonic increase in the X-ray atomic form factors with Z. Neutrons can thus be very useful for gaining better contrast between atoms that are next to each other in the periodic table, or for obtaining increased sensitivity to the lighter elements in samples containing a combination of light and heavy elements. Because b is constant in Q (unlike the X-ray form factors f(Q), which decrease with Q), data may be collected to larger Qvalues, and approximations needed for removing the Qdependence as with X-rays or electrons become exact. However, even at the highest power modern spallation neutron sources, the neutron flux is orders of magnitude lower than the X-ray flux at synchrotron sources, and neutron scattering measurements therefore take much longer, and generally require larger amounts of sample than X-ray measurements. When preparing for neutron measurements, special considerations must further be made for certain isotopes; for example, hydrogen generates a significant amount of undesirable incoherent scattering. This can make PDF analysis more challenging due to the very large background signal, though there are methods for dealing with this. 451,672 While not further discussed here, it is worth mentioning that since neutrons also interact with magnetic moments, information about the magnetic structure in a material can be obtained, and the magnetic PDF technique is increasingly used to study magnetic local structures.<sup>673</sup>

The ability to perform isotopic substitutions for certain elements is one of the most important advantages for neutron scattering as it gives a way to experimentally access the partial structure functions  $S_{ij}(Q)$ , and therefore the partial PDFs between different elemental species *i* and *j* in the sample. It has been a critical factor in the characterization of many liquids, as discussed in sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.3, and it is important for the use of the EPSR methods discussed in section 6.3. A sample

![](_page_39_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 35.** Examples of nonstandard sample geometries coupled with a rapid acquisition setup: (a) film transmission geometry, (b) acoustic levitation as used for small droplets or beads of material, and (c) computed tomography (CT) setup for spatially resolved data with sample rotation angle  $\omega$  and translation position *y*.

containing n different chemical species has contributions from m = n(n + 1)/2 independent of structure functions, and so m samples of differing isotopic composition are required,<sup>674</sup> along with some detailed algebraic manipulation of the resulting data sets to determine all partial contributions.<sup>17,675</sup> This of course depends on the stable isotopes available, and sometimes prohibitively, the cost. Arguably the most important isotopic substitution used widely for characterization of molecular systems is deuterium/hydrogen (<sup>2</sup>H/<sup>1</sup>H) substitution.<sup>622,676</sup> A so-called first order difference can be achieved by subtracting the structure functions from measurements with varying concentrations of deuterium substitution to extract the partial PDF. Since <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>2</sup>H have coherent scattering lengths b =-3.7406 and 6.671, respectively, a null scattering effect can be achieved by having a ratio of approximately 2:1, for instance by mixing 2 parts  ${}^{1}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$  and 1 part  ${}^{2}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ ,  ${}^{677,678}$  to obtain only the O-O partial, and isotopes of other elements can also be used for null scattering.<sup>679</sup> Double difference or second order difference methods<sup>17</sup> can be used to further isolate different partial contributions for larger numbers of species n by measuring different combinations of isotopic substitution for the same or multiple elements. These methods are important for exploiting the contributions from different molecular species in solutions as well.<sup>256,265</sup> It is worth noting that even without the use of deuteration, samples with large hydrogen content can still be studied, with proper data corrections, as demonstrated for amorphous pharmaceuticals.<sup>173</sup>

Instruments designed for neutron total scattering measurements include SANDALS, GEM, POLARIS, and NIMROD at ISIS (Didcot, UK),<sup>680–682</sup> D4 at ILL (Grenoble, France),<sup>683</sup> and NOMAD and POWGEN at SNS (Oak Ridge, Tennessee, USA).<sup>684,685</sup>

**7.1.3. Electrons.** Electron diffraction can also be used for PDF analysis. Stemming from pioneering work on the use of electrons for studying the structure of gas molecules by Herman Mark and Raimund Wierl,<sup>686</sup> Lawrence Brockway and Linus Pauling carried out extensive work in the 1930s using PDFs from electron diffraction to study the structure of inorganic and organic gas molecules.<sup>143–146,687–689</sup> Transmission electron microscopes (TEMs) have long since been used for PDF analysis of a wide variety of materials, as discussed in recent reviews,<sup>690,691</sup> and recent developments in this area have helped to improve the quantitative accuracy of the data for more reliable PDF analysis.<sup>692–694</sup> The coherent scattering signal in this case results from the scattering from the electrostic potential field within the material, so the atomic

form factors are different than for X-rays, but also Q-dependent.

In contrast to the special facilities required for neutrons or synchrotron X-rays, the electron beams generated from typical in-house TEMs are suitable for obtaining PDF quality scattering data. One of the benefits of electrons is that they interact much more strongly with the sample than X-rays or neutrons, resulting in a stronger scattering signal. This means that significantly less sample is needed to obtain a suitable measurement, and the electron beam can be tuned to a very small size for spatially resolved measurements.<sup>695,696</sup> For nonamorphous materials, this is increasingly difficult, because smaller sample volumes make it harder to obtain a sufficient orientational average of the coherent scattering domains. Also, strong inelastic and multiple scattering effects present a significant challenge, making both the experimental and sample conditions as well as the corrections during data reduction increasingly important. Damage to the sample from the electron beam can also be significant. The use of electron diffraction PDF has been less common for condensed molecular and/or organic materials, though some examples include organic pigments,<sup>697</sup> [Mg(DME)<sub>3</sub>]<sup>2+</sup> molecular clusters,<sup>698</sup> and glassy water.<sup>247</sup> Beam damage can be minimized even for molecular systems by reducing the incident beam energy and current, but should be monitored carefully.<sup>697</sup>

# 7.2. Experimental Setups

7.2.1. Rapid Acquisition. Standard X-ray PDF experiments are generally performed using the RAPDF setup.44 A large area 2D detector is used to simultaneously collect a large region of reciprocal space, resulting in typical measurement times of a few minutes or less. In combination with the high energies (e.g., 50–100 keV or higher), the detector is placed close to the sample (e.g., 150-300 mm) so that a large  $Q_{\text{max}}$ can be measured in a single shot. The RAPDF method generally results in scattering data that has relatively low Qresolution. Therefore, measurements using a second detector, or by moving the primary detector back, can be measured for complementary reciprocal-space analyses. Schematics of the RAPDF setup with different sample geometries are shown in Figure 35. Samples are typically loaded into capillary tubes made of weakly scattering material such as polyimide or borosilicate with thicker diameters than for high-resolution measurements, for example, 1-2 mm, to increase statistics. Most beamlines are standardized for measuring capillary samples, and so anything that can be loaded into a capillary

should be—polycrystalline or amorphous solid powder, gels, creams, waxes, etc. Even liquids can be loaded into capillaries using a syringe. The use of liquid suspensions may also be relevant for materials that are stable in solution but not air. For polycrystalline powders, it is especially important to collect a good powder average, meaning the orientational average over all directions of the crystallites or scattering domains. This typically requires grinding the sample, although this may not be possible if the material is mechanically unstable, and further consideration of preferred orientation may also be necessary if the particles are highly anisotropic. Detailed discussion on sample preparation for powders is available.<sup>699</sup> Spinning the capillary during the measurement can help further decrease the effects of coarse powders, as seen in Figure 36.

![](_page_40_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 36.** Effect of spinning the capillary on the azimuthal intensities in a 2D diffraction image: (a) without spinning and (b) with spinning to obtain a better powder average, for a small inorganic molecular species.<sup>700</sup>

7.2.2. Thin Films. Thin films have been measured using a simple transmission geometry.<sup>526,702,703</sup> The high flux at synchrotron light sources allows sufficient scattering statistics to be collected on both film and substrate, such that the substrate scattering can be directly subtracted. It is preferable to maximize the ratio of thin film to substrate signals by using a weakly scattering substrate material when possible, such as disordered polymer or glass, and by making the substrate as thin as feasibly possible. Amorphous substrates are favored for simplifying the background subtraction. However, it is possible to subtract the signal of a polycrystalline substrate as long as there is a consistent powder average of the substrate material for both sample and background measurements. It is even possible to subtract the background for a single crystal substrate if the crystallographic orientation of the substrate is consistent. For oriented crystals, strongly focused Bragg diffraction spots and streaks can have intensities that are many orders of magnitude higher, which can cause severe detector saturation. This must be avoided by attenuating the incident beam intensity, but this will then make longer measurement times necessary to collect sufficient scattering statistics from the sample film. If possible, background scattering should be measured from the same substrate as the deposited sample to decrease the likelihood of any deviation in substrate thickness, texture, structure, and so on. Significantly longer data collection times may be needed for all types of samples due to the very small amount of material scattering a signal, and this is increasingly difficult for low-Z materials. The application of this geometry has been demonstrated for a 130  $\mu$ m thick layer of organic material for a 10 min exposure time,<sup>704</sup> and it is thus expected that

success for thinner organic films can still be achieved with longer measurement times.

A grazing incidence geometry has also been developed for total scattering measurements of thin and ultrathin films.<sup>664,705</sup> This is a more specialized setup than the transmission measurement, but it allows for information specific to the surface structure to be obtained.

Preferred orientation of the crystallites or scattering domains can be more difficult to deal with in thin film geometries. Films typically cannot be further processed as powders, without completely changing the nature of the material. Thus, the techniques as used for typical PDF analysis are more suited toward amorphous and nanoscale polycrystalline films. In cases where the films have much larger domains, or are subject to severe preferred orientation, different methods for data reduction and analysis will be necessary, and new methods are being developed for handling this.<sup>610,706,707</sup>

7.2.3. Spatially Resolved Measurements. In addition to the grazing incidence geometry to access information specific to the surface of the sample, other spatially resolved measurements can be performed. This can be very simple, for instance by scanning along different spots of a capillary to test the bulk homogeneity of a powder sample.<sup>177</sup> One- and two-dimensional scans can be carried out on films or arrays of samples, and high spatial resolution can be obtained by using thinner, micrometer-sized X-ray beams,<sup>668</sup> or by using electrons.<sup>695</sup> Even three-dimensional information for larger objects can be determined using computed tomography, Figure 35c. The use of smaller beams of course results in poorer statistics in the data collection, which is already a limiting feature for low-Z and especially organic materials. This will also significantly limit the total scan area or volume that can be sufficiently probed. However, with suffient measurement times and increasingly powerful X-ray sources, we expect that feasibility will increase. The spatial mapping of the local structure in an amorphous, organic films has, in fact, been demonstrated using scanning transmission electron diffraction techniques.696

#### 7.3. Sample Environments

Various sample environments and apparatuses are available at different beamlines for the study of materials under diverse and highly specialized conditions, for in situ and in operando studies. Heating and cooling devices are standard at most total scattering beamlines. For instance, cryocooling systems are common with temperatures in ranges from 77-500 K using flowing nitrogen gas from a liquid nitrogen source, and liquid helium cryocoolers that can theoretically reach as low as 4 K. Improved thermal stability at ultracold temperatures can be obtained using vacuum pumps to suck out the air, for example in a cryostat device, and other heating devices, and X-ray penetrable furnaces are commonly available to reach much higher temperatures. Various reactor systems have also been developed for studying reactions including gas and liquid flow cells,<sup>342,709,710</sup> sputtering chambers,<sup>664</sup> pressure cells,<sup>711,712</sup> electrochemical cells,<sup>713,714</sup> and microwave reactors.<sup>715</sup> Superconducting magnet environments are even available at the 28-ID-1 beamline at NSLS-II and P21.1 at DESY, which could open the door to studies of magnetic field effects on the structure of single-molecule magnets,<sup>716,717</sup> magnetic polymer composites,<sup>718</sup> or secondary building units with magnetic elements in MOFs.<sup>719</sup>

Specialized setups have been developed for combining multiple experimental probes with total scattering measurements including acoustic levitation and Raman scattering,<sup>197</sup> FT-IR,<sup>668,720</sup> and a laser heated diamond anvil cell with micro-Raman spectroscopy.<sup>721</sup> Many other potential setups for different environmental conditions, reaction types, or combined methods exist. To get details of what sample environments are available, it is generally a good idea to check the web-page of the beamline in question, and reach out to the instrument scientists with questions.

#### 7.4. Measurement Range

In addition to the physical limits of the detector due to its finite size and position, the end-measurement data quality (e.g., the level of errors and measurement statistics at high O) will determine the effective Q-range that should be included in the Fourier transformation. The real-space resolution is given by the Nyquist-Shannon sampling theorem, where the smallest meaningful interval is  $\Delta r = \pi/Q_{\text{max}}$ .<sup>722</sup> It is theoretically desirable to maximize the experimental  $Q_{max}$  to get the best possible resolution and minimize truncation effects, but this it not always practical or useful. For weakly scattering materials, the relatively higher amount of incoherent scattering background to coherent scattering signal at higher Q values and the division by smaller valued weighting functions (discussed in section 7.1.1) make it very difficult to accurately measure the higher-Q signal (e.g., >20-25 Å<sup>-1</sup>) with suitable statistics. Although, this is becoming less of a problem with the ultrahigh flux available at modern synchrotron sources. To obtain good quality PDFs, the  $Q_{max}$  should be adjusted to minimize the amount of Q-space included that is measured with poor signalto-noise. The combination of noisy signal and data truncation result in unphysical, high frequency oscillations in the resulting PDF (the truncation effect is discussed in section 6.1), which can obscure small features in real space. In the worst case, these errors may be misinterpreted as structural features.<sup>701</sup> This can also lead to slight variations in the relative peak amplitudes that may affect the accurate refinement of certain parameters such as occupancy values, if refined. Large thermal displacements in many molecular materials can reduce the amount of coherent signal at high Q, and so in some cases there is limited benefit in measuring to higher Q anyways.<sup>608</sup> Evaluation has shown that with increasing thermal displacements, lower  $Q_{max}$  values can be used with minimal truncation errors in the resulting PDF.<sup>609</sup> Generally, if one knows in advance the real-space resolution required for the scientific goal, or the effective  $Q_{max}$  that can be measured with suitable signal-to-noise (e.g., from previous measurements), then the experimental setup can be optimized to just measure over this range.

In some cases, the choice of the minimum value,  $Q_{\min}$ , may also be important. This is generally the case when SAS from small particle size or other morphological features overlaps into the diffraction features from the atomic structure.<sup>33</sup> The observation of low-frequency oscillations extending to the high-*r* region of the PDF, which are especially observable in amorphous or liquid signals that are otherwise flat in this region, may signify the existence of a scattering signal in the low-*Q* region of the measured diffraction pattern. A hint that your data are subject to this issue is that the wavelength of the oscillatory feature is  $\sim 2\pi/Q_{\min}$ , and it varies with  $Q_{\min}$ , something that is rather easy to check. This implies that some low-angle feature in the correlations is missing from the data

due to the Q<sub>min</sub> cutoff, but the Fourier transform does not know where in Q-space that feature actually resides (because its signal is lost). If there is no missing low-Q signal then features in the PDF will not depend on the value of  $Q_{\min}$ . It is very important to carry out this Q<sub>min</sub> test before drawing strong conclusions from the low-frequency ripples in the high-*r* region of the PDF. Such assessments have been important in characterizing the extent of atomic order associated with noncrystallographic pore structures,<sup>341</sup> poorly ordered trimeric macrocycles,463 and recently in ascertaining quasiperiodic extended-range order in a MOF liquid.<sup>336</sup> It is important to note that for many large-pore frameworks materials, e.g., MOFs and COFs, diffraction peaks from the structure often occur at considerably low values in the range of 0.1–0.5  $Å^{-1}$ , and the detector and beamstop positions must be adjusted to capture these features in the measurement.<sup>324,341,376</sup>

#### 7.5. Data Quality and Background

An important consideration for data collection is the scattering strength of the sample (constituent elements and atomic density) for the given radiation, and subsequently the total summed time of the sample exposure, to ensure the collection of sufficient scattering statistics. The estimated standard deviations of the scattered intensities measured with N counts is governed by  $\sqrt{N}$ . The propagation of errors from the measurement to the PDF is covered in detail,<sup>441</sup> though it can become increasingly complicated, for example, when considering different types of detector technologies.<sup>523</sup> We typically do not know a priori how much scattered radiation we will collect from our sample, because this also depends on the radiation energy, beam flux, sample-to-detector distance, sample composition, sample volume in the beam, etc. From a more practical point-of-view, it is rather useful to track the statistics as the data are collected, for instance by summing individual exposures. Since the structural signal at high Q is generally difficult to observe in the diffraction pattern, as shown in Figure 37a, it is better to carry out the data reduction to track the changes in F(Q) and G(r) with increasing summed exposure time. The experimenter may measure until the high-Q signal in F(Q) is recorded with good signal-to-noise and when the contribution of noise to the nonstructural, high frequency ripples in G(r) cannot be further reduced for a given  $Q_{\text{max}}$ . The F(Q) functions for different quality measurements of water are shown for comparison in Figure 37b.

It is additionally important that contributions to the background scattering are minimized, such as scattering from air, the sample container, and any other external equipment.<sup>179,640</sup> This is especially important when the scattering signal from the sample is broad and/or containing important features at low-Q values for which the background intensities are highest.<sup>568</sup> Containers are typically made of thin walled, weakly scattering, amorphous materials, but air scattering is often the dominant contribution to the background, and this can be reduced by good shielding and collimation of the beam up to the sample, shorter sample-to-detector distances, and in extreme cases, the use of sample chambers or flight tubes filled with He or under vacuum. At high energies, and particularly for weakly scattering materials and most molecular materials, the attenuation of the beam due to the sample and background are small, and a direct subtraction is often sufficient, aided for instance by the background subtraction and correction methods implemented in, for example, PDFGetX3726,727 (see section 7.6). The background should be collected with good

![](_page_42_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 37.** Comparison of four different synchrotron X-ray diffraction measurements of liquid water at ambient temperatures: (a) the total scattering intensity normalized to electron units, (b) the structure factor obtained by normalization to the X-ray molecular form factor for water, and (c) the reduced structure function, showing more clearly the varying data quality of both the signal-to-noise at high Q and the quality of the corrections applied in the data reduction. The data are from refs 701 and 723–725 and the figure is reproduced with permission from ref 608. Copyright 2013 AIP Publishing.

statistics so as to minimize the statistical uncertainties added to the sample measurement. Because background signals are often smoothly varying in Q, they are sometimes smoothed to reduce the added statistical errors, but a simple rule of thumb is to measure for longer than the sample measurement. In cases for which sample attenuation is not negligible, angular dependence of the background contribution can arise, and there are approaches to correcting for this, involving the measurement of all the separate contributions to the background individually.<sup>640</sup>

#### 7.6. Detector and Scattering Corrections

Corrections to the collected scattering intensities depend on many details including both experimental (e.g., radiation source, energy, geometry, background contribution, detection hardware etc.) and sample-dependent factors (e.g., sample packing fraction and volume, absorption, multiple scattering, Compton scattering, fluorescence, etc.), the effects of which are well documented.<sup>2,18,728</sup> The significance of capillary sample absorption and possible fluorescence effects for a given experiment may be conveniently checked online.<sup>729</sup> The additional scattering contributions can strongly depend on the type of radiation used and the material of interest, for instance strong inelastic.<sup>730</sup> and incoherent.<sup>672</sup> neutron scattering effects for certain materials, or strong multiple scattering for larger crystallites by electrons.<sup>692,731</sup>

In many cases, the exposure during the measurement must be carefully controlled, for example, for amorphous silicon detectors, where the pixel response can be oversaturated by strongly scattering materials. In these cases, smaller sample volume, attenuation of the beam flux, or shorter exposure times can be utilized. Measured intensities should generally be kept well below the saturation levels, as trapped excited states can remain after long periods of high exposure, leading to unwanted features in the pixel response that must be removed.<sup>640</sup> Other considerations may be necessary for other detection technologies such as Si and CdTe hybrid photon counting detectors.<sup>732,733</sup> Diffraction images must be calibrated and corrected for polarization, spatial distortions, 734,735 unequal pixel response and parasitic scattering effects.<sup>640</sup> It is further important to apply proper masking of the images to remove anomalously dark or bright pixels, dead pixels, discrete diffraction spots caused by a poor powder average, or other effects such as shadows from any equipment located in the cone of diffracted radiation. Masking can be performed using a statistical analysis of the azimuthal ring intensities to determine an acceptance criterion within a specified range of standard deviations relative to the mean or other value calculated for the azimuthal intensities, as implemented within xpdtools.<sup>736,737</sup> The corrections and azimuthal integration of 2D diffraction images can be performed using various software packages include Fit2D,<sup>738</sup> pyFAI,<sup>739</sup> DAWN,<sup>740</sup> and srXplanar.<sup>727</sup> For neutron experiments, measurements generally involve many separate detector banks, and thus merging processes are more complicated and handled on-site.

Different methodologies for determining the PDF have been developed, varying primarily in the radiation type, the level of assumptions and approximations made, and ease of use. After experimental abberations to the data have been taken into account and corrected, the remaining, unwanted scattering contributions must be removed, and the data must be normalized and Fourier transformed. The incoherent Compton scattering dominates the scattering at higher momentum transfer, especially for low-Z materials.<sup>18,741</sup> This contribution can be removed by energy discrimination of the scattered radiation,<sup>742,743</sup> though in most cases is removed later during the data reduction. Subtraction of the incoherent signal, in addition to division by the form factors, and further multiplication by Q can all exacerbate errors or poor counting statistics of the coherent structural signal at high *Q*, particularly for X-rays and electrons. This increases the need to minimize systematic error and obtain very good counting statistics in the measurement. Other effects combine to form additional additive and multiplicative modifications to the measured signal. Various data reduction packages are available. Data reduction packages include:

- X-rays: RAD,<sup>744</sup> PDFGetX2,<sup>745</sup> GudrunX,<sup>728</sup> PDFGetX3,<sup>726,727</sup> GSAS-II,<sup>746</sup> TOPAS v7.<sup>634</sup>
- Neutrons: PDFGetN,<sup>747</sup> GudrunN,<sup>728</sup> PDFgetN,<sup>747</sup> PDFGetN3.<sup>748</sup>
- Electrons: eRDF Analyzer,<sup>749</sup> SUePDF,<sup>750</sup> ePDF tools,<sup>751</sup> or commercial software ePDFsuite.<sup>752</sup>

The choice of data reduction software may depend on the goal of the analysis. For most cases involving data-to-data comparisons or small-box modeling approaches, the reduction method provided by PDFGetX3 can be recommended,<sup>726</sup> for generating the PDF from integrated total scattering patterns. PDFGetX3 performs these corrections in an ad hoc way by

parametrizing the corrections using a low-order polynomial to correct for slowly varying deviations to the known asymptotic behavior of the S(Q) and G(r) functions.<sup>436,753</sup> The only inputs needed are the experimental sample and background scattering intensities and the chemical composition of the sample. However, certain analysis goals may necessitate use of a program that implements explicit corrections for experimental aberrations. For example, large-box models, such as analysis using RMC, EPSR, or similar approaches, will be best applied to data for which systematic errors have been formally mitigated. This motivates the use of, for example, PDFGetX2 or the Gudrun family of software. These packages attempt to correct the data by applying formal corrections, to best approximations, for many of the effects listed above. As this also gives the best chance for achieving PDFs on an absolute scale, this is also probably the best option for those who wish to extract coordination numbers (eq 2) from the peaks without an explicit structure model. PDFgetX3 results in accurate PDFs, but the scale factor of the data is not guaranteed; this is not a problem for small-box modeling approaches that include a scale factor as a refinable parameter, and for bulk materials it often does produce good scaling results. Further considerations, such as the direct removal of instrument profile effects, may further inform the choice of the data reduction method, as discussed below.

#### 7.7. Instrumental Profile

Different aspects of the experimental setup affect both the resolution of the diffraction pattern and the shape of the peak profile, and these further affect the structural signals observed in the resulting PDF. Different considerations must be made depending on the geometry of the measurement, the kind of detector used, and the optics controlling the shape and size of the incident beam. These effects can be quite complicated. For an overview, good discussions of instrumental contributions to the peak profile are available,<sup>754,755</sup> with discussion more particular to PDF data reduction,<sup>18</sup> and in general different considerations are necessary for laboratory<sup>756,757</sup> versus synchrotron diffractometers.<sup>758</sup>

The most significant effect of decreasing resolution in reciprocal space is to damp the real-space signal with increasing distance. Fortunately, for typical RAPDF measurements at synchrotrons,<sup>437</sup> it is often sufficient to consider the instrument resolution function to be Gaussian. Therefore, the Fourier transform is another Gaussian function that can be defined as

$$B(r) = e^{-(rQ_{damp})^2/2}$$
(37)

which is multiplied by the theoretical PDF without any modification due to the instrument (i.e., the B(r) function mentioned in section 6.1). The  $Q_{damp}$  parameter is determined by measurement of a crystalline calibration standard such as Ni, CeO<sub>2</sub>, Si, or LaB<sub>6</sub> and then refining a structure model to the PDF. The resulting value is then fixed for refinement of further samples measured using the same experimental setup. The lower is the resolution in Q-space, the more damped is the PDF signal, which effectively reduces the total distance over which the structure can be analyzed and greatly affects the ability to estimate domain sizes (section 4.1) when the structural damping is larger than the instrumental damping. This has been discussed systematically,<sup>436,438,439</sup> and for practical use-cases.<sup>32,139,177</sup> Improved descriptions of the damping effects are being developed for cases where the peak profile cannot be considered Gaussian.<sup>759</sup>

Another consideration is that the resolution of the detector is often not constant with respect to Q, rather a function of Q. This can be due to different effects, such as beam divergence,<sup>760</sup> or due to the nonconstant sample-to-detector distance with increasing angle for flat detectors. Examples of the resolution functions for different total scattering setups are available.<sup>663,705,761–764</sup> The primary effect is to introduce an *r*dependence to the peak broadening in real space. This has been accounted for by including an extra *r*-dependent term, separate from the atomic displacement parameters, in the description of the peak widths,<sup>438,609,610</sup> for example, called  $Q_{\text{broad}}$  in Diffpy-CMI and DISCUS. The basic effects of  $Q_{\text{damp}}$ and  $Q_{\text{broad}}$  are demonstrated in Figure 38.

![](_page_43_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 38.** Modification of a simulated PDF due to the parameters used to describe different reciprocal-space instrumental resolution effects: (a) The effect of decreased reciprocal-space resolution is modeled by increasing  $Q_{damp}$  to damp the real-space signal at higher distances. (b) The effect of nonconstant reciprocal-space resolution is modeled by  $Q_{broad}$  to broaden the real-space signal at longer distances.

Many effects due to the instrumental profile have been shown to be very small in the short-r range of the PDFs, below ~20 Å.<sup>439</sup> This can be beneficial when the scientific goal only requires investigation of very short-range structures, because this range is more robust to inaccuracies in the parameters used to model the reciprocal-space profile effects. More accurate descriptions of the resolution function may be more important for generating quantitatively accurate PDFs from laboratory measurements, and increasingly important for investigating the real-space structure over longer distances (see section 5.8). This is also important for neutron experiments for which total scattering data from different detector banks may be combined.439 In light of this, new methods for handling the incorporation of more complicated instrumental profiles in addition to other effects such as zeropoint offset correction have been discussed for DISCUS<sup>610</sup> and RMCProfile,<sup>765,766</sup> and a new method for obtaining PDFs for scattering data by directly correcting the data for instrumental and emission profile effects is now available in TOPAS v7.634

Simultaneously, improved measurement protocols can also help to reduce these effects.  $^{764}$ 

#### Biographies

#### 8. OUTLOOK

The analysis of pair distribution functions is a long-standing and important method used to further the understanding and technological application of disordered materials, including many organic and inorganic molecular materials, and network or composite materials with molecular components, as discussed herein. The techniques have become increasingly accessible to general users through the continued development of specialized facilities, software, training workshops, and through the dedication and innovation within a longstanding, international community of scientists. It should be considered, in any case, a highly complementary tool to the characterization of diffraction data: neither a rival to single-crystal and Rietveld refinement techniques, nor a separate technique to be considered in isolation from good reciprocal-space diffraction data analysis! Used in concert with an all-data-assessment protocol, motivated by the material problem and form of the diffraction pattern, we expect it to continue contributing to major advances in understanding real materials, blemished, defects, imperfections, and all.

We expect continued advances in combining large-scale hierarchical and ab initio molecular dynamics and density functional theory results with local structure characterization to understand and predict properties of polymorphous and network-forming structures beyond the unit cell. A more thorough picture of how local- and mesoscale defects and correlated behavior should continue to develop for hybrid organic-inorganic structures. In conjunction with developments in cryoEM techniques for local scale structure solution, we expect more robust model construction algorithms and regression protocols to deliver more bulk-representative structure solutions of nanostructured materials including complex macromolecules, organic pigments, and pharmaceutically relevant compounds. Finally, increasing beamline infrastructure will enable increasingly complex sample environments, faster time resolutions, and on-demand, real-time structure characterization and feedback for data-driven chemistry.

#### **AUTHOR INFORMATION**

#### **Corresponding Authors**

- Maxwell W. Terban Max Planck Institute for Solid State Research, 70569 Stuttgart, Germany; o orcid.org/0000-0002-7094-1266; Email: M.Terban@fkf.mpg.de
- Simon J. L. Billinge Department of Applied Physics and Applied Mathematics, Columbia University, New York, New York 10027, United States; Condensed Matter Physics and Materials Science Department, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, New York 11973, United States;
  orcid.org/0000-0002-9734-4998; Email: sb2896@ columbia.edu

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.1c00237

#### Funding

Open access funded by Max Planck Society. Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Maxwell W. Terban graduated from the University of Massachusetts Amherst in 2012 with a B.S. in Chemical Engineering. He earned his Ph.D. in Materials Science and Engineering from Columbia University in 2018, working on disordered materials characterization under the supervision of Prof. Simon J. L. Billinge. He currently resides in Stuttgart, Germany where he continues as a postdoctoral researcher at the Max Planck Institute for Solid State Research in the lab of Prof. Robert E. Dinnebier. His research investigates the formation and structure—property relationships of functional materials including nanomaterials, polymers, small molecules, and microporous compounds.

Simon J. L. Billinge earned his Ph.D. in Materials Science and Engineering from University of Pennsylvania in 1992. After 13 years as a faculty member at Michigan State University, in 2008 he took up his current position as Professor of Materials Science and Applied Physics and Applied Mathematics at Columbia University and Physicist at Brookhaven National Laboratory. He is a fellow of the American Physical Society and the Neutron Scattering Society of America, a former Fulbright and Sloan fellow and is Section Editor of Acta Crystallographica Section A: Advances and Foundations. His research interests include developing and applying techniques to study local structure in materials using X-ray, neutron, and electron diffraction including the development of novel data analysis methods using graph theoretic, Artificial Intelligence, and Machine Learning approaches.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Luzia Germann, Gianpiero Gallo, and Sebastian Bette are thanked for helpful feedback. M.W.T. gratefully acknowledges support from BASF. S.J.L.B's contributions were supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Basic Energy Sciences (DOE-BES) under contract No. DE-SC0012704.

#### REFERENCES

(1) Sheldrick, G. M. A short history of SHELX. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr. 2008, 64, 112–122.

(2) Dinnebier, R. E., Billinge, S. J. L. Eds. *Powder diffraction: theory and practice*; Royal Society of Chemistry: London, England, 2008.

(3) Dinnebier, R. E.; Leineweber, A.; Evans, J. S. O. *Rietveld refinement: practical powder diffraction pattern analysis using TOPAS*, 1st ed.; De Gruyter STEM: Berlin, 2019.

(4) Oroguchi, T.; Nakasako, M. Three-dimensional structure determination protocol for noncrystalline biomolecules using x-ray free-electron laser diffraction imaging. *Phys. Rev. E* 2013, *87*, 022712. (5) Xu, R.; Jiang, H.; Song, C.; Rodriguez, J. A.; Huang, Z.; Chen, C.-C.; Nam, D.; Park, J.; Gallagher-Jones, M.; Kim, S.; et al. Single-shot three-dimensional structure determination of nanocrystals with femtosecond X-ray free-electron laser pulses. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, *5*, 4061.

(6) Miao, J.; Ercius, P.; Billinge, S. J. L. Atomic electron tomography: 3D structures without crystals. *Science* **2016**, *353*, aaf2157.

(7) Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Egami, T.; Louca, D. Structural analysis of complex materials using the atomic pair distribution function - a practical guide. *Z. Kristallogr. - Cryst. Mater.* **2003**, *218*, 132–143.

(8) Billinge, S. J. L.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Beyond crystallography: the study of disorder, nanocrystallinity and crystallographically challenged materials. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, *7*, 749–760.

(9) Proffen, T. Analaysis of disordered materials using total scattering and the atomic pair distribution function. *Rev. Mineral. Geochem.* **2006**, *63*, 255–274.

(10) Billinge, S. J. L. Nanoscale structural order from the atomic pair distribution function (PDF): There's plenty of room in the middle. *J. Solid State Chem.* **2008**, *181*, 1695–1700.

(11) Billinge, S. J. L. Nanometer scale structure from powder diffraction: total scattering and atomic pair distribution function analysis. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography, Vol. H. 2019; pp 649–672.

(12) Zernike, F.; Prins, J. A. Die Beugung von Röntgenstrahlen in Flüssigkeiten als Effekt der Molekülanordnung. Z. Phys. A: Hadrons Nucl. **1927**, 41, 184–194.

(13) Debye, P.; Menke, H. The determination of the inner structure of liquids by X-ray means. *Phys. Z.* **1930**, *31*, 797–8.

(14) Warren, B. X-ray diffraction of vitreous silica. Z. Kristallogr. - Cryst. Mater. **1933**, 86, 349–358.

(15) Prigogine, I., Rice, S. A., Eds. Advances in Chemical Physics; Wiley: New York, 1976.

(16) Elliott, S. R. *Physics of amorphous materials*, 1st ed.; Longman: London and New York, 1984.

(17) Fischer, H. E.; Barnes, A. C.; Salmon, P. S. Neutron and x-ray diffraction studies of liquids and glasses. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 2006, 69, 233–299.

(18) Egami, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. Underneath the Bragg peaks: structural analysis of complex materials, 2nd ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2012.

(19) Benmore, C. J. A. Review of High-Energy X-Ray Diffraction from Glasses and Liquids. *ISRN Materials Science* **2012**, 2012, 852905.

(20) Benmore, C. J. In *Modern glass characterization*; Affatigato, M., Ed.; Wiley, 2015; Chapter 6 X-ray diffraction from glass.

(21) Bøjesen, E. D.; Iversen, B. B. The chemistry of nucleation. CrystEngComm 2016, 18, 8332-8353.

(22) Masadeh, A. S. Total scattering atomic pair distribution function: new methodology for nanostructure determination. *J. Exp. Nanosci.* **2016**, *11*, 951–974.

(23) Christiansen, T. L.; Cooper, S. R.; Jensen, K. M. A. There's no place like real-space: elucidating size-depdendent atomic structure of nanomaterials using pair distribution function analysis. *Nanoscale Adv.* **2020**, *2*, 2234–2254.

(24) Frandsen, B.; Billinge, S. J. L. Investigating short-range magnetic correlations in real space with the magnetic pair distribution function (mPDF). *Neutron News* **2016**, *27*, 14–16.

(25) Bozin, E. S.; Billinge, S. J. L. Novel trends in pair distribution function approaches on bulk systems with nanoscale heterogeneities. *Neutron News* **2016**, *27*, 27–31.

(26) Bordet, P. Application of the pair distribution function analysis for the study of cultural heritage materials. *C. R. Phys.* **2018**, *19*, 561–574.

(27) Young, C. A.; Goodwin, A. L. Applications of pair distribution function methods to contemporary problems in materials chemistry. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 6464–6476.

(28) Keen, D. A. Total scattering and the pair distribution function in crystallography. *Crystallogr. Rev.* **2020**, *26*, 143–201.

(29) Zhu, H.; Huang, Y.; Ren, J.; Zhang, B.; Ke, Y.; Jen, A. K.-Y.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, X.-L.; Liu, Q. Bridging structural inhomogeneity to functionality: pair distribution function methods for functional materials development. *Adv. Sci.* **2021**, *8*, 2003534.

(30) Keen, D. A. A comparison of various commonly used correlation functions for describing total scattering. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2001**, *34*, 172–177.

(31) Peterson, P. F.; Olds, D.; McDonnell, M. T.; Page, K. Illustrated formalisms for total scattering data: a guide for new practitioners. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2021**, *54*, 317–332.

(32) Terban, M. W.; Putz, A. M.; Savasci, G.; Heinemeyer, U.; Hinrichsen, B.; Desbois, P.; Dinnebier, R. E. Improving the picture of atomic structure in nonoriented polymer domains using the pair distribution function: a study of polyamide 6. *J. Polym. Sci.* **2020**, *58*, 1843–1866.

(33) Farrow, C. L.; Billinge, S. J. L. Relationship between the atomic pair distribution function and small angle scattering: implications for

modeling of nanoparticles. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **2009**, *65*, 232–239.

(34) Debye, P. Dispersion of Röntgen rays. Ann. Phys. (Berlin, Ger.) 1915, 351, 809-823.

(35) Gilmore, C., Kaduk, J., Schenk, H., Eds. *International tables for crystallography*; International Union of Crystallogaphy, 2019; Vol. H, Powder Diffraction.

(36) Faber, T. E.; Ziman, J. M. A theory of the electrical properties of liquid metals III. the resistivity of binary alloys. *Philos. Mag.* **1965**, *11*, 153–157.

(37) Olds, D.; Wang, H.-W.; Page, K. DShaper: an approach for handling missing low-Q data in pair distribution function analysis of nanostructured systems. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 1651–1659.

(38) Terban, M. W.; Cheung, E. Y.; Krolikowski, P.; Billinge, S. J. L. Recrystallization, phase composition, and local structure of amorphous lactose from the total scattering pair distribution function. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2016**, *16*, 210–220.

(39) Burchell, T. D., Ed. Carbon materials for advanced technologies; Pergamon Press, Elsevier: Oxford, England, 1999.

(40) Messina, G., Santangelo, S., Eds. Carbon: the future material for advanced technology applications; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 2006.

(41) Burian, A.; Dore, J. C.; Jurkiewicz, K. Structural studies of carbons by neutron and x-ray scattering. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 2019, *82*, 016501.

(42) Warren, B. E. X-Ray diffraction study of carbon black. J. Chem. Phys. **1934**, 2, 551–555.

(43) Warren, B. E. X-Ray diffraction in random layer lattices. *Phys. Rev.* **1941**, *59*, 693–698.

(44) Biscoe, J.; Warren, B. E. An X-Ray study of carbon black. J. Appl. Phys. 1942, 13, 364-371.

(45) Harris, P. J. F. Rosalind Franklin's work on coal, carbon, and graphite. *Interdiscip. Sci. Rev.* 2001, 26, 204–210.

(46) Franklin, R. E. The interpretation of diffuse x-ray diagrams of carbon. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1950**, *3*, 107–121.

(47) Franklin, R. E. Crystallite growth in graphitizing and nongraphitizing carbons. *Proc. R. Soc. London A* **1951**, 209, 196–218.

(48) Franklin, R. E. Homogeneous and heterogeneous graphitization of carbon. *Nature* **1956**, *177*, 239–239.

(49) Woznica, N.; Hawelek, L.; Fischer, H. E.; Bobrinetskiy, I.; Burian, A. The atomic scale structure of graphene powder studied by neutron and x-ray diffraction. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 1429–1436.

(50) Ergun, S.; Schehl, R. R. Analysis of the structure of a glassy carbon using the fourier transform technique. *Carbon* **1973**, *11*, 127–138.

(51) Mildner, D. F. R.; Carpenter, J. M. Neutron diffraction and inelastic scattering studies of a glassy carbon. Amorphous and liquid semiconductors: proc. of the 5th international conference on amorphous and liquid semiconductors, Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Federal Republic of Germany, September 3-8, 1973; Taylor and Francis, Ltd., 1973; pp 463–478.

(52) Wignall, G. D.; Pings, C. J. The structure of vitreous carbon from wide angle and low angle x-ray diffraction. *Carbon* **1974**, *12*, 51-55.

(53) Mildner, D. F. R.; Carpenter, J. M. On the short range atomic structure of non-crystalline carbon. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* **1982**, 47, 391–402.

(54) Gardner, M. A.; Dore, J. C.; North, A. N.; Cazorla-Amoros, D.; de Lecea, C. S.-M.; Bellissent-Funel, M.-C. Structural studies of microporous carbons by neutron diffraction. *Carbon* **1996**, *34*, 857– 860.

(55) Burian, A.; Ratuszna, A.; Dore, J. C. Radial distribution function analysis of the structure of activated carbons. *Carbon* **1998**, *36*, 1613–1621.

(56) Townsend, S. J.; Lenosky, T. J.; Muller, D. A.; Nichols, C. S.; Elser, V. Negatively curved graphitic sheet model of amorphous carbon. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1992**, *69*, 921–924.

(57) Kane, M. S.; Goellner, J. F.; Foley, H. C.; DiFrancesco, R. G.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Allard, L. F. Symmetry breaking in nanostructure development of carbogenic molecular sieves: effects of morphological pattern formation on oxygen and nitrogen transport. *Chem. Mater.* **1996**, *8*, 2159.

(58) Harris, P. J. F.; Tsang, S. C. High-resolution electron microscopy studies of non-graphitizing carbons. *Philos. Mag. A* **1997**, *76*, 667–677.

(59) Acharya, M.; Strano, M. S.; Mathews, J. P.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Petkov, V.; Subramoney, S.; Foley, H. C. Simulation of nanoporous carbons: a chemically constrained structure. *Philos. Mag. B* **1999**, *79*, 1499.

(60) Petkov, V.; DiFrancesco, R. G.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Acharya, M.; Foley, H. C. Local structure of nanoporous carbons. *Philos. Mag. B* **1999**, *79*, 1519.

(61) Smith, M. A.; Foley, H. C.; Lobo, R. F. A simple model describes the PDF of a non-graphitizing carbon. *Carbon* **2004**, *42*, 2041–2048.

(62) Petersen, T. C.; Snook, I. K.; Yarovsky, I.; McCulloch, D. G.; O'Malley, B. Curved-surface atomic modeling of nanoporous carbon. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111, 802–812.

(63) Leyssale, J.-M.; Da Costa, J.-P.; Germain, C.; Weisbecker, P.; Vignoles, G. L. An image-guided atomistic reconstruction of pyrolytic carbons. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2009**, *85*, 231912.

(64) Weisbecker, P.; Leyssale, J.-M.; Fischer, H. E.; HonkimÃki, V.; Lalanne, M.; Vignoles, G. L. Microstructure of pyrocarbons from pair distribution function analysis using neutron diffraction. *Carbon* **2012**, *50*, 1563–1573.

(65) Hawelek, L; Woznica, N; Brodka, A; Fierro, V; Cezard, A; Bulou, A; Burian, A Graphene-like structure of activated anthracites. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2012**, *24*, 495303.

(66) Castro-Marcano, F.; Winans, R. E.; Chupas, P.; Chapman, K.; Calo, J. M.; Watson, J. K.; Mathews, J. P. Fine structure evaluation of the pair distribution function with molecular models of the Argonne premium coals. *Energy Fuels* **2012**, *26*, 4336–4345.

(67) Jurkiewicz, K.; Duber, S.; Fischer, H. E.; Burian, A. Modelling of glass-like carbon structure and its experimental verification by neutron and X-ray diffraction. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2017**, *50*, 36–48. (68) Woźnica, N.; Hawełek, L.; Duber, S.; Fischer, H. E.; Honkimäki, V.; Pawlyta, M.; Bulou, A.; Burian, A. The atomic scale structure of saccharose-based carbons. *Philos. Mag.* **2017**, *97*, 1675–1697.

(69) Forse, A. C.; Merlet, C.; Allan, P. K.; Humphreys, E. K.; Griffin, J. M.; Aslan, M.; Zeiger, M.; Presser, V.; Gogotsi, Y.; Grey, C. P. New insights into the structure of nanoporous carbons from NMR, Raman, and pair distribution function analysis. *Chem. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 6848–6857.

(70) Pfaff, T.; Badaczewski, F. M.; Loeh, M. O.; Franz, A.; Hoffmann, J.-U.; Reehuis, M.; Zeier, W. G.; Smarsly, B. M. Comparative microstructural analysis of nongraphitic carbons by wide-angle X-ray and neutron scattering. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2019, *123*, 20532–20546.

(71) García-Negrón, V.; Kizzire, D. G.; Rios, O.; Keffer, D. J.; Harper, D. P. Elucidating nano and meso-structures of lignin carbon composites: a comprehensive study of feedstock and temperature dependence. *Carbon* **2020**, *161*, 856–869.

(72) Li, F.; Ramage, D.; Lannin, J. S.; Conceicao, J. Radial distribution function of  $C_{60}$ : Structure of fullerene. *Phys. Rev. B:* Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. **1991**, 44, 13167–13170.

(73) Juhás, P.; Cherba, D. M.; Duxbury, P. M.; Punch, W. F.; Billinge, S. J. L. Ab initio determination of solid-state nanostructure. *Nature* **2006**, *440*, 655–658.

(74) Cliffe, M. J.; Dove, M. T.; Drabold, D. A.; Goodwin, A. L. Structure determination of disordered materials from diffraction data. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *104*, 125501.

(75) Nikolaev, A. V.; Dennis, T. J. S.; Prassides, K.; Soper, A. K. Molecular structure of the  $C_{70}$  fullerene. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1994**, 223, 143.

(76) Burian, A.; Dore, J. C.; Fischer, H. E.; Sloan, J. Structural studies of multiwall carbon nanotubes by neutron diffraction. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **1999**, *59*, 1665–1668.

(77) Burian, A.; Koloczek, J.; Dore, J. C.; Hannon, A. C.; Nagy, J. B.; Fonseca, A. Radial distribution function analysis of spatial atomic correlations incarbon nanotubes. *Diamond Relat. Mater.* **2004**, *13*, 1261–1265.

(78) Burian, A.; Dore, J. C.; Kyotani, T.; Honkimaki, V. Structural studies of oriented carbon nanotubes in alumina channels using high energy X-ray diffraction. *Carbon* **2005**, *43*, 2723–2729.

(79) Koloczek, J.; Brodka, A.; Burian, A.; Dore, J. C.; Honkimaki, V.; Kyotani, T. Structural studies of carbon nanotubes obtained by template deposition using high-energy X-ray scattering. *Diamond Relat. Mater.* **2006**, *15*, 1036–1040.

(80) Hawelek, L.; Brodka, A.; Tomita, S.; Dore, J.C.; Honkimaki, V.; Burian, A. Transformation of nano-diamonds to carbon nano-onions studied by X-ray diffraction and molecular dynamics. *Diamond Relat. Mater.* **2011**, *20*, 1333–1339.

(81) Hawelek, L.; Wrzalik, W.; Brodka, A.; Dore, J. C.; Hannon, A. C.; Iijima, S.; Yudasaka, M.; Ohba, T.; Kaneko, K.; Burian, A. A pulsed neutron diffraction study of the topological defects presence in carbonnanohorns. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2011**, *502*, 87–91.

(82) Hawelek, L.; Brodka, A.; Dore, J. C.; Hannon, A. C.; Iijima, S.; Yudasaka, M.; Ohba, T.; Kaneko, K.; Burian, A. Structural modeling of Dahlia-type single-walled carbon nanohorn aggregates by molecular dynamics. J. Phys. Chem. A **2013**, *117*, 9057–9061.

(83) Fitzgibbons, T. C.; Guthrie, M.; Xu, E.-s.; Crespi, V. H.; Davidowski, S. K.; Cody, G. D.; Alem, N.; Badding, J. V. Benzenederived carbon nanothreads. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 43–47.

(84) Bratek, K.; Bratek, W.; Gerus-Piasecka, I.; Jasieńko, S.; Wilk, P. Properties and structure of different rank anthracites. *Fuel* **2002**, *81*, 97–108.

(85) Kis, V. K.; Pósfai, M.; Lábár, J. L. Nanostructure of atmospheric soot particles. *Atmos. Environ.* **2006**, *40*, 5533–5542.

(86) Orendt, A. M.; Pimienta, I. S.; Badu, S. R.; Solum, M. S.; Pugmire, R. J.; Facelli, J. C.; Locke, D. R.; Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Winans, R. E. Three-dimensional structure of the Siskin Green River oil shale kerogen model: a comparison between calculated and observed properties. *Energy Fuels* **2013**, *27*, 702–710.

(87) Chatterjee, S.; Jones, E. B.; Clingenpeel, A. C.; McKenna, A. M.; Rios, O.; McNutt, N. W.; Keffer, D. J.; Johs, A. Conversion of lignin precursors to carbon fibers with nanoscale graphitic domains. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* **2014**, *2*, 2002.

(88) Jurkiewicz, K.; Hawełek, L.; Balin, K.; Szade, J.; Braghiroli, F. L.; Fierro, V.; Celzard, A.; Burian, A. Conversion of natural tannin to hydrothermal and graphene-like carbons studied by wide-angle x-ray scattering. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2015**, *119*, 8692–8701.

(89) Stratford, J. M.; Allan, P. K.; Pecher, O.; Chater, P. A.; Grey, C. P. Mechanistic insights into sodium storage in hardcarbon anodes using local structure probes. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 12430.

(90) Cersoy, S.; Martinetto, P.; Bordet, P.; Hodeau, J. L.; Van Elslande, E.; Walter, P. Identifying and quantifying amorphous and crystalline content in complex powdered samples: application to archaeological carbon blacks. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2016**, *49*, 585–593. (91) Poulain, A.; Dupont, C.; Martinez, P.; Guizani, C.; Drnec, J.

Wide-angle X-ray scattering combined with pair distribution function analysis of pyrolyzed wood. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2019, 52, 60–71.

(92) Rasmussen, S. C. Revisiting the early history of synthetic polymers: critiques and new insights. *Ambix* **2018**, *65*, 356–372.

(93) Sisson, W. A. X-ray diffraction behavior of cellulose derivatives. *Ind. Eng. Chem.* **1938**, *30*, 530–537.

(94) Fuller, C. S. The investigation of synthetic linear polymers by x-rays. *Chem. Rev.* **1940**, *26*, 143–167.

(95) Simard, G. L.; Warren, B. E. X-ray study of amorphous rubber. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1936**, 58, 507–509.

(96) Bjørnhaug, A.; Ellefsen, O.; Tønnesen, B. A. An approach to the solution of structure problems of organic chain polymers. *J. Polym. Sci.* **1954**, *12*, 621–632.

(97) Kilian, H.-G.; Boueke, K. Röntgenographische Strukturanalyse von amorphem Polystyrol. VI. J. Polym. Sci. **1962**, 58, 311–333.

(98) Wecker, S. M.; Davidson, T.; Cohen, J. B. A structural study of glassy polystyrene. J. Mater. Sci. 1972, 7, 1249–1259.

(99) Wang, C. S.; Yeh, G. S. Y. DRDF analysis of wide-angle x-ray scattering of natural rubber. *J. Macromol. Sci., Part B: Phys.* **1978**, *15*, 107–118.

(100) Gupta, M. R.; Yeh, G. S. Y. DRDF studies of glassy and partially crystalline poly(ethylene terephthalate). *J. Macromol. Sci., Part B: Phys.* **1978**, *15*, 119–137.

(101) Kurokawa, N.; Sohma, J. Structure changes induced by the milling of crystalline polymers. *Polym. J.* **1979**, *11*, 559–564.

(102) Longman, G. W.; Wignall, G. D.; Sheldon, R. P. Investigation of short range ordering in polymers: 3. Studies of low molecular weight alkanes and molten polyethylene. *Polymer* **1979**, *20*, 1063–1069.

(103) Yeh, G. S. Y. Current concepts of morphology of amorphous polymers– II. Degree of local order and overall chain conformation. *Polym. Sci. U.S.S.R.* **1979**, *21*, 2686–2703.

(104) Yoda, O.; Kuriyama, I.; Odajima, A. Interchain ordering in amorphous solid polyethylene. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1978**, *32*, 18–20.

(105) Yoda, O.; Kuriyama, I.; Odajima, A. RDF analysis for the degree of interchain ordering in amorphous solid polyethylene. *J. Appl. Phys.* **1978**, *49*, 5468–5472.

(106) Wang, C. S.; Yeh, G. S. Y. Effects of radiation on the structure of polypropylene. *Polym. J.* **1981**, *13*, 741–747.

(107) Numakawa, M.; Odajima, A. Radial distribution function study for ethylene–propylene random copolymer by X-ray diffraction method. *Polym. J.* **1981**, *13*, 879–888.

(108) Wang, C. S.; Yeh, G. S. Y. Effect of composition on molecular alignment in polyethylene terephthalate copolymers. *Polymer* **1982**, 23, 505–508.

(109) Hosemann, R.; Bagchi, S. N. Direct analysis of diffraction by *matter*; North-Holland Publishing Company: Amsterdam, 1962; pp 239–246.

(110) Zannetti, R.; Celotti, G.; Armigliato, A. Relationships between radial atomic distribution curves and the mechanism for the paracrystal-crystal transition of isotactic polypropylene. *Eur. Polym. J.* **1970**, *6*, 879–889.

(111) Gupta, M.; Yeh, G. S. Y. Application of paracrystalline lattice theory to the analysis of differential radial distribution function of amorphotized polyethylene. *J. Macromol. Sci., Part B: Phys.* **1979**, *16*, 225–241.

(112) Mitchell, G. R.; Lovell, R.; Windle, A. H. Interpretation of radial distribution functions for non-crystalline polymers. *Polymer* **1980**, *21*, 989–991.

(113) Narten, A. H.; Habenschuss, H.; Xenopoulos, A. Diffraction and structure of amorphous and crystalline regions in semicrystalline nylon 6.6. *Polymer* **1991**, *32*, 1923–1927.

(114) Cai, H.; Hu, R.; Egami, T.; Farrington, G. C. The effect of salt concentration on the local atomic structure and conductivity of PEObased NiBr<sub>2</sub> electrolytes. *Solid State Ionics* **1992**, *52*, 333–338.

(115) Misawa, M.; Kanaya, T.; Fukunaga, T. Local structure study of polyethylene melt studied by pulsed neutron total scattering. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1991**, *94*, 8413–8419.

(116) Narten, A. H. Radial distribution of carbon atoms in crystalline and molten polyethylene from x-ray diffraction. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1989**, *90*, 5857–5860.

(117) Rosi-Schwartz, B.; Mitchell, G. R. A complete atomistic model of molten polyethylene from neutron scattering data: a new methodology for polymer structure. *Polymer* **1994**, *35*, 5398–5407.

(118) Rosi-Schwartz, B.; Mitchell, G. R. A detailed single chain model for molten poly(tetrafluoroethylene) from a novel structure refinement technique on neutron scattering data. *Polymer* **1994**, *35*, 3139–3148.

(119) Mitchell, G. R. In Order in the Amorphous "State" of Polymers; Keinath, S. E., Miller, R. L., Rieke, J. K., Eds.; Springer US, pp 1–31.

(120) Mitchell, G. R.; Rosi-Schwartz, B.; Ward, D. J. Local order in polymer glasses and melts. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London A* **1994**, *348*, 97–115.

(121) Gkourmpis, T.; Mitchell, G. R. The use of scattering data in the study of the molecular organisation of polymers in the noncrystalline state. *Polymers* **2020**, *12*, 2917. (122) Jiao, G.; Zuo, T.; Ma, C.; Han, Z.; Zhang, J.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, J.; Cheng, H.; Han, C. C. 3d most-probable all-atom structure of atactic polystyrene during glass formation: a neutron total scattering study. *Macromolecules* **2020**, *53*, 5140–5146.

(123) Armes, S. P.; Aldissi, M.; Hawley, M.; Beery, J. G.; Gottesfeld, S. Morphology and structure of conducting polymers. *Langmuir* **1991**, 7, 1447–1452.

(124) Boeva, Z. A.; Sergeyev, V. G. Polyaniline: synthesis, properties, and application. *Polym. Sci., Ser. C* **2014**, *56*, 144–153.

(125) Anderson, M. R.; Mattes, B. R.; Reiss, H.; Kaner, R. B. Conjugated polymer films for gas separations. *Science* **1991**, 252, 1412–1415.

(126) Macdiarmid, A. G.; Chiang, J. C.; Richter, A. F.; Epstein, A. J. Polyaniline: a new concept in conducting polymers. *Synth. Met.* **1987**, *18*, 285–290.

(127) Annis, B. K.; Narten, A. H.; Macdiarmid, A. G.; Richter, A. F. A covalent bond to bromine in HBr-treated polyaniline from X-ray diffraction. *Synth. Met.* **1988**, *22*, 191–199.

(128) Winokur, M. J.; Mattes, B. R. Differential anomalous scattering studies of amorphous HBr-doped polyaniline. *Synth. Met.* **1997**, *84*, 725–728.

(129) Laridjani, M.; Pouget, J. P.; Scherr, E. M.; MacDiarmid, A. G.; Jozefowicz, M. E.; Epstein, A. J. Amorphography - the relationship between amorphous and crystalline order. 1. The structural origin of memory effects in polyaniline. *Macromolecules* **1992**, *25*, 4106–4113.

(130) Maron, J.; Winokur, M. J.; Mattes, B. R. Processing-induced changes in the local structure of amorphous polyaniline by radial distribution function analysis of X-ray scattering data. *Macromolecules* **1995**, *28*, 4475–4486.

(131) Winokur, M. J.; Mattes, B. R. Determination of the local molecular structure in amorphous polyaniline. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **1996**, *54*, 12637–12640.

(132) Tomalia, D. A.; Naylor, A. M.; Goddard, W. A. Starburst dendrimers: molecular-Level control of size, shape, surface chemistry, topology, and flexibility from atoms to macroscopic matter. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1990**, *29*, 137–175.

(133) Petkov, V.; Parvanov, V.; Tomalia, D.; Swanson, D.; Bergstrom, D.; Vogt, T. 3D structure of dendritic and hyper-branched macromolecules by X-ray diffraction. *Solid State Commun.* **2005**, *134*, 671–675.

(134) Soper, A. K.; Page, K.; Llobet, A. Empirical potential structure refinement of semi-crystalline polymer systems: polytetrafluoroethylene and polychlorotrifluoroethylene. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2013**, *25*, 454219.

(135) Drobny, J. G. *Handbook of thermoplastic elastomers*; Elsevier: Oxford, 2014; Chapter 9. Thermoplastic polyurethane elastomers, pp 233–253.

(136) Bonart, R.; Morbitzer, L.; Hentze, G. X-ray investigations concerning the physical structure of cross-linking in urethane elastomers. II. Butanediol as chain extender. *J. Macromol. Sci., Part B: Phys.* **1969**, *3*, 337–356.

(137) Terban, M. W.; Dabbous, R.; Debellis, A. D.; Pöselt, E.; Billinge, S. J. L. Structures of hard phases in thermoplastic polyurethanes. *Macromolecules* **2016**, *49*, 7350–7358.

(138) Blackwell, J.; Gardner, K. H. Structure of the hard segments in polyurethane elastomers. *Polymer* **1979**, *20*, 13–17.

(139) Terban, M. W.; Seidel, K.; Pöselt, E.; Malfois, M.; Baumann, R.-P.; Sander, R.; Paulus, D.; Hinrichsen, B.; Dinnebier, R. E. Crossexamining polyurethane nanodomain formation and internal structure. *Macromolecules* **2020**, *53*, 9065–9073.

(140) Suzuki, H.; Grebowicz, J.; Wunderlich, B. Glass transition of poly(oxymethylene). *Br. Polym. J.* **1985**, *17*, 1–3.

(141) Dobbertin, J.; Hensel, A.; Schick, C. Dielectric spectroscopy and calorimetry in the glass transition region of semi-crystalline poly(ethylene terepthalate). *J. Therm. Anal.* **1996**, *47*, 1027–1040.

(142) Koutsoumpis, S.; Raftopoulos, K. N.; Oguz, O.; Papadakis, C. M.; Menceloglu, Y. Z.; Pissis, P. Dynamic glass transition of the rigid amorphous fraction in polyurethane-urea/SiO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposites. *Soft Matter* **2017**, *13*, 4580–4590.

(143) Pauling, L.; Brockway, L. O. The radial distribution method of interpretation of electron diffraction photographs of gas molecules. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1935**, *57*, 2684–2692.

(144) Pauling, L.; Brockway, L. O. The adjacent charge rule and the structure of methyl azide, methyl nitrate, and fluorine nitrate. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **193**7, *59*, 13–20.

(145) Pauling, L.; Brockway, L. O. Carbon—carbon bond distances. The electron diffraction investigation of ethane, propane, isobutane, neopentane, cyclopropane, cyclopentane, cyclohexane, allene, ethylene, isobutene, tetramethylethylene, mesitylene, and hexamethylbenzene. Revised values of covalent radii. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1937**, *59*, 1223–1236.

(146) Schomaker, V.; Pauling, L. The electron diffraction investigation of the structure of benzene, pyridine, pyrazine, butadiene-1,3, cyclopentadiene, furan, pyrrole, and thiophene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1939**, *61*, 1769–1780.

(147) Pauling, L.; Corey, R. B.; Branson, H. R. The structure of proteins: two hydrogen-bonded helical configurations of the polypeptide chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1951**, 37, 205–211.

(148) Pauling, L.; Corey, R. B. The polypeptide-chain configuration in hemoglobin and other globular proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. **1951**, *37*, 282–285.

(149) Bragg, W. L.; Kendrew, J. C.; Perutz, M. F. Polypeptide chain configurations in crystalline proteins. *Proc. R. Soc. London A* **1950**, 203, 321–357.

(150) Riley, D. P.; Arndt, U. W. New type of X-ray evidence on the molecular structure of globular proteins. *Nature* **1952**, *169*, 138–139. (151) Donohue, J. Radial distribution functions of some structures of the polypeptide chain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1954**, *40*, 377–381.

(152) Benmore, C. J.; Izdebski, T.; Yarger, J. L. Total X-ray scattering of spider dragline silk. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 178102. (153) Mou, Q.; Benmore, C. J.; Weber, W. S.; Yarger, J. L. Insights into the hierarchical structure of spider dragline silk fibers: evidence for fractal clustering of  $\beta$ -sheet nano-crystallites. *arXiv* (Condensed Matter > Materials Science), July 15, 2015, 1507.04321, ver. 1.

https://arxiv.org/abs/1507.04321v1 (accessed November 15, 2021). (154) Thayer, A. M. Finding solutions. *Chem. Eng. News* **2010**, *88*, 13–18.

(155) Cherukuvada, S.; Nangia, A. Eutectics as improved pharmaceutical materials: design, properties and characterization. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 906–923.

(156) Willart, J. F.; Descamps, M. Solid state amorphization of pharmaceuticals. *Mol. Pharmaceutics* **2008**, *5*, 905–920.

(157) Savjani, K. T.; Gajjar, A. K.; Savjani, J. K. Drug solubility: importance and enhancement techniques. *ISRN Pharm.* **2012**, 2012, 1–10.

(158) Newman, A.; Hastedt, J. E.; Yazdanian, M. New directions in pharmaceutical amorphous materials and amorphous solid dispersions, a tribute to Professor George Zografi—proceedings of the June 2016 Land O'Lakes Conference. *AAPS Open* **2017**, *3*, No. No. 7, DOI: 10.1186/s41120-017-0017-6.

(159) Thakral, S.; Terban, M. W.; Thakral, N. K.; Suryanarayanan, R. Recent advances in the characterization of amorphous pharmaceuticals by X-ray diffractometry. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.* **2016**, *100*, 183–193.

(160) Sheth, A. R.; Bates, S.; Muller, F. X.; Grant, D. J. W. Polymorphism in piroxicam. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2004**, *4*, 1091–1098.

(161) Sheth, A. R.; Bates, S.; Muller, F. X.; Grant, D. J. W. Local structure in amorphous phases of piroxicam from powder X-ray diffractometry. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2005**, *5*, 571–578.

(162) Bates, S.; Zografi, G.; Engers, D.; Morris, K.; Crowley, K.; Newman, A. Analysis of amorphous and nanocrystalline solids from their X-ray diffraction patterns. *Pharm. Res.* **2006**, *23*, 2333–2349.

(163) Heinz, A.; Strachan, C. J.; Atassi, F.; Gordon, K. C.; Rades, T. Characterizing an amorphous system exhibiting trace crystallinity: a case study with saquinavir. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2008**, *8*, 119–127.

(164) Botker, J. P.; Karmwar, P.; Strachan, C. J.; Cornett, C.; Tian, F.; Zujovic, Z.; Rantanen, J.; Rades, T. Assessment of crystalline

disorder in cryo-milled samples of indomethacin using atomic pairwise distribution functions. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2011**, *417*, 112–119.

(165) Naelepää, K.; Boetker, J. P.; Veski, P.; Rantanen, J.; Rades, T.; Kogermann, K. Polymorphic form peroxicam influences the performance of amorphous material prepared by ball-milling. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2012**, *429*, 69–77.

(166) Bates, S.; Kelly, R. C.; Ivanisevic, I.; Schields, P.; Zografi, G.; Newman, A. W. Assessment of defects and amorphous structure produced in raffinose pentahydrate upon dehydration. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2007**, *96*, 1418–1433.

(167) Moore, M. D.; Steinbach, A. M.; Buckner, I. S.; Wildfong, P. L. A structural investigation into the compaction behavior of pharmaceutical composites using powder x-ray diffraction and total scattering analysis. *Pharm. Res.* **2009**, *26*, 2429–2437.

(168) Boetker, J. P.; Koradia, V.; Rades, T.; Rantanen, J.; Savolainen, M. Atomic pairwise distribution function analysis of the amorphous phase prepared by different manufacturing routes. *Pharmaceutics* **2012**, *4*, 93–103.

(169) Dykhne, T.; Taylor, R.; Florence, A.; Billinge, S. J. L. Data requirements for the reliable use of atomic pair distribution functions in amorphous pharmaceutical fingerprinting. *Pharm. Res.* **2011**, *28*, 1041–1048.

(170) Reiss, C. A.; Kharchenko, A.; Gateshki, M. On the use of laboratory x-ray diffraction equipment for pair distribution function (PDF) studies. *Z. Kristallogr.* **2012**, *227*, 257–261.

(171) Atassi, F.; Mao, C.; Masadeh, A. S.; Byrn, S. R. Solid-state characterization of amorphous and mesomorphous calcium ketoprofen. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2010**, *99*, 3684–3697.

(172) Billinge, S. J. L.; Dykhne, T.; Juhás, P.; Božin, E.; Taylor, R.; Florence, A. J.; Shankland, K. Characterisation of amorphous and nanocrystalline molecular materials by total scattering. *CrystEngComm* **2010**, *12*, 1366–1368.

(173) Benmore, C. J.; Weber, J. K. R.; Tailor, A. N.; Cherry, B. R.; Yarger, J. L.; Mou, Q.; Weber, W.; Neuefeind, J.; Byrn, S. R. Structural characterization and aging of glassy pharmaceuticals made using acoustic levitation. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2013**, *102*, 1290–1300.

(174) Habgood, M.; Lancaster, R. W.; Gateshki, M.; Kenwright, A. M. The amorphous form of salicylsalicylic acid: experimental characterization and computational predictability. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2013**, *13*, 1771–1779.

(175) Prill, D.; Juhás, P.; Schmidt, M. U.; Billinge, S. J. L. Modeling pair distribution functions (PDF) of organic compounds: describing both intra- and intermolecular correlation functions in calculated PDFs. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 171–178.

(176) Prill, D.; Juhás, P.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Schmidt, M. U. Towards solution and refinement of organic crystal structures by fitting to the atomic pair distribution function. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2016**, 72, 62–72.

(177) Terban, M. W.; Russo, L.; Pham, T. N.; Barich, D. H.; Sun, Y. T.; Burke, M. D.; Brum, J.; Billinge, S. J. L. Local structural effects due to micronization and amorphization on an HIV treatment active pharmaceutical ingredient. *Mol. Pharmaceutics* **2020**, *17*, 2370–2389. (178) Gohel, M. C.; Jogani, P. D. A review of co-processed directly

compressible excipients. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 2005, 8, 76–93.

(179) Terban, M. W.; Johnson, M.; Di Michiel, M.; Billinge, S. J. L. Detection and characterization of nanoparticles in suspension at low concentrations using the x-ray total scattering pair distribution function technique. *Nanoscale* **2015**, *7*, 5480–5487.

(180) Gozzo, F.; Cervellino, A.; Leoni, M.; Scardi, P.; Bergamaschi, A.; Schmitt, B. Instrumental profile of MYTHEN detector in Debye-Scherrer geometry. Z. Kristallogr. **2010**, 225, 616–624.

(181) Shah, B.; Kakumanu, V. K.; Bansal, A. K. Analytical techniques for quantification of amorphous/crystalline phases in pharmaceutical solids. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2006**, *95*, 1641–1665.

(182) Davis, T.; Johnson, M.; Billinge, S. J. L. Towards phase quantification at the nanoscale using the total scattering pair distribution function (TSPDF) method: recrystallization of cryomilled sulfamerazine. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2013**, *13*, 4239–4244. (183) Bordet, P.; Bytchkov, A.; Descamps, M.; Dudognon, E.; Elkaim, E.; Martinetto, P.; Pagnoux, W.; Poulain, A.; Willart, J.-F. Solid state amorphization of  $\beta$ -trehalose: a structural investigation using synchrotron powder diffraction and PDF analysis. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2016**, *16*, 4547–4558.

(184) Geddes, H. S.; Blade, H.; McCabe, J. F.; Hughes, L. P.; Goodwin, A. L. Structural characterisation of amorphous solid dispersion via metropolis matrix factorisation of pair distribution function data. *Chem. Commun.* **2019**, *55*, 13346–13349.

(185) Newman, A.; Engers, D.; Bates, S.; Ivanisevic, I.; Kelly, R. C.; Zografi, G. Characterization of amorphous API: polymer mixtures using x-ray powder diffraction. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2008**, *97*, 4840–4856.

(186) Nollenberger, K.; Gryczke, A.; Meier, C.; Dressman, J.; Schmidt, M. U.; Brühne, S. Pair distribution function X-ray analysis explains dissolution characteristics of felodipine melt extrusion products. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2009**, *98*, 1476–1486.

(187) Ivanisevic, I.; Bates, S.; Chen, P. Novel methods for the assessment of miscibility of amorphous drug-polymer dispersions. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2009**, *98*, 3373–3386.

(188) Rumondor, A. C. F.; Ivanisevic, I.; Bates, S.; Alonzo, D. E.; Taylor, L. S. Evaluation of drug-polymer miscibility in amorphous solid dispersion systems. *Pharm. Res.* **2009**, *26*, 2523–2534.

(189) Engers, D.; Teng, J.; Jimenez-Novoa, J.; Gent, P.; Hossack, S.; Campbell, C.; Thomson, J.; Ivanisevic, I.; Templeton, A.; Byrn, S.; Newman, A. A solid-state approach to enable early development compounds: selection and animal bioavailability studies of an itraconazole amorphous solid dispersion. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2010**, *99*, 3901–3922.

(190) Padilla, A. M.; Ivanisevic, I.; Yang, Y.; Engers, D.; Bogner, R. H.; Pikal, M. J. The study of phase separation in amorphous freezedried systems. Part I: raman mapping and computational analysis of XRPD data in model polymer systems. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2011**, *100*, 206–222.

(191) Moore, M. D.; Shi, Z.; Wildfong, P. L. D. Structural interpretation in composite systems using powder x-ray diffraction: applications of error propagation to the pair distribution function. *Pharm. Res.* **2010**, *27*, 2624–2632.

(192) Moore, M. D.; Wildfong, P. L. D. Informatics calibration of a molecular descriptors database to predict solid dispersion potential of small molecule organic solids. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2011**, *418*, 217–226.

(193) Chieng, N.; Trnka, H.; Boetker, J.; Pikal, M.; Rantanen, J.; Grohganz, H. Detecting phase separation of freeze-dried binary amorphous systems using pair-wise distribution function and multivariate data analysis. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2013**, 454, 167–173.

(194) Benmore, C. J. In *Discovering and developing molecules with optimal drug-like properties*; Templeton, A. C., Byrn, S. R., Haskell, R. J., Prisinzano, T. E., Eds.; Springer New York, 2015; Chapter 9. Advanced x-ray analytical methods to understand structure, properties, and risk, pp 263–283.

(195) de Araujo, G. L. B.; Benmore, C. J.; Byrn, S. R. Local structure of ion pair interaction in lapatinib amorphous dispersions characterized by synchrotron x-Ray diffraction and pair distribution function analysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 46367.

(196) Garcia-Bennett, A. E.; Lau, M.; Bedford, N. Probing the amorphous state of pharmaceutical compounds within mesoporous material using pair distribution function analysis. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2018**, 107, 2216–2224.

(197) Nguyen Thi, Y.; Rademann, K.; Emmerling, F. Direct evidence of polyamorphism in paracetamol. *CrystEngComm* **2015**, *17*, 9029–9036.

(198) Tominaka, S.; Kawakami, K.; Fukushima, M.; Miyazaki, A. Physical stabilization of pharmaceutical glasses based on hydrogen bond reorganization under sub- $T_g$  termperature. *Mol. Pharmaceutics* **2017**, *14*, 264–273.

(199) Shalaev, E.; Soper, A.; Zeitler, J. A.; Ohtake, S.; Roberts, C. J.; Pikal, M. J.; Wu, K.; Boldyreva, E. Freezing of aqueous solutions and chemical stability of amorphous pharmaceuticals: water clusters hypothesis. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2019**, *108*, 36–49.

(200) Chen, S.; Sheikh, A. Y.; Ho, R. Evaluation of effects of pharmaceutical processing on structural disorders of active pharmaceutical ingredient crystals using nanoindentation and high-resolution total scattering pair distribution function analysis. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2014**, *103*, 3879–3890.

(201) Pilcer, G.; Amighi, K. Formulation strategy and use of excipients in pulmonary drug delivery. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2010**, 392, 1–19. (202) Mathlouthi, M.; Benmessaoud, G.; Rogé, B. Role of water in the polymorphic transitions of small carbohydrates. *Food Chem.* **2012**, 132, 1630–1637.

(203) Petkov, V.; Ren, Y.; Kabekkodu, S.; Murphy, D. Atomic pair distribution functions analysis of disordered low-Z materials. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2013**, *15*, 8544–8554.

(204) Morrow, E. A.; Terban, M. W.; Thomas, L. C.; Gray, D. L.; Bowman, M. J.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Schmidt, S. J. Effect of amorphization method on the physicochemical properties of amorphous sucrose. *J. Food Eng.* **2019**, *243*, 125–141.

(205) Morrow, E. A.; Terban, M. W.; Lee, J. W.; Thomas, L. C.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Schmidt, S. J. Investigation of thermal decomposition as a critical factor inhibiting cold crystallization in amorphous sucrose prepared by melt-quenching. *J. Food Eng.* **2019**, *261*, 87–99.

(206) Rhys, N. H.; Bruni, F.; Imberti, S.; McLain, S. E.; Ricci, M. A. Glucose and mannose: a link between hydration and sweetness. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2017, 121, 7771–7776.

(207) Bruni, F.; Mino, C. D.; Imberti, S.; McLain, S. E.; Rhys, N. H.; Ricci, M. A. Hydrogen bond length as a key to understanding sweetness. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2018**, *9*, 3667–3672.

(208) Imberti, S.; McLain, S. E.; Rhys, N. H.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A. Role of water in sucrose, lactose, and sucralose taste: the sweeter, the wetter? *ACS Omega* **2019**, *4*, 22392–22398.

(209) Pagnotta, S. E.; McLain, S. E.; Soper, A. K.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A. Water and trehalose: how much do they interact with each other? *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2010**, *114*, 4904–4908.

(210) Soper, A. K.; Ricci, M. A.; Bruni, F.; Rhys, N. H.; McLain, S. E. Trehalose in water revisited. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2018**, *122*, 7365–7374.

(211) Olgenblum, G. I.; Sapir, L.; Harries, D. Properties of aqueous trehalose mixtures: glass transition and hydrogen bonding. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2020**, *16*, 1249–1262.

(212) Katzoff, S. X-ray studies of the molecular arrangement in liquids. J. Chem. Phys. 1934, 2, 841–851.

(213) Morgan, J.; Warren, B. E. X-ray analysis of the structure of water. J. Chem. Phys. **1938**, 6, 666–673.

(214) Narten, A. H.; Danford, M. D.; Levy, H. A. X-ray diffraction study of liquid water in the temperature range 4–200 °C. *Discuss. Faraday Soc.* **1967**, *43*, 97–107.

(215) Narten, A. H.; Levy, H. A. Observed diffraction pattern and proposed models of liquid water. *Science* **1969**, *165*, 447–454.

(216) Narten, A. H.; Levy, H. A. Liquid water: molecular correlation functions from X-ray diffraction. J. Chem. Phys. **1971**, 55, 2263–2269.

(217) Narten, A. H.; Venkatesh, C. G.; Rice, S. A. Diffraction pattern and structure of amorphous solid water at 10 and 77 K. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1976**, *64*, 1106.

(218) Narten, A. H.; Thiessen, W. E.; Blum, L. Atom pair distribution functions of liquid water at 25 °C from neutron diffraction. *Science* **1982**, *217*, 1033–1034.

(219) Soper, A. K.; Silver, R. N. Hydrogen-hydrogen pair correlation function in liquid water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1982**, *49*, 471–474.

(220) Soper, A. K.; Phillips, M. G. A new determination of the structure of water at 25°C. *Chem. Phys.* **1986**, *107*, 47–60.

(221) Soper, A. K.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A. Site-site pair correlation functions of water from 25 to 400°C: Revised analysis of new and old diffraction data. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1997**, *106*, 247–254.

(222) Badyal, Y. S.; Saboungi, M.-L.; Price, D. L.; Shastri, S. D.; Haeffner, D. R.; Soper, A. K. Electron distribution in water. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2000**, *112*, 9206–9208.

(223) Soper, A. K. Joint structure refinement of x-ray and neutron diffraction data on disordered materials: application to liquid water. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2007**, *19*, 335206.

(224) Soper, A. K. Empirical potential Monte Carlo simulation of fluid structure. *Chem. Phys.* **1996**, 202, 295–306.

(225) Head-Gordon, T.; Hura, G. Water structure from scattering experiments and simulation. *Chem. Rev.* 2002, 102, 2651–2670.

(226) Wikfeldt, K. T.; Leetmaa, M.; Ljungberg, M. P.; Nilsson, A.; Pettersson, L. G. M. On the range of water structure models compatible with X-ray and neutron diffraction data. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2009**, *113*, 6246–6255.

(227) Amann-Winkel, K.; Bellissent-Funel, M.-C.; Bove, L. E.; Loerting, T.; Nilsson, A.; Paciaroni, A.; Schlesinger, D.; Skinner, L. Xray and neutron scattering of water. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 7570– 7589.

(228) Soper, A. K. Is water one liquid or two. J. Chem. Phys. 2019, 150, 234503.

(229) Clark, G. N. I.; Cappa, C. D.; Smith, J. D.; Saykally, R. J.; Head-Gordon, T. The structure of ambient water. *Mol. Phys.* 2010, 108, 1415–1433.

(230) Soper, A. K. The radial distribution functions of water as derived from radiation total scattering experiments: is there anything we can say for sure? *ISRN Phys. Chem.* **2013**, 2013, 279463.

(231) Svishchev, I. M.; Kusalik, P. G. Structure in liquid water: a study of spatial distribution functions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *99*, 3049–3058.

(232) Postorino, P.; Tromp, R. H.; Ricci, M.-A.; Soper, A. K.; Neilson, G. W. The interatomic structure of water at supercritical temperatures. *Nature* **1993**, *366*, *668*–670.

(233) Jedlovszky, P.; Brodholt, J. P.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A.; Soper, A. K.; Vallauri, R. Analysis of the hydrogen-bonded structure of water from ambient to supercritical conditions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1998**, *108*, 8528–8540.

(234) Skinner, L. B.; Benmore, C. J.; Neuefeind, J. C.; Parise, J. B. The structure of water around the compressibility minimum. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *141*, 214507.

(235) Soper, A. K. The radial distribution functions of water and ice from 220 to 673 K and at pressures up to 400 MPa. *Chem. Phys.* 2000, 258, 121–137.

(236) Skinner, L. B.; Galib, M.; Fulton, J. L.; Mundy, C. J.; Parise, J. B.; Pham, V.-T.; Schenter, G. K.; Benmore, C. J. The structure of liquid water up to 360 MPa from x-ray diffraction measurements using a high Q-range and from molecular simulation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *144*, 134504.

(237) Bellissent-Funel, M.; Teixeira, J.; Bosio, L. Structure of highdensity amorphous water. II. Neutron scattering study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1987**, 87, 2231–2235.

(238) Soper, A. K.; Ricci, M. A. Structures of high-density and lowdensity water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2000**, *84*, 2881–2884.

(239) Soper, A. K.; Benmore, C. J. Quantum differences between heavy and light water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2008**, *101*, 065502.

(240) Floriano, M. A.; Whalley, E.; Svensson, E. C.; Sears, V. F. Structure of high-density amorphous ice by neutron diffraction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1986**, *57*, 3062–3064.

(241) Bizid, A.; Bosio, L.; Defrain, A.; Oumezzine, M. Structure of high-density amorphous water. I. X-ray diffraction study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1987**, *87*, 2225–2230.

(242) Tulk, C. A.; Benmore, C. J.; Urquidi, J.; Klug, D. D.; Neuefeind, J.; Tomberli, B.; Egelstaff, P. A. Structural studies of several distinct metastable forms of amorphous ice. *Science* **2002**, *297*, 1320–1323.

(243) Finney, J. L.; Hallbrucker, A.; Kohl, I.; Soper, A. K.; Bowron, D. T. Structures of high and low density amorphous ice by neutron diffraction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *88*, 225503.

(244) Mariedahl, D.; Perakis, F.; SpÄh, A.; Pathak, H.; Kim, K. H.; Camisasca, G.; Schlesinger, D.; Benmore, C.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Nilsson, A.; et al. X-ray scattering and O–O pair-distribution functions of amorphous ices. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2018**, *122*, 7616–7624.

(245) Benmore, C.; Gallington, L. C.; Soignard, E. Intermediate range order in supercooled water. *Mol. Phys.* **2019**, *117*, 2470–2476. (246) Shi, C.; Alderman, O. L. G.; Benmore, C. J. Network topology

of deeply supercooled water. Mol. Phys. 2019, 117, 3217-3226.

(247) Souza Junior, J. B.; Schleder, G. R.; Colombari, F. M.; de Farias, M. A.; Bettini, J.; van Heel, M.; Portugal, R. V.; Fazzio, A.; Leite, E. R. Pair distribution function from electron diffraction in cryogenic electron microscopy: revealing glassy water structure. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *11*, 1564–1569.

(248) Soper, A. K.; Castner, E. W.; Luzar, A. Impact of urea on water structure: a clue to its properties as a denaturant? *Biophys. Chem.* **2003**, *105*, 649–666.

(249) Meersman, F.; Bowron, D.; Soper, A. K.; Koch, M. H. J. Counteraction of urea by trimethylamine N-oxide is due to direct interaction. *Biophys. J.* **2009**, *97*, 2559–2566.

(250) Meersman, F.; Bowron, D.; Soper, A. K.; Koch, M. H. J. An Xray and neutron scattering study of the equilibrium between trimethylamine N-oxide and urea in aqueous solution. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 13765–13771.

(251) Soper, A. K.; Luzar, A. A neutron diffraction study of dimethyl sulfoxide-water mixtures. J. Chem. Phys. **1992**, 97, 1320-1331.

(252) McLain, S. E.; Soper, A. K.; Terry, A. E.; Watts, A. Structure and hydration of l-proline in aqueous solutions. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2007, *111*, 4568–4580.

(253) Rhys, N. H.; Soper, A. K.; Dougan, L. The hydrogen-bonding ability of the amino acid glutamine revealed by neutron diffraction experiments. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2012**, *116*, 13308–13319.

(254) Rhys, N. H.; Dougan, L. The emerging role of hydrogen bond interactions in polyglutamine structure, stability and association. *Soft Matter* **2013**, *9*, 2359–2364.

(255) Scoppola, E.; Sodo, A.; McLain, S.; Ricci, M.; Bruni, F. Waterpeptide site-specific interactions: a structural study on the hydration of glutathione. *Biophys. J.* **2014**, *106*, 1701–1709.

(256) Johnston, A. J.; Zhang, Y. R.; Busch, S.; Pardo, L. C.; Imberti, S.; McLain, S. E. Amphipathic solvation of indole: implications for the role of tryptophan in membrane proteins. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2015, *119*, 5979–5987.

(257) Lenton, S.; Walsh, D. L.; Rhys, N. H.; Soper, A. K.; Dougan, L. Structural evidence for solvent-stabilisation by aspartic acid as a mechanism for halophilic protein stability in high salt concentrations. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *18*, 18054–18062.

(258) Rhys, N. H.; Gillams, R. J.; Collins, L. E.; Callear, S. K.; Lawrence, M. J.; McLain, S. E. On the structure of an aqueous propylene glycol solution. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *145*, 224504.

(259) Foglia, F.; Lawrence, M. J.; Lorenz, C. D.; McLain, S. E. On the hydration of the phosphocholine headgroup in aqueous solution. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *133*, 145103.

(260) Rhys, N. H.; Al-Badri, M. A.; Ziolek, R. M.; Gillams, R. J.; Collins, L. E.; Lawrence, M. J.; Lorenz, C. D.; McLain, S. E. On the solvation of the phosphocholine headgroup in an aqueous propylene glycol solution. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *148*, 135102.

(261) Rhys, N. H.; Duffy, I. B.; Sowden, C. L.; Lorenz, C. D.; McLain, S. E. On the hydration of DOPE in solution. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *150*, 115104.

(262) Nishi, N.; Takahashi, S.; Matsumoto, M.; Tanaka, A.; Muraya, K.; Takamuku, T.; Yamaguchi, T. Hydrogen bonding cluster formation and hydrophobic solute association in aqeuous solution of ethanol. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1995**, *99*, 462–468.

(263) Dixit, S.; Crain, J.; Poon, W. C. K.; Finney, J. L.; Soper, A. K. Molecular segregation observed in a concentrated alcohol-water solution. *Nature* **2002**, *416*, 829-832.

(264) Dougan, L.; Bates, S. P.; Hargreaves, R.; Fox, J. P.; Crain, J.; Finney, J. L.; Réat, V.; Soper, A. K. Methanol-water solutions: a bipercolating liquid mixture. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2004**, *121*, 6456–6462.

(265) Lenton, S.; Rhys, N. H.; Towey, J. J.; Soper, A. K.; Dougan, L. Temperature-dependent segregation in alcohol-water binary mixtures is driven by water clustering. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2018**, *122*, 7884–7894.

(266) Karlsson, B. C. G.; Friedman, R. Dilution of whisky – the molecular perspective. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 6489.

(267) Finney, J. L.; Soper, A. K. Solvent structure and perturbations in solutions of chemical and biological importance. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1994**, 23, 1–10.

(268) Marcus, Y. Effect of ions on the structure of water: structure making and breaking. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 1346–1370.

(269) Ansell, S.; Barnes, A. C.; Mason, P. E.; Neilson, G. W.; Ramos, S. X-ray and neutron scattering studies of the hydration structure of alkali ions in concentrated aqueous solutions. *Biophys. Chem.* **2006**, *124*, 171–179.

(270) Soper, A. K.; Neilson, G. W.; Enderby, J. E.; Howe, R. A. A neutron diffraction study of hydration effects in aqueous solutions. *J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys.* **1977**, *10*, 1793–1801.

(271) Mancinelli, R.; Botti, A.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A.; Soper, A. K. Hydration of sodium, potassium, and chloride ions in solution and the concept of structure maker/breaker. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2007, *111*, 13570–13577.

(272) Mancinelli, R.; Botti, A.; Bruni, F.; Ricci, M. A.; Soper, A. K. Perturbation of water structure due to monovalent ions in solution. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **200**7, *9*, 2959–2967.

(273) Galib, M.; Baer, M. D.; Skinner, L. B.; Mundy, C. J.; Huthwelker, T.; Schenter, G. K.; Benmore, C. J.; Govind, N.; Fulton, J. L. Revisiting the hydration structure of aqueous Na<sup>+</sup>. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *146*, 084504.

(274) Badyal, Y. S.; Barnes, A. C.; Cuello, G. J.; Simonson, J. M. Understanding the effects of concentration on the solvation structure of  $Ca^{2+}$  in aqueous solution. II: insights into longer range order from neutron diffraction isotope substitution. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2004**, *108*, 11819–11827.

(275) Narten, A. H.; Hahn, R. L. Direct determination of ionic solvation from neutron diffraction. *Science* **1982**, *217*, 1249–1250.

(276) Annis, B. K.; Hahn, R. L.; Narten, A. H. Hydration of the  $Dy^{3+}$  ion in dysprosium chloride solutions determined by neutron diffraction. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1985**, *82*, 2086–2091.

(277) Soper, A. K.; Weckström, K. Ion solvation and water structure in potassium halide aqueous solutions. *Biophys. Chem.* **2006**, *124*, 180–191.

(278) Xu, J.; Fang, Y.; Fang, C. Structure of aqueous sodium sulfate solutions derived from X-ray diffraction. *Chin. Sci. Bull.* **2009**, *54*, 2022–2027.

(279) Lenton, S.; Rhys, N. H.; Towey, J. J.; Soper, A. K.; Dougan, L. Highly compressed water structure observed in a perchlorate aqueous solution. *Nat. Commun.* **201**7, *8*, 1–5.

(280) Laurent, H.; Soper, A. K.; Dougan, L. Trimethylamine *N*oxide (TMAO) resists the compression of water structure by magnesium perchlorate: terrestrial kosmotrope vs. Martian chaotrope. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 4924–4937.

(281) Zobel, M. Observing structural reorientations at solventnanoparticle interfaces by X-ray diffraction - putting water in the spotlight. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2016**, *72*, 621–631. (282) Kruh, R. F. Diffraction studies of the structure of liquids.

Chem. Rev. 1962, 62, 319-346.

(283) Egalstaff, P. A., Ed. *An introduction to the liquid state*; Academic Press: London, 1967.

(284) Narten, A. H.; Sandler, S. I.; Rensi, T. A. X-ray diffraction study of liquid neopentane and tertiary butyl alcohol. *Faraday Discuss. Chem. Soc.* **1978**, *66*, 39–47.

(285) Habenschuss, A.; Johnson, E.; Narten, A. H. X-ray diffraction study and models of liquid methane at 92 K. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1981**, *74*, 5234–5241.

(286) Habenschuss, A.; Narten, A. H. X-ray diffraction study of liquid n-butane at 140 and 267 K. J. Chem. Phys. **1989**, 91, 4299–4306.

(287) Habenschuss, A.; Narten, A. H. X-ray diffraction study of some liquid alkanes. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 5692-5699.

(288) Curro, J. G.; Weinhold, J. D.; Rajasekaran, J. J.; Habenschuss, A.; Londono, J. D.; Honeycutt, J. D. Intermolecular packing in stereoregular polypropylene liquids: comparison between theory and X-ray scattering experiments. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 6264–6273.

(289) Weinhold, J. D.; Curro, J. G.; Habenschuss, A.; Londono, J. D. Self-consistent integral equation theory of polyolefins and comparison to X-ray scattering experiments. *Macromolecules* **1999**, *32*, 7276–7288.

(290) Bochyñski, Z.; Dejneka, L.; Drozdowski, H. X-ray diffraction study of the structure of liquid naphthalene at 368K. *J. Mol. Struct.* **2000**, 524, 227–232.

(291) Kreitmeir, M.; Bertagnolli, H.; Tödheide, K.; Soper, A. K. Investigations on the structure of fluid methane by neutron diffraction experiments. *Z. Phys. Chem.* **2007**, *221*, 801–813.

(292) Headen, T. F.; Howard, C. A.; Skipper, N. T.; Wilkinson, M. A.; Bowron, D. T.; Soper, A. K. Structure of  $\pi - \pi$  interactions in aromatic liquids. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132, 5735-5742.

(293) Narten, A. H.; Danford, M. D.; Levy, H. A. Structure and intermolecular potential of liquid carbon tetrachloride derived from X-ray diffraction data. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1967**, *46*, 4875–4880.

(294) Kratochwill, A. <sup>13</sup>C-<sup>1</sup>H intermolecular relaxation rate and molecular pair distribution function in liquid acetonitrile. *Ber. Bunsenges. Phys. Chem.* **1978**, *82*, 783–789.

(295) Narten, A. H.; Habenschuss, A. Hydrogen bonding in liquid methanol and ethanol determined by x-ray diffraction. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1984**, *80*, 3387–3391.

(296) McLain, S. E.; Soper, A. K.; Luzar, A. Orientational correlations in liquid acetone and dimethyl sulfoxide: a comparative study. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *124*, 074502.

(297) Drozdowski, H.; Romaniuk, A.; Błaszczak, Z. Structure and intermolecular interactions in selected binary solutions studied by X-ray methods. *Radiat. Phys. Chem.* **2013**, *93*, 47–53.

(298) Temleitner, L. Structure determination of liquid carbon tetrabromide via a combination of x-ray and neutron diffraction data and Reverse Monte Carlo modelling. *J. Mol. Liq.* **2014**, *197*, 204–210.

(299) Hardacre, C.; Holbrey, J. D.; McMath, S. E. J.; Bowron, D. T.; Soper, A. K. Structure of molten 1,3-dimethylimidazolium chloride using neutron diffraction. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2003**, *118*, 273–278.

(300) Deetlefs, M.; Hardacre, C.; Nieuwenhuyzen, M.; Sheppard, O.; Soper, A. K. Structure of ionic liquid-benzene mixtures. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2005, *109*, 1593–1598.

(301) Hayes, R.; Imberti, S.; Warr, G. G.; Atkin, R. How water dissolves in protic ionic liquids. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 7468–7471.

(302) Yang, K.; Cai, Z.; Tyagi, M.; Feygenson, M.; Neuefeind, J. C.; Moore, J. S.; Zhang, Y. Odd–even structural sensitivity on dynamics in network-forming ionic liquids. *Chem. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 3227–3233.

(303) Turner, A. H.; Imberti, S.; Swadźba-Kwaśny, M.; Holbrey, J. D. Applying neutron diffraction with isotopic substitution to the structure and proton-transport pathways in protic imidazolium bis{(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl)}imide ionic liquids. *Faraday Discuss.* **2018**, 206, 247–263.

(304) Spieser, S. A. H.; Leeflang, B. R.; Kroon-Batenburg, L. M. J.; Kroon, J. A force field for phosphoric acid:comparison of simulated with experimental data in the solid and liquid state. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2000**, *104*, 7333–7338.

(305) McLain, S. E.; Benmore, C. J.; Siewenie, J. E.; Urquidi, J.; Turner, J. F. C. On the structure of liquid hydrogen fluoride. *Angew. Chem.* **2004**, *116*, 1986–1989.

(306) Biradha, K.; Ramanan, A.; Vittal, J. J. Coordination polymers versus metal–organic frameworks. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2009**, *9*, 2969–2970.

(307) Batten, S. R.; Champness, N. R.; Chen, X.-M.; Garcia-Martinez, J.; Kitagawa, S.; Öhrström, L.; O'Keeffe, M.; Suh, M. P.; Reedijk, J. Coordination polymers, metal–organic frameworks and the need for terminology guidelines. *CrystEngComm* **2012**, *14*, 3001– 3004.

(308) Batten, S. R.; Champness, N. R.; Chen, X.-M.; Garcia-Martinez, J.; Kitagawa, S.; Öhrström, L.; O'Keeffe, M.; Suh, M. P.; Reedijk, J. Terminology of metal–organic frameworks and coordination polymers (IUPAC Recommendations 2013). *Pure Appl. Chem.* **2013**, 85, 1715–1724.

(309) Kitagawa, S.; Kitaura, R.; ichiro Noro, S. Functional porous coordination polymers. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2004**, *43*, 2334–2375. (310) Kitagawa, S.; Matsuda, R. Chemistry of coordination space of porous coordination polymers. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *251*, 2490–2509.

(311) Batten, S. R.; Robson, R. Interpenetrating nets: ordered, periodic entanglement. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1998**, *37*, 1460–1494. (312) Yaghi, O. M.; O'Keeffe, M.; Ockwig, N. W.; Chae, H. K.; Eddaoudi, M.; Kim, J. Reticular synthesis and the design of new materials. *Nature* **2003**, *423*, 705–714.

(313) Tranchemontagne, D. J.; Mendoza-Cortes, J. L.; O'Keeffe, M.; Yaghi, O. M. Secondary building units, nets and bonding in the chemistry of metal–organic frameworks. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 1257–1283.

(314) Editor. Frameworks for commercial success. *Nat. Chem.* 2016, *8*, 987.

(315) Scott, A. Round two for MOF commercialization. C&EN 2017, 95, 18–19.

(316) Castillo-Blas, C.; Moreno, J. M.; Romero-Muniz, I.; Platero-Prats, A. E. Applications of pair distribution function analyses to the emerging field of non-ideal metal–organic framework materials. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12*, 15577–15587.

(317) Collings, I. E.; Tucker, M. G.; Keen, D. A.; Goodwin, A. L. Static disorder and local structure in zinc(II) isonicotinate, a quartzlike metal–organic framework. *Z. Kristallogr.* **2012**, 227, 313–320.

(318) Wolf, A. K.; Brühne, S.; Glinnemann, J.; Hu, C.; Kirchner, M. T.; Schmidt, M. U. Local atomic order in sodium *p*-chlorobenzenesulfonate monohydrate studied by pair distribution function analyses and lattice-energy minimisations. *Z. Kristallogr.* **2012**, 227, 113–121.

(319) Bueken, B.; Vermoortele, F.; Cliffe, M. J.; Wharmby, M. T.; Foucher, D.; Wieme, J.; Vanduyfhuys, L.; Martineau, C.; Stock, N.; Taulelle, F.; et al. A breathing zirconium metal–organic framework with reversible loss of crystallinity by correlated nanodomain formation. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 3264–3267.

(320) Allan, P. K.; Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Hriljac, J. A.; Renouf, C. L.; Lucas, T. C. A.; Morris, R. E. Pair distribution functionderived mechanism of a single-crystal to disordered to single-crystal transformation in a hemilabile metal–organic framework. *Chem. Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 2559–2564.

(321) Tominaka, S.; Coudert, F.-X.; Dao, T. D.; Nagao, T.; Cheetham, A. K. Insulator-to-proton-conductor transition in a dense metal-organic framework. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 6428–6431. (322) Cliffe, M. J.; Wan, W.; Zou, X.; Chater, P. A.; Kleppe, A. K.; Tucker, M. G.; Wilhelm, H.; Funnell, N. P.; Coudert, F.-X.; Goodwin, A. L. Correlated defect nanoregions in a metal-organic framework. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, No. ncomms5176, DOI: 10.1038/ ncomms5176.

(323) Cliffe, M. J.; Hill, J. A.; Murray, C. A.; Coudert, F.-X.; Goodwin, A. L. Defect-dependent colossal negative thermal expansion in UiO-66(Hf) metal–organic framework. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 11586.

(324) Koschnick, C.; Stäglich, R.; Scholz, T.; Terban, M. W.; von Mankowski, A.; Savasci, G.; Binder, F.; Schökel, A.; Etter, M.; Nuss, J.; et al. Understanding disorder and linker deficiency in porphyrinic zirconium-based metal–organic frameworks by resolving the  $Zr_8O_6$ cluster conundrum in PCN-221. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 3099.

(325) Platero-Prats, A. E.; Mavrandonakis, A.; Gallington, L. C.; Liu, Y.; Hupp, J. T.; Farha, O. K.; Cramer, C. J.; Chapman, K. W. Structural transitions of the metal—oxide nodes within metal—organic frameworks: on the local structures of NU-1000 and UiO-66. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 4178–4185.

(326) Platero-Prats, A. E.; League, A. B.; Bernales, V.; Ye, J.; Gallington, L. C.; Vjunov, A.; Schweitzer, N. M.; Li, Z.; Zheng, J.; Mehdi, B. L.; et al. Bridging zirconia nodes within a metal-organic framework via catalytic Ni-hydroxo clusters to form heterobimetallic nanowires. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 10410–10418.

(327) Bennett, T. D.; Horike, S. Liquid, glass and amorphous solid states of coordination polymers and metal–organic frameworks. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2018**, *3*, 431–440.

(328) Bennett, T. D.; Goodwin, A. L.; Dove, M. T.; Keen, D. A.; Tucker, M. G.; Barney, E. R.; Soper, A. K.; Bithell, E. G.; Tan, J. C.; Cheetham, A. K. Structure and properties of an amorphous metalorganic framework. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2010**, *104*, 115503. (329) Jolley, C. C.; Lucon, J.; Uchida, M.; Reichhardt, C.; Vaughn, M. J.; Lafrance, B. J.; Douglas, T. Structure, dynamics, and solvation in a disordered metal-organic coordination polymer: a multiscale study. *J. Coord. Chem.* **2011**, *64*, 4301–4317.

(330) Bennett, T. D.; Cao, S.; Tan, J. C.; Keen, D. A.; Bithell, E. G.; Beldon, P. J.; Friscic, T.; Cheetham, A. K. Facile mechanosynthesis of amorphous zeolitic imidazolate frameworks. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, 133, 14546–14549.

(331) Bennett, T. D.; Keen, D. A.; Tan, J.-C.; Barney, E. R.; Goodwin, A. L.; Cheetham, A. K. Thermal amorphization of zeolitic imidazolate frameworks. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 3067–3071. (332) Bennett, T. D.; Saines, P. J.; Keen, D. A.; Tan, J.-C.; Cheetham, A. K. Ball-milling-induced amorphization of zeolitic imidazolate frameworks (ZIFs) for the irreversible trapping of iodine. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2013**, *19*, 7049–7055.

(333) Bennett, T. D.; Cheetham, A. K. Amorphous metal-organic frameworks. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2014**, 47, 1555–1562.

(334) Gaillac, R.; Pullumbi, P.; Beyer, K. A.; Chapman, K. W.; Keen, D. A.; Bennett, T. D.; Coudert, F.-X. Liquid metal-organic frameworks. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 1149–1154.

(335) Keen, D. A.; Bennett, T. D. Structural investigations of amorphous metal-organic frameworks formed via different routes. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 7857–7861.

(336) Liu, M.; McGillicuddy, R. D.; Vuong, H.; Tao, S.; Slavney, A. H.; Gonzalez, M. I.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Mason, J. A. Network-forming liquids from metal-bis(acetamide) frameworks with low melting temperatures. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2021**, 143, 2801.

(337) Longley, L.; Collins, S. M.; Zhou, C.; Smales, G. J.; Norman, S. E.; Brownbill, N. J.; Ashling, C. W.; Chater, P. A.; Tovey, R.; Schönlieb, C.-B.; et al. Liquid phase blending of metal-organic frameworks. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1–10.

(338) Hou, J.; Ashling, C. W.; Collins, S. M.; Krajnc, A.; Zhou, C.; Longley, L.; Johnstone, D. N.; Chater, P. A.; Li, S.; Coulet, M.-V.; et al. Metal-organic framework crystal-glass composites. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 2580.

(339) Tuffnell, J. M.; Ashling, C. W.; Hou, J.; Li, S.; Longley, L.; Rios Gomez, M. L.; Bennett, T. D. Novel metal–organic framework materials: blends, liquids, glasses and crystal–glass composites. *Chem. Commun.* 2019, 55, 8705–8715.

(340) Ohtsu, H.; Bennett, T. D.; Kojima, T.; Keen, D. A.; Niwa, Y.; Kawano, M. Amorphous–amorphous transition in a porous coordination polymer. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53*, 7060–7063.

(341) Nguyen, A. I.; Allsburg, K. M. V.; Terban, M. W.; Bajdich, M.; Oktawiec, J.; Ziegler, M. S.; Dombrowski, J. P.; Lakshmi, K. V.; Drisdell, W. S.; Yano, J.; et al. Sabilization of reactive  $Co_4O_4$  cubane oxygen-evolution catalysts within porous frameworks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2019**, *116*, 11630–11639.

(342) Terban, M. W.; Banerjee, D.; Ghose, S.; Medasani, B.; Shukla, A.; Legg, B. A.; Zhou, Y.; Zhu, Z.; Sushko, M. L.; Yoreo, J. J. D.; et al. Early stage structural development of prototypical zeolitic imidazolate framework (ZIF) in solution. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 4291–4300.

(343) Xu, H.; Sommer, S.; Broge, N. L. N.; Gao, J.; Iversen, B. B. The chemistry of nucleation: in situ pair distribution function analysis of secondary building units during UiO-66 MOF formation. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2019**, *25*, 2051–2058.

(344) Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Kepert, C. J. Selective recovery of dynamic guest structure, in a nanoporous Prussian Blue through in situ X-ray diffraction: A differential pair distribution function analysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 11232–11233.

(345) Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Maxey, E. R.; Richardson, J. W. Direct observation of adsorbed H<sub>2</sub>-framework interactions in the Prussian Blue analogue Mn-3(II)[Co-III(CN)<sub>6</sub>]<sub>2</sub>: The relative importance of accessible coordination sites and van der Waals interactions. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, 4013–4015.

(346) Mulfort, K.; Farha, O.; Malliakas, C.; Kanatzidis, M.; Hupp, J. An interpenetrated framework material with hysteretic CO2 uptake. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 276–281.

(347) Kanoya, I.; Furuta, T.; Sakamoto, R.; Hosoe, M.; Ichikawa, M.; Itoh, K.; Fukunaga, T. Anomalous aggregation state of deuterium

Review

molecules in the nanoscale pores of a metal organic framework. J. Appl. Phys. 2010, 108, 074310.

(348) Chapman, K. W.; Sava, D. F.; Halder, G. J.; Chupas, P. J.; Nenoff, T. M. Trapping guests within a nanoporous metal—organic framework through pressure-induced amorphization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 18583–18585.

(349) Sava, D. F.; Rodriguez, M. A.; Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Greathouse, J. A.; Crozier, P. S.; Nenoff, T. M. Capture of volatile iodine, a gaseous fission product, by zeolitic imidazolate framework-8. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 12398–12401.

(350) Allan, P. K.; Wheatley, P. S.; Aldous, D.; Infas Mohideen, M.; Tang, C.; Hriljac, J. A.; Megson, I. L.; Chapman, K. W.; De Weireld, G.; Vaesen, S.; et al. Metal–organic frameworks for the storage and delivery of biologically active hydrogen sulfide. *Dalton Transactions* **2012**, *41*, 4060–4066.

(351) Sava, D. F.; Chapman, K. W.; Rodriguez, M. A.; Greathouse, J. A.; Crozier, P. S.; Zhao, H.; Chupas, P. J.; Nenoff, T. M. Competitive I-2 Sorption by Cu-BTC from Humid Gas Streams. *Chem. Mater.* **2013**, *25*, 2591–2596.

(352) Howarth, A. J.; Katz, M. J.; Wang, T. C.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Chapman, K. W.; Hupp, J. T.; Farha, O. K. High efficiency adsorption and removal of selenate and selenite from water using metal–organic frameworks. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 7488–7494.

(353) Sava Gallis, D. F.; Chapman, K. W.; Rodriguez, M. A.; Greathouse, J. A.; Parkes, M. V.; Nenoff, T. M. Selective O2 sorption at ambient temperatures via node distortions in Sc-MIL-100. *Chem. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 3327–3336.

(354) Kim, I. S.; Borycz, J.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Tussupbayev, S.; Wang, T. C.; Farha, O. K.; Hupp, J. T.; Gagliardi, L.; Chapman, K. W.; Cramer, C. J.; et al. Targeted single-site MOF node modification: trivalent metal loading via atomic layer deposition. *Chem. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 4772–4778.

(355) Rimoldi, M.; Bernales, V.; Borycz, J.; Vjunov, A.; Gallington, L. C.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Kim, I. S.; Fulton, J. L.; Martinson, A. B. F.; Lercher, J. A.; et al. Atomic layer deposition in a metal–organic framework: synthesis, characterization, and performance of a solid acid. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1058–1068.

(356) Platero-Prats, A. E.; Li, Z.; Gallington, L. C.; Peters, A. W.; Hupp, J. T.; Farha, O. K.; Chapman, K. W. Addressing the characterisation challenge to understand catalysis in MOFs: the case of nanoscale Cu supported in NU-1000. *Faraday Discuss.* **2017**, *201*, 337–350.

(357) González Miera, G.; Bermejo Gómez, A.; Chupas, P. J.; Martín-Matute, B.; Chapman, K. W.; Platero-Prats, A. E. Topological transformation of a metal–organic framework triggered by ligand exchange. *Inorg. Chem.* **2017**, *56*, 4576–4583.

(358) Malonzo, C. D.; Shaker, S. M.; Ren, L.; Prinslow, S. D.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Gallington, L. C.; Borycz, J.; Thompson, A. B.; Wang, T. C.; Farha, O. K.; et al. Thermal stabilization of metal–organic framework-derived single-site catalytic clusters through nanocasting. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 2739–2748.

(359) Pascanu, V.; Yao, Q.; Gómez, A. B.; Gustafsson, M.; Yun, Y.; Wan, W.; Samain, L.; Zou, X.; Martín-Matute, B. Sustainable catalysis: rational Pd loading on MIL-101Cr-NH2 for more efficient and recyclable Suzuki–Miyaura reactions. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2013**, *19*, 17483–17493.

(360) Mian, M. R.; Redfern, L. R.; Pratik, S. M.; Ray, D.; Liu, J.; Idrees, K. B.; Islamoglu, T.; Gagliardi, L.; Farha, O. K. Precise control of Cu nanoparticle size and catalytic activity through pore templating in Zr metal–organic frameworks. *Chem. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 3078–3086. (361) Butson, J. D.; Kim, H.; Murugappan, K.; Saunders, M.; Buckley, C. E.; Silvester, D. S.; Szilágyi, P. Ã. Interrogation of the effect of polymorphism of a metal–organic framework host on the structure of embedded Pd guest nanoparticles. *ChemPhysChem* **2019**, *20*, 745–751.

(362) Tayal, A.; Chen, Y.; Song, C.; Hiroi, S.; Kumara, L. S. R.; Palina, N.; Seo, O.; Mukoyoshi, M.; Kobayashi, H.; Kitagawa, H.; et al. Local geometry and electronic properties of nickel nanoparticles prepared via thermal decomposition of Ni-MOF-74. Inorg. Chem. 2018, 57, 10072-10080.

(363) Liu, J.; Redfern, L. R.; Liao, Y.; Islamoglu, T.; Atilgan, A.; Farha, O. K.; Hupp, J. T. Metal–organic-framework-supported and -isolated ceria clusters with mixed oxidation states. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 47822–47829.

(364) Benseghir, Y.; Lemarchand, A.; Duguet, M.; Mialane, P.; Gomez-Mingot, M.; Roch-Marchal, C.; Pino, T.; Ha-Thi, M.-H.; Haouas, M.; Fontecave, M. Co-immobilization of a Rh catalyst and a Keggin polyoxometalate in the UiO-67 Zr-based metal—organic framework: in depth structural characterization and photocatalytic properties for CO2 reduction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2020**, *142*, 9428.

(365) Duguet, M.; Lemarchand, A.; Benseghir, Y.; Mialane, P.; Gomez-Mingot, M.; Roch-Marchal, C.; Haouas, M.; Fontecave, M.; Mellot-Draznieks, C.; Sassoye, C.; et al. Structure-directing role of immobilized polyoxometalates in the synthesis of porphyrinic Zrbased metal–organic frameworks. *Chem. Commun.* **2020**, *56*, 10143– 10146.

(366) Sava Gallis, D. F.; Pratt III, H. D.; Anderson, T. M.; Chapman, K. W. Electrochemical activity of Fe-MIL-100 as a positive electrode for Na-ion batteries. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2016**, *4*, 13764–13770.

(367) Prinz, N.; Schwensow, L.; Wendholt, S.; Jentys, A.; Bauer, M.; Kleist, W.; Zobel, M. Hard X-ray-based techniques for structural investigations of CO 2 methanation catalysts prepared by MOF decomposition. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12*, 15800–15813.

(368) Day, G. S.; Li, J.; Joseph, E. A.; Metz, P. C.; Perry, Z.; Ryder, M. R.; Page, K.; Zhou, H.-C. Metal oxide decorated porous carbons from controlled calcination of a metal-organic framework. *Nanoscale Adv.* **2020**, *2*, 2758–2767.

(369) Terban, M. W.; Ghose, S. K.; Plonka, A. M.; Troya, D.; Juhás, P.; Dinnebier, R. E.; Mahle, J. J.; Gordon, W. O.; Frenkel, A. I. Atomic resolution tracking of nerve-agent simulant decomposition and host metal–organic framework response in real space. *Commun. Chem.* **2021** (accepted). DOI: 10.1038/s42004-020-00439-1

(370) Gagnon, K. J.; Perry, H. P.; Clearfield, A. Conventional and unconventional metal-organic frameworks based on phosphonate ligands: MOFs and UMOFs. *Chem. Rev.* **2012**, *112*, 1034–1054.

(371) Terban, M. W.; Shi, C.; Silbernagel, R.; Clearfield, A.; Billinge, S. J. L. Local environment of terbium(III) ions in layered nanocrystalline zirconium(IV) phosphonate-phosphate ion exchange materials. *Inorg. Chem.* **2017**, *56*, 8837–8846.

(372) Burns, J. D.; Clearfield, A.; Borkowski, M.; Reed, D. T. Pillared metal(IV) phosphate-phosphonate extraction of actinides. *Radiochim. Acta* **2012**, *100*, 381–387.

(373) Geng, K.; He, T.; Liu, R.; Dalapati, S.; Tan, K. T.; Li, Z.; Tao, S.; Gong, Y.; Jiang, Q.; Jiang, D. Covalent organic frameworks: design, synthesis, and functions. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 8814–8933.

(374) Spitler, E. L.; Koo, B. T.; Novotney, J. L.; Colson, J. W.; Uribe-Romo, F. J.; Gutierrez, G. D.; Clancy, P.; Dichtel, W. R. A 2D covalent organic framework with 4.7-nm pores and insight into its interlayer stacking. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133, 19416.

(375) Lukose, B.; Kuc, A.; Heine, T. The structure of layered covalent-organic frameworks. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 2388–2392.

(376) Pütz, A. M.; Terban, M. W.; Bette, S.; Haase, F.; Dinnebier, R. E.; Lotsch, B. V. Total scattering reveals the hidden stacking disorder in a 2D covalent organic framework. *Chem. Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 12647–12654.

(377) Schlomberg, H.; Kröger, J.; Savasci, G.; Terban, M. W.; Bette, S.; Moudrakovski, I.; Duppel, V.; Podjaski, F.; Siegel, R.; Senker, J.; et al. Structural insights into poly(heptazine imides): a light-storing carbon nitride material for dark photocatalysis. *Chem. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 7478–7486.

(378) Roeser, J.; Prill, D.; Bojdys, M. J.; Fayon, P.; Trewin, A.; Fitch, A. N.; Schmidt, M. U.; Thomas, A. Anionic silicate organic frameworks constructed from hexacoordinate silicon centres. *Nat. Chem.* **2017**, *9*, 977–982.

(379) Grunenberg, L.; Savasci, G.; Terban, M. W.; Duppel, V.; Moudrakovski, I.; Etter, M.; Dinnebier, R. E.; Ochsenfeld, C.; Lotsch, B. V. Amine-linked covalent organic frameworks as a powerful platform for post-synthetic modification: structure interconversion and combined linkage- and pore-wall-modification. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 3430–3438.

(380) Stewart, D.; Antypov, D.; Dyer, M. S.; Pitcher, M. J.; Katsoulidis, A. P.; Chater, P. A.; Blanc, F.; Rosseinsky, M. J. Stable and ordered amide frameworks synthesised under reversible conditions which facilitate error checking. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1102.

(381) Romero-Muñiz, I.; Mavrandonakis, A.; Albacete, P.; Vega, A.; Briois, V.; Zamora, F.; Platero-Prats, A. E. Unveiling the local structure of palladium loaded into imine-linked layered covalent organic frameworks for cross-coupling catalysis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 13013–13020.

(382) López-Magano, A.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Cabrera, S.; Mas-Ballesté, R.; Alemán, J. Incorporation of photocatalytic Pt(II) complexes into imine-based layered covalent organic frameworks (COFs) through monomer truncation strategy. *Appl. Catal., B* **2020**, 272, 119027.

(383) Anasori, B.; Lukatskaya, M. R.; Gogotsi, Y. 2D metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) for energy storage. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 2017, 2, 16098.

(384) Ghidiu, M.; Naguib, M.; Shi, C.; Mashtalir, O.; Pan, L.; Zhang, B.; Yang, J.; Gogotsi, Y.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Barsoum, M. W. Synthesis and charaterization of two-dimensional  $Nb_4C_3$  (MXene). *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 9517–9520.

(385) Shi, C.; Beidaghi, M.; Naguib, M.; Mashtalir, O.; Gogotsi, Y.; Billinge, S. J. L. Structure of nanocrystalline  $Ti_3C_2$  MXene using atomic pair distribution function. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2014**, *112*, 125501. (386) Anasori, B.; Shi, C.; Moon, E. J.; Xie, Y.; Voigt, C. A.; Kent, P. R. C.; May, S. J.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Control of electronic properties of 2D carbides (MXenes) by manipulating their transition metal layers. *Nanoscale Horiz* **2016**, *1*, 227–234.

(387) Wang, H.-W.; Naguib, M.; Page, K.; Wesolowski, D. J.; Gogotsi, Y. Resolving the structure of  $Ti_3C_2T_x$  MXenes through multilevel structural modeling of the atomic pair distribution function. *Chem. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 349–359.

(388) Urbankowski, P.; Anasori, B.; Hantanasirisakul, K.; Yang, L.; Zhang, L.; Haines, B.; May, S. J.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Gogotsi, Y. 2D molybdenum and vanadium nitrides synthesized by ammoniation of 2D transition metal carbides (MXenes). *Nanoscale* **2017**, *9*, 17722– 17730.

(389) Boota, M.; Chen, C.; Yang, L.; Kolesnikov, A. I.; Osti, N. C.; Porzio, W.; Barba, L.; Jiang, J. Probing molecular interactions at MXene-organic heterointerfaces. *Chem. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 7884– 7894.

(390) Petkov, V.; Trikalitis, P. N.; Božin, E. S.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Vogt, T.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Structure of  $V_2O_5$ .nH<sub>2</sub>O xerogel solved by the atomic pair distribution function technique. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 10157.

(391) Trikalitis, P. N.; Petkov, V.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Structure of redox intercalated  $(NH_4)_{0.5}V_2O_5 \cdot mH_2O$  xerogel using the pair distribution function technique. *Chem. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, 3337–3342.

(392) Petkov, V.; Parvanov, V.; Trikalitis, P.; Malliakas, C.; Vogt, T.; Kanatzidis, M. Three-dimensional structure of nanocomposites from atomic pair distribution function analysis: study of polyaniline and (polyaniline),  $V_2O_5 \cdot nH_2O$ . J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127, 8805.

(393) Warren, B. E.; Burwell, J. T. The structure of rhombic sulphur. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1935**, *3*, 6–8.

(394) Tompson, C. W.; Gingrich, N. S. Atomic distributions in liquid, plastic, and crystalline sulfur. J. Chem. Phys. **1959**, 31, 1598–1604.

(395) Winter, R.; Egalstaff, P. A.; Pilgrim, W.-C.; Howells, W. S. The structural properties of liquid, solid, and amorphous sulphur. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **1990**, *2*, SA215–SA218.

(396) Gingrich, N. S. The diffraction of x-rays by liquid and plastic sulphur. J. Chem. Phys. **1940**, *8*, 29–32.

(397) Winter, R.; Bodensteiner, T.; Szornel, C.; Egalstaff, P. A. The structural properties of liquid and quenched sulfur. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* **1988**, *106*, 100–103.

(398) Poltavstev, Y. G. Structure of semiconductors in noncrystalline states. *Sov. Phys.-Usp.* **1976**, *19*, 969–986.

(399) Stillinger, F. H.; Weber, T. A. Molecular dynamics study of chemical reactivity in liquid sulfur. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1987**, *91*, 4899–4907.

(400) Vahvaselkä, K. S.; Mangs, J. M. X-ray diffraction study of liquid sulfur. *Phys. Scr.* **1988**, 38, 737–741.

(401) Winter, R; Szornel, C; Pilgrim, W -C; Howells, W S; Egelstaff, P A; Bodensteiner, T The structural properties of liquid sulphur. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **1990**, *2*, 8427–8437.

(402) Inui, M.; Azumi, Y.; Hosokawa, S.; Kajihara, Y.; Matsuda, K.; Tamura, K. X-ray diffraction measurements of expanded fluid sulfur up to the supercritical region. *J. Phys.: Conf. Ser.* **2008**, *98*, 012008.

(403) Zhang, L.; Ren, Y.; Liu, X.; Han, F.; Evans-Lutterodt, K.; Wang, H.; He, Y.; Wang, J.; Zhao, Y.; Yang, W. Chain breakage in the supercooled liquid-liquid transition and re-entry of the  $\gamma$ -transition in sulfur. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 4558.

(404) Ohmura, S.; Shimojo, F. Structural change in liquid sulphur from chain polymeric liquid to atomic simple liquid under high pressure. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2019, 31, 215101.

(405) Henry, L.; Mezouar, M.; Garbarino, G.; Sifré, D.; Weck, G.; Datchi, F. Liquid-liquid transition and critical point in sulfur. *Nature* **2020**, *584*, 382–386.

(406) Hultgren, R.; Gingrich, N. S.; Warren, B. E. The atomic distribution in red and black phosphorus and the crystal structure of black phosphorus. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1935**, *3*, 351–355.

(407) Krebs, H.; Gruber, H. U. The atomic distribution in glassy red phosphorus. Z. Naturforsch., A: Phys. Sci. **1967**, 22a, 96–102.

(408) Thurn, V. H.; Krebs, H. Über Struktur und Eigenschaften der Halbmetalle. XXII. Die Kristallstruktur der Hittorschen Phosphors. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Crystallogr. Cryst. Chem.* **1969**, 25, 125–135.

(409) Clarke, J. H.; Dore, J. C.; Granada, J. R.; Reed, J.; Walford, G. Neutron diffraction studies of liquid phosphorus I. Reactor and pulsed neutron measurements at 50  $^\circ$ C. *Mol. Phys.* **1981**, *42*, 861–874.

(410) Granada, J. R.; Dore, J. C. Neutron diffraction studies of phosphorus II. The super-cooled liquid and plastic crystal phases. *Mol. Phys.* **1982**, *46*, 757–768.

(411) Zaug, J. M.; Soper, A. K.; Clark, S. M. Pressure-dependent structures of amorphous red phosphorus and the origin of the first sharp diffraction peaks. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 890–899.

(412) Deringer, V. L.; Caro, M. A.; Csánya, G. A general-purpose machine-learning force field for bulk and nanostructured phosphorus. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 5461.

(413) Culver, S. P.; Koerver, R.; Krauskopf, T.; Zeier, W. G. Designing ionic conductors: the interplay between structural phenomena and interfaces in thiophosphate-based solid-state batteries. *Chem. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 4179–4192.

(414) Dietrich, C.; Sadowski, M.; Sicolo, S.; Weber, D. A.; Sedlmaier, S. J.; Weldert, K. S.; Indris, S.; Albe, K.; Janek, J.; Zeier, W. G. Local structural investigations, defect formation, and ionic conductivity of the lithium ionic conductor  $\text{Li}_4\text{P}_2\text{S}_6$ . *Chem. Mater.* **2016**, 28, 8764–8773.

(415) Kuhn, A.; Eger, R.; Nuss, J.; Lotsch, B. V. Synthesis and structural characterization of the alkali thiophosphates  $Na_2P_2S_{6}$ ,  $Na_4P_2S_6$ ,  $K_4P_2S_6$ , and  $Rb_4P_2S_6$ . Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **2014**, 640, 689–692.

(416) Schlenker, R.; Hansen, A.-L.; Senyshyn, A.; Zinkevich, T.; Knapp, M.; Hupfer, T.; Ehrenberg, H.; Indris, S. Structure and diffusion pathways in  $\text{Li}_6\text{PS}_5\text{Cl}$  argyrodite from neutron diffraction, pair-distribution function analysis, and NMR. *Chem. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 8420–8430.

(417) Krauskopf, T.; Culver, S. P.; Zeier, W. G. Local tetragonal structure of the cubic superionic conductor  $Na_3PS_4$ . *Inorg. Chem.* 2018, 57, 4739–4744.

(418) Shiotani, S.; Ohara, K.; Tsukasaki, H.; Mori, S.; Kanno, R. Pair distribution function analysis of sulfide glassy electrolytes for all-solid-state batteries: understanding the improvement of ionic conductivity under annealing condition. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 6972.

(419) Stöffler, H.; Zinkevich, T.; Yavuz, M.; Hansen, A.-L.; Knapp, M.; Bednarĉik, J.; Randau, S.; Richter, F. H.; Janek, J.; Ehrenberg, H.; et al. Amorphous versus crystalline Li<sub>3</sub>PS<sub>4</sub>: local structural changes during synthesis and Li ion mobility. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2019, *123*, 10280–10290.

(420) Fritsch, C.; Hansen, A.-L.; Indris, S.; Knapp, M.; Ehrenberg, H. Mechanochemical synthesis of amorphous and crystalline  $Na_2P_2S_6$  – elucidation of local structural changes by x-ray total scattering and NMR. *Dalton T* **2020**, *49*, 1668–1673.

(421) Dietrich, C.; Weber, D. A.; Sedlmaier, S. J.; Indris, S.; Culver, S. P.; Walter, D.; Janek, J.; Zeier, W. G. Lithium ion conductivity in  $Li_2S-P_2S_5$  glasses – building units and local structure evolution during the crystallization of superionic conductors  $Li_3PS_4$ ,  $Li_7P_3S_11$ ,  $Li_4P_2S_7$ . J. Mater. Chem. A **2017**, 5, 18111–18119.

(422) Banerjee, S.; Malliakas, C. D.; Kanatzidis, M. G. New layered Tin(II) thiophosphates  $ASnPS_4$  (A = K, Rb, Cs): synthesis, structure, glass formation, and the modulated  $CsSnPS_4$ . *Inorg. Chem.* **2012**, *51*, 11562–11573.

(423) Self, E. C.; Chien, P.-H.; O'Donnell, L. F.; Morales, D.; Liu, J.; Brahmbhatt, T.; Greenbaum, S.; Nanda, J. Investigation of glassceramic lithium thiophosphate solid electrolytesusing NMR and neutron scattering. *Mater. Today Phys.* **2021**, *21*, 100478.

(424) Transue, W. J.; Nava, M.; Terban, M. W.; Yang, J.; Greenberg, M. W.; Wu, G.; Foreman, E. S.; Mustoe, C. L.; Kennepohl, P.; Owen, J. S.; et al. Anthracene as a launchpad for a phosphinidene sulfide and for generation of a phosphorus–sulfur material having the composition  $P_2S$ , a vulcanized red phosphorus that is yellow. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 431–440.

(425) Berry, J.; Buonassisi, T.; Egger, D. A.; Hodes, G.; Kronik, L.; Loo, Y.-L.; Lubomirsky, I.; Marder, S. R.; Mastai, Y.; Miller, J. S.; et al. Hybrid organic–inorganic perovskites (HOIPs): opportunities and challenges. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 5102–5112.

(426) Egger, D. A.; Rappe, A. M.; Kronik, L. Hybrid organicinorganic perovskites on the move. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2016, 49, 573– 581.

(427) Worhatch, R. J.; Kim, H. J.; Swainson, I. P.; Yonkeu, A. L.; Billinge, S. J. L. Study of local structure in selected cubic organic-inorganic perovskites. *Chem. Mater.* **2008**, *20*, 1272–1277.

(428) Choi, J. J.; Yang, X.; Norman, Z. M.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Owen, J. S. Structure of methylammonium lead iodide on mesoporous titanium dioxide: active material in high performance metal-organic solar cells. *Nano Lett.* **2014**, *14*, 127–133.

(429) Beecher, A. N.; Semonin, O. E.; Skelton, J. M.; Frost, J. M.; Terban, M. W.; Zhai, H.; Alatas, A.; Owen, J. S.; Walsh, A.; Billinge, S. J. L. Direct observation of dynamic symmetry breaking above room temperature in methylammonium lead iodide perovskite. *ACS Energy Lett.* **2016**, *1*, 880–887.

(430) Laurita, G.; Fabini, D. H.; Stoumpos, C. C.; Kanatzidis, M. G.; Seshadri, R. Chemical tuning of dynamic cation off-centering in the cubic phases of hybrid tin and lead halide perovskites. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 5628–5635.

(431) Sanchez, S.; Steiner, U.; Hua, X. Phase evolution during perovskite formation—insight from pair distribution function analysis. *Chem. Mater.* **2019**, *31*, 3498–3506.

(432) Whitfield, P. S.; Herron, N.; Guise, W. E.; Page, K.; Cheng, Y. Q.; Milas, I.; Crawford, M. K. Structures, phase transitions and tricritical behavior of the hybrid perovskite methyl ammonium lead iodide. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 35685.

(433) Page, K.; Siewenie, J. E.; Quadrelli, P.; Malavasi, L. Shortrange order of methylammonium and persistance of distortion at the local scale in MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> hybrid perovskite. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 14320–14324.

(434) Fabini, D. H.; Siaw, T. A.; Stoumpos, C. C.; Laurita, G.; Olds, D.; Page, K.; Hu, J. G.; Kanatzidis, M. C.; Han, S.; Seshadri, R.

Universal dynamics of molecular reorientation in hybrid lead iodide perovskites. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 16875–16884.

(435) Elliott, S. R. Medium-range structural order in covalent amorphous solids. *Nature* **1991**, *354*, 445–452.

(436) Peterson, P. F.; Božin, E. S.; Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. Improved measures of quality for atomic pair distribution functions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2003**, *36*, 53.

(437) Chupas, P. J.; Qiu, X.; Hanson, J. C.; Lee, P. L.; Grey, C. P.; Billinge, S. J. L. Rapid acquisition pair distribution function analysis (RA-PDF). *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2003**, *36*, 1342–1347.

(438) Qiu, X.; Božin, E. S.; Juhás, P.; Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. Reciprocal space instrumental effects on the real space neutron atomic pair distribution function. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2004**, *37*, 110–116.

(439) Olds, D.; Saunders, C. N.; Peters, M.; Proffen, T.; Neuefeind, J.; Page, K. Precise implications for real-space pair distribution function modeling of effects intrinsic to modern time-of-flight neutron diffractometers. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2018**, *A74*, 293–307.

(440) Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. PDFFIT, a program for full profile structural refinement of the atomic pair distribution function. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **1999**, *32*, 572–575.

(441) Egami, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. Underneath the Bragg peaks: structural analysis of complex materials; Pergamon Press, Elsevier: Oxford, England, 2003.

(442) Kodama, K.; Iikubo, S.; Taguchi, T.; Shamoto, S. Finite size effects of nanoparticles on the atomic pair distribution functions. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **2006**, *62*, 444–453.

(443) Guinier, A.; Fournet, G.; Walker, C.; Yudowitch, K. Smallangle scattering of x-rays; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, 1955. (444) Howell, R. C.; Proffen, T.; Conradson, S. D. Pair distribution function and structure factor of spherical particles. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2006**, 73, 094107.

(445) Gilbert, B. Finite size effects on the real-space pair distribution function of nanoparticles. J. Appl. Crystallogr. **2008**, *41*, 554.

(446) Lei, M.; de Graff, A. M. R.; Thorpe, M. F.; Wells, S. A.; Sartbaeva, A. Uncovering the intrinsic geometry from the atomic pair distribution function of nanomaterials. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2009**, *80*, 024118.

(447) Gamez-Mendoza, L.; Terban, M. W.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Martinez-Inesta, M. Modelling and validation of particle size distributions of supported nanoparticles using the pair distribution function technique. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2017**, *50*, 741–748.

(448) Usher, T.-M.; Olds, D.; Liu, J.; Page, K. A numerical method for deriving shape functions of nanoparticles for pair distribution function refinements. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2018**, *74*, 322–331.

(449) Farrow, C. L.; Bediako, D. K.; Surendranath, Y.; Nocera, D. G.; Billinge, S. J. L. Intermediate-range structure of self-assembled cobalt-based oxygen evolving catalysts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 6403–6406.

(450) Farrow, C. L.; Shi, C.; Juhás, P.; Peng, X.; Billinge, S. J. L. Robust structure and morphology parameters for CdS nanoparticles by combining small angle X-ray scattering and atomic pair distribution function data in a complex modeling framework. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2014**, *47*, 561–565.

(451) Gagin, A.; Allen, A. J.; Levin, I. Combined fitting of small- and wide-angle X-ray total scattering data from nanoparticles: benefits and issues. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2014**, *47*, 619–629.

(452) Korsunskiy, V. I.; Neder, R. B.; Hofmann, A.; Dembski, S.; Graf, C.; Rühl, E. Aspects of the modelling of the radial distribution function for small nanoparticles. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2007**, *40*, 975–985.

(453) Page, K.; Hood, T. C.; Proffen, T.; Neder, R. B. Building and refining complete nanoparticle structures with total scattering data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2011**, *44*, 327–336.

(454) Kardash, T. Y.; Plyasova, L. M.; Kochubey, D. I.; Bondareva, V. M.; Neder, R. B. Development of the local and average structure of a V-Mo-Nb oxide catalyst with  $Mo_5O_14$ -like structure during synthesis from nanostructured precursors. Z. Kristallogr. **2012**, 227, 288–298.

(455) Beecher, A. N.; Yang, X.; Palmer, J. H.; LaGrassa, A. L.; Juhás, P.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Owen, J. S. Atomic structures and gram scale synthesis of three tetrahedral quantum dots. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136*, 10645–10653.

(456) Jensen, K. M. Ø.; Juhás, P.; Tofanelli, M. A.; Heinecke, C. L.; Vaughan, G.; Ackerson, C. J.; Billinge, S. J. L. Polymorphism in magic sized Au<sub>144</sub>(SR)<sub>60</sub> clusters. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 11859.

(457) Stein, J. L.; Steimle, M. I.; Terban, M. W.; Petrone, A.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Li, X.; Cossairt, B. M. Cation exchange induced transformation of InP magic-sized clusters. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 7984–7992.

(458) Banerjee, S.; Liu, C.-H.; Lee, J. D.; Kovyakh, A.; Grasmik, V.; Prymak, O.; Koenigsmann, C.; Liu, H.; Wang, L.; Abeykoon, A. M. M.; et al. Improved models for metallic nanoparticle cores from atomic pair distribution function (PDF) analysis. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2018**, *122*, 29498–29506.

(459) Banerjee, S.; Liu, C.-H.; Jensen, K. M. Ø.; Juhas, P.; Lee, J. D.; Tofanelli, M.; Ackerson, C. J.; Murray, C. B.; Billinge, S. J. L. Clustermining: An approach for determining core structures of metallic nanoparticles from atomic pair distribution function data. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2020**, *76*, 24–31.

(460) Banerjee, S.; Zangiabadi, A.; Mahdavi-Shakib, A.; Husremovic, S.; Frederick, B. G.; Barmak, K.; Austin, R. N.; Billinge, S. J. L. Quantitative structural characterization of catalytically active TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.* **2019**, *2*, 6268–6276.

(461) Funnell, N. P.; Wang, Q.; Connor, L.; Tucker, M. G.; O'Hare, D.; Goodwin, A. L. Structural characterisation of a layered double hydroxide nanosheet. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 8032–8036.

(462) Brodsky, C. N.; Bediako, D. K.; Shi, C.; Keane, T.; Costentin, C.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Nocera, D. G. Proton-electron conductivity in thin films of a cobalt-oxygen evolving catalyst. *ACS Appl. Energy Mater.* **2019**, *2*, 3–12.

(463) Zhang, B.; Sánchez, R. H.; Zhong, Y.; Ball, M.; Terban, M. W.; Paley, D.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Ng, F.; Steigerwald, M. L.; Nuckolls, C. Hollow organic capsules assemble into cellular semiconductors. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1957.

(464) Mou, Q.; Benmore, C. J.; Yarger, J. L. X-ray Intermolecular Structure Factor (XISF): separation of intra- and intermolecular interactions from total X-ray scattering data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, 48, 950–952.

(465) Berardi, R.; Spinozzi, F.; Zannoni, C. A new maximum entropy conformational analysis of biphenyl in liquid crystal solution. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. Sci. Technol., Sect. A* **1996**, 290, 245–253.

(466) Zhang, P.; Klymachyov, A. N.; Brown, S.; Ellington, J. G.; Grandinetti, P. J. Solid-state <sup>13</sup>C NMR investigation of the glycosidic linkage in  $\alpha$ - $\alpha'$  trehalose. *Solid State Nucl. Magn. Reson.* **1998**, *118* (12), 221–225.

(467) Macrae, C. F.; Edgington, P. R.; McCabe, P.; Pidcock, E.; Shields, G. P.; Taylor, R.; Towler, M.; van De Streek, J. Mercury: visualization and analysis of crystal structures. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2006**, *39*, 453–457.

(468) Arinez-Soriano, J.; Albalad, J.; Carne-Sanchez, A.; Bonnet, C. S.; Busque, F.; Lorenzo, J.; Juanhuix, J.; Terban, M. W.; Imaz, I.; Toth, E.; et al. pH-responsive relaxometric behaviour of coordination polymer nanoparticles made of a gadolinium macrocyclic chelate. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 13162—-13170.

(469) Wakihara, T.; Kohara, S.; Sankar, G.; Saito, S.; Sanchez-Sanchez, M.; Overweg, A. R.; Fan, W.; Ogura, M.; Okubo, T. A new approach to the determination of atomic-architecture of amorphous zeolite precursors by high-energy X-ray diffraction technique. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *8*, 224–227.

(470) Mohideen, M. I.; Allan, P. K.; Chapman, K. W.; Hriljac, J. A.; Morris, R. E. Ultrasound-driven preparation and pair distribution function-assisted structure solution of a copper-based layered coordination polymer. *Dalton T* **2014**, *43*, 10438–10442.

(471) Cliffe, M. J.; Castillo-Martínez, E.; Wu, Y.; Lee, J.; Forse, A. C.; Firth, F. C. N.; Moghadam, P. Z.; Fairen-Jimenez, D.; Gaultois, M. W.; Hill, J. A.; et al. Metal-organic nanosheets formed via defect-

mediated transformation of a hafnium metal-organic framework. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 5397–5404.

(472) Trueblood, K. N.; Bürgi, H.-B.; Burzlaff, H.; Dunitz, J. D.; Gramaccioli, C. M.; Schulz, H. H.; Shmueli, U.; Abrahams, S. C. Atomic displacement parameter nomenclature report of a subcommittee on atomic displacement parameter nomenclature. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **1996**, *52*, 770–781.

(473) Jeong, I.; Proffen, T.; Mohiuddin-Jacobs, F.; Billinge, S. J. L. Measuring correlated atomic motion using X-ray diffraction. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **1999**, *103*, 921–924.

(474) Jeong, I. K.; Heffner, R. H.; Graf, M. J.; Billinge, S. J. L. Lattice dynamics and correlated atomic motion from the atomic pair distribution function. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2003**, *67*, 104301.

(475) Farrow, C. L.; Juhás, P.; Liu, J.; Bryndin, D.; Božin, E. S.; Bloch, J.; Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. PDFfit2 and PDFgui: Computer programs for studying nanostructure in crystals. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2007**, *19*, 335219.

(476) Zhou, C.; Longley, L.; Krajnc, A.; Smales, G. J.; Qiao, A.; Erucar, I.; Doherty, C. M.; Thornton, A. W.; Hill, A. J.; Ashling, C. W.; et al. Metal-organic framework glasses with permanent accessible porosity. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 5042.

(477) Debye, P. Zur Theorie der spezifischen Wärmen. Ann. Phys. 1912, 39, 789-839.

(478) Rademacher, N.; Daemen, L. L.; Chronister, E. L.; Proffen, T. Pair distribution function analysis of molecular compounds: significance and modeling approach discussed using the example of p-terphenyl. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2012**, *45*, 482–488.

(479) Neder, R. B.; Proffen, T. Diffuse scattering and defect structure simulations: a cook book using the program DISCUS; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 2008.

(480) Juhás, P.; Farrow, C. L.; Yang, X.; Knox, K. R.; Billinge, S. J. L. Complex Modeling: a strategy and software program for combining multiple information sources to solve ill-posed structure and nanostructure inverse problems. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* 2015, 71, 562–568.

(481) Blum, L.; Narten, A. H. In *Advances in chemical physics*; Prigogine, I., Rice, S. A., Eds.; Wiley, 1976; Vol. 34; Chapter Diffraction by molecular liquids, pp 203–244.

(482) Narten, A. H.; Habenschuss, A.; Honnell, K. G.; McCoy, J. D.; Curro, J. G.; Schweizer, K. S. Diffraction by macromolecular fluids. *J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans.* **1992**, *88*, 1791–1795.

(483) Coelho, A. A.; Chater, P. A.; Kern, A. Fast synthesis and refinement of the atomic pair distribution function. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 869–875.

(484) TOPAS-Academic V7,http://topas-academic.net/ (accessed 2021-10-06).

(485) TOPAS. http://topas.dur.ac.uk/topaswiki/doku.php?id= macros (accessed 2021-10-06).

(486) Schmidt, M. U.; Brühne, S.; Wolf, A. K.; Rech, A.; Brüning, J.; Alig, E.; Fink, L.; Buchsbaum, C.; Glinnemann, J.; van de Streek, J.; et al. Electron diffraction, X-ray powder diffraction and pairdistribution-function analyses to determine the crystal structures of Pigment Yellow 213,  $C_{23}H_{21}N_5O_9$ . Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Sci. **2009**, 65, 189–199.

(487) Elschner, C.; Schrader, M.; Fitzner, R.; Levin, A. A.; Bäuerle, P.; Andrienko, D.; Leo, K.; Riede, M. Molecular ordering and charge transport in adicyanovinyl-substituted quaterthiophene thin film. *RSC Adv.* **2013**, *3*, 12117–12123.

(488) Funnell, N. P.; Dove, M. T.; Goodwin, A. L.; Parsons, S.; Tucker, M. G. Local structure correlations in plastic cyclohexane—a reverse Monte Carlo study. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2013**, *25*, 454204.

(489) Schlesinger, C.; Hammer, S. M.; Gorelik, T. E.; Schmidt, M. U. Orientational disorder of monomethyl-quinacridone investigated by Rietveld refinement, structure refinement to the pair distribution function and lattice-energy minimization. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Sci., Cryst. Eng. Mater.* **2020**, *B76*, 353–365.

(490) Svishchev, I. M.; Kusalik, P. G. Structure in liquid water: a study of spatial distribution functions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *99*, 3049–3058.

(491) Svishchev, I. M.; Kusalik, P. G. Spatial structure in low-temperature amorphous phases of water. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1995**, *239*, 349–353.

(492) Kusalik, P. G.; Laaksonen, A.; Svishchev, I. M. In *Molecular dynamics: from classical to quantum methods*; Balbuena, P. B., Seminario, J. M., Eds.; Elsevier, 1999; Vol. 7; Chapter 3. Spatial structure in molecular liquids, pp 61–97.

(493) Svishchev, I. M.; Zassetsky, A. Y.; Kusalik, P. G. Solvation structures in three dimensions. *Chem. Phys.* **2000**, *258*, 181–186.

(494) Cox, G. The crystalline structure of benzene. Proc. R. Soc. London A 1932, 135, 491-497.

(495) Jeffrey, G. A.; Ruble, J. R.; McMullan, R. K.; Pople, J. A. The crystal structure of deuterated benzene. *Proc. R. Soc. London A* **1987**, 414, 47–57.

(496) Voigt-Martin, I.; Mijlhoff, F. C. Interatomic distance functions obtained by electron diffraction from the polyethylene melt: possible errors in the interpretation of radial distribution functions. *J. Appl. Phys.* **1975**, *46*, 1165–1170.

(497) Hulliger, F. Structural chemistry of layer-type phases; Springer, 1976.

(498) Schlüter, A. D.; Weber, T.; Hofer, G. How to use X-ray diffraction to elucidate 2D polymerization propagation in single crystals. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2020**, *49*, 5140–5158.

(499) Bette, S.; Dinnebier, R. E. In *Crystallography in materials science: from structure-property relationships to engineering*; Schorr, S., Weidenthaler, C., Eds.; de Gruyter: Berlin, 2021; Chapter 2. Understanding stacking disorder in layered functional materials using powder diffraction, pp 55–92.

(500) Bette, S.; Takayama, T.; Kitagawa, K.; Takano, R.; Takagi, H.; Dinnebier, R. E. Solution of the heavily stacking faulted crystal structure of the honeycomb iridate  $H_3LiIr_2O_6$ . *Dalton T* **2017**, *46*, 15216–15227.

(501) Bette, S.; Takayama, T.; Duppel, V.; Poulain, A.; Takagi, H.; Dinnebier, R. E. Crystal structure and stacking faults in the layered honeycomb, delafossite-type materials  $Ag_3LiIr_2O_6$  and  $Ag_3LiRu_2O_6$ . *Dalton T* **2019**, *48*, 9250–9259.

(502) Petkov, V.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Heising, J.; Kanatzidis, M. G. Application of atomic pair distribution function analysis to materials with intrinsic disorder. Three-dimensional structure of exfoliated-restacked WS<sub>2</sub>: not just a random turbostratic assembly of layers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 11571.

(503) Masadeh, A. S.; Božin, E. S.; Farrow, C. L.; Paglia, G.; Juhás, P.; Karkamkar, A.; Kanatzidis, M. G.; Billinge, S. J. L. Quantitative size-dependent structure and strain determination of CdSe nanoparticles using atomic pair distribution function analysis. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2007**, *76*, 115413.

(504) Yang, X.; Masadeh, A. S.; McBride, J. R.; Božin, E. S.; Rosenthal, S. J.; Billinge, S. J. L. Confirmation of disordered structure of ultrasmall CdSe nanoparticles from x-ray atomic pair distribution function analysis. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2013**, *15*, 8480–8486.

(505) Charles, D. S.; Feygenson, M.; Page, K.; Neuefeind, J.; Xu, W.; Tenga, X. Structural water engaged disordered vanadium oxide nanosheets for high capacity aqueous potassium-ion storage. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 15520.

(506) Treacy, M. M.; Newsam, J. M.; Deem, M. W. A general recursion method for calculating diffracted intensities from crystals containing planar faults. *Proc. R. Soc. London A* **1991**, 433, 499–520. (507) Treacy, M. M. J.; Deem, M. W.; Newsam, J. M. *DIFFaX*, ver. 1.813; http://www.public.asu.edu/~mtreacy/DIFFaX.htmlhttp:// www.public.asu.edu/~mtreacy/DIFFaX.html (accessed 2021-10-97).

(508) Metz, P. C.; Koch, R.; Misture, S. T. Differential evolution and Markov chain Monte Carlo analyses of layer disorder in nanosheet ensembles using total scattering. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2018**, *51*, 1437–1444.

(509) Playford, H. Y.; Whale, T. F.; Murray, B. J.; Tucker, M. G.; Salzmann, C. G. Analysis of stacking disorder in ice I using pair distribution functions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2018**, *51*, 1211–1220.

(510) Hasell, T.; Cooper, A. I. Porous organic cages: soluble, modular and molecular pores. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2016**, *1*, 16053.

(511) O'Reilly, N.; Giri, N.; James, S. L. Porous liquids. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 3020–3025.

(512) Altomare, A.; Corriero, N.; Cuocci, C.; Falcicchio, A.; Moliterni, A.; Rizzi, R. QUALX2.0: a qualitative phase analysis software using freely available database POW\_COD. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 598–603.

(513) Gates-Rector, S.; Blanton, T. The Powder Diffraction File: a quality materials characterization database. *Powder Diffr.* **2019**, *34*, 352–360.

(514) Lutterotti, L.; Pillière, H.; Fontugne, C.; Boullay, P.; Chateigner, D. Full-profile search-match by the Rietveld method. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2019**, *52*, 587–598.

(515) Gilmore, C. J.; Kaduk, J. A.; Schenk, H. Survey of computer programs for powder diffraction. *International Tables of Crystallography;* International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2019; pp 698–715.

(516) Karmwar, P.; Graeser, K.; Gordon, K. C.; Strachan, C. J.; Rades, T. Investigation of properties and recrystallisation behaviour of amorphous indomethacin samples prepared by different methods. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2011**, *94*, 94–100.

(517) Bertolotti, F.; Moscheni, D.; Guagliardi, A.; Masciocchi, N. When crystals go nano – the role of advanced x-ray total scattering methods in nanotechnology. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2018**, *34*, 3789–3803.

(518) Lewis, C. S.; Moronta, D.; Terban, M. W.; Wang, L.; Yue, S.; Zhang, C.; Li, Q.; Corrao, A.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Wong, S. S. Synthesis, characterization, and growth mechanism of motifs of ultrathin cobalt-substituted NaFeSi<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub> nanowires. *CrystEngComm* **2018**, *20*, 223–236.

(519) Yang, L.; Culbertson, E. A.; Thomas, N. K.; Vuong, H. T.; Kjær, E. T. S.; Jensen, K. M. Ø.; Tucker, M. G.; Billinge, S. J. L. A cloud platform for atomic pair distribution function analysis: PDFitc. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2021**, 77, 2–6.

(520) de Gelder, R.; Wehrens, R.; Hageman, J. A. A generalized expression for the similarity of spectra: application to powder diffraction pattern classification. *J. Comput. Chem.* **2001**, *22*, 273–289.

(521) Habermehl, S.; Schlesinger, C.; Prill, D. Comparison and evaluation of pair distribution functions, using a similarity measured based on cross-correlation functions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2021**, *54*, 612–623.

(522) Toby, B. H. R. factors in Rietveld analysis: How good is good enough? *Powder Diffr.* **2006**, *21*, 67–70.

(523) Yang, X.; Juhás, P.; Billinge, S. J. L. On the estimation of statistical uncertainties on powder diffraction and small-angle scattering data from two-dimensional X-ray detectors. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* 2014, 47, 1273–1283.

(524) Granlund, L.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Duxbury, P. M. Algorithm for systematic peak extraction from atomic pair distribution functions. *Acta Crystallogr, Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2015**, *71*, 392–409.

(525) Gu, R.; Banerjee, S.; Du, Q.; Billinge, S. J. L. Algorithm for distance list extraction from pair distribution functions. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2019**, *75*, 658–668.

(526) Nakamura, N.; Terban, M. W.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Jayan, B. R. Unlocking the structure of mixed amorphous-crystalline ceramic oxide films synthesized under low temperature electromagnetic excitation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2017**, *5*, 18434–18441.

(527) Yang, L.; Juhás, P.; Terban, M. W.; Tucker, M. G.; Billinge, S. J. L. Structure-mining: screening structure models by automated fitting to the atomic pair distribution function over large numbers of models. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2020**, *76*, 395–409.

(528) David, W. I. F., Shankland, K., McCusker, L. B., Baerlocher, C., Eds. *Structure Determination from Powder Diffraction Data*; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 2002.

(529) David, W. I. F.; Shankland, K. Structure determination from powder diffraction data. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **2008**, *64*, 52–64.

(530) Juhás, P.; Granlund, L.; Duxbury, P. M.; Punch, W. F.; Billinge, S. J. L. The Liga algorithm for ab initio determination of nanostructure. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **2008**, *64*, 631–640.

(531) Juhás, P.; Granlund, L.; Gujarathi, S. R.; Duxbury, P. M.; Billinge, S. J. L. Crystal structure solution from experimentally determined atomic pair distribution functions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2010**, *43*, 623–629.

(532) Habgood, M.; Grau-Crespo, R.; Price, S. L. Substitutional and orientational disorder in organic crystals: a symmetry-adapted ensemble model. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 9590–9600.

(533) Bardwell, D. A.; Adjiman, C. S.; Arnautova, Y. A.; Bartashevich, E.; Boerrigter, S. X. M.; Braun, D. E.; Cruz-Cabeza, A. J.; Day, G. M.; Valle, R. G. D.; Desiraju, G. R.; et al. Towards crystal structure prediction of complex organic compounds – a report on the fifth blind test. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Sci.* **2011**, *B67*, 535–551.

(534) Reilly, A. M.; Cooper, R. I.; Adjiman, C. S.; Bhattacharya, S.; Boese, D.; Brandenburg, J. G.; Bygrave, P. J.; Bylsma, R.; Campbell, J. E.; Car, R.; et al. Report on the sixth blind test of organic crystal structure prediction methods. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Sci., Cryst. Eng. Mater.* **2016**, *B72*, 439–459.

(535) Schlesinger, C.; Habermehl, S.; Prill, D. Structure determination of organic compounds by a fit to the pair distribution function from scratch without prior indexing. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2021**, *54*, 776–786.

(536) Liu, C.-H.; Tao, Y.; Hsu, D. J.; Du, Q.; Billinge, S. J. L. Using a machine learning approach to determine the space group of a structure from the atomic pair distribution function (PDF). *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2019**, *75*, 633–643.

(537) Madsen, I. C.; Scarlett, N. V. Y.; Kleeberg, R.; Knorr, K. Quantitative phase analysis. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2019; pp 344–373.

(538) Chen, X.; Bates, S.; Morris, K. R. Quantifying amorphous content of lactose using parallel beam X-ray powder diffraction and whole pattern fitting. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* **2001**, *26*, 63–72.

(539) Ruland, W. X-ray determination of crystallinity and diffuse disorder scattering. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1961**, *14*, 1180–1185.

(540) Ruland, W. Crystallinity and disorder parameters in nylon 6 and nylon 7. *Polymer* **1964**, *5*, 89–102.

(541) Murthy, N. S.; Minor, H. General procedure for evaluating amorphous scattering and crystallinity from X-ray diffraction scans of semicrystalline polymers. *Polymer* **1990**, *31*, 996.

(542) Matthews, J. W., Ed. *Epitaxial Growth*; Academic Press: New York, 1975.

(543) Liu, J.; Zhang, J. Nanointerface chemistry: lattice-mismatchdirected synthesis and application of hybrid nanocrystals. *Chem. Rev.* **2020**, *120*, 2123–2170.

(544) Proffen, T.; Page, K. L.; McLain, S. E.; Clausen, B.; Darling, T. W.; TenCate, J. A.; Lee, S.-Y.; Ustundag, E. Atomic pair distribution function analysis of materials containing crystalline and amorphous phases. *Z. Kristallogr. - Cryst. Mater.* **2005**, *220*, 1002–1008.

(545) Olds, D.; Peterson, P. F.; Crawford, M. K.; Neilson, J. R.; Wang, H.-W.; Whitfield, P. S.; Page, K. Combinatorial appraisal of transition states for in situ pair distribution function analysis. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2017**, *50*, 1744–1753.

(546) Gavezzotti, A.; Filippini, G. Polymorphic forms of organic crystals at room conditions: thermodynamic and structural implications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117, 12299–12305.

(547) Bookwala, M.; DeBoyace, K.; Buckner, I. S.; Wildfong, P. L. D. Predicting density of amorphous solid materials using molecular dynamics simulation. *AAPS PharmSciTech* **2020**, *21*, *96*.

(548) Chapman, K. W.; Lapidus, S. H.; Chupas, P. J. Applications of principal component analysis to pair distribution function data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 1619–1626.

(549) Liu, C.-H.; Wright, C. J.; Gu, R.; Bandi, S.; Wustrow, A.; Todd, P. K.; O'Nolan, D.; Beauvais, M. L.; Neilson, J. R.; Chupas, P. J.; et al. Validation of non-negative matrix factorization for rapid assessment of large sets of atomic pair distribution function data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2021**, *54*, 768–775.

(550) Steed, K. M.; Steed, J. W. Packing problems: high Z' crystal structures and their relationship to cocrystals, inclusion compounds, and polymorphism. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 2895–2933.

(551) Karimi-Jafari, M.; Padrela, L.; Walker, G. M.; Croker, D. M. Creating cocrystals: a review of pharmaceutical cocrystal preparation routes and applications. *Cryst. Growth Des.* **2018**, *18*, 6370–6387.

(552) Kavanagh, O. N.; Croker, D. M.; Walker, G. M.; Zaworotko, M. J. Pharmaceutical cocrystals: from serendipity to design to application. *Drug Discovery Today* **2019**, *24*, 796–804.

(553) Bezzon, V. D. N.; Ferreira, F. F.; Smith, P.; Benmore, C. J.; Byrn, S. R.; de Araujo, G. L. B. Amorphous dispersion of flubendazole in hydroxypropyl methylcellulose: formulation stability assisted by pair distribution function analysis. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2021**, *600*, 120500.

(554) Nunes, C.; Mahendrasingam, A.; Suryanarayanan, R. Quantification of crystallinity in substantially amorphous materials by synchrotron x-ray powder diffractometry. *Pharm. Res.* **2005**, *22*, 1942–1953.

(555) Wurden, C.; Page, K.; Llobet, A.; White, C. E.; Proffen, T. Extracting differential pair distribution functions using MIXSCAT. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2010**, *43*, 635–638.

(556) Petkov, V.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Vogt, T.; Ichimura, A. S.; Dye, J. L. Structure of intercalated Cs in zeolite ITQ-4: an array of metal ions and electrons confined in a pseudo-1D nanoporous host. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2002**, *89*, 075502.

(557) Billinge, S. J. L.; McKimmey, E. J.; Shatnawi, M.; Kim, H. J.; Petkov, V.; Wermeille, D.; Pinnavaia, T. J. Mercury Binding Sites in Thiol-Functionalized Mesostructured Silica. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 8492–8498.

(558) Hsieh, K.-Y.; Bendeif, E.-E.; Gansmuller, A.; Pillet, S.; Woike, T.; Schaniel, D. Structure and dynamics of guest molecules confined in a mesoporous silica matrix: Complementary NMR and PDF characterisation. *RSC Adv.* **2013**, *3*, 26132–26141.

(559) Iiyama, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Otowa, T.; Kaneko, K. An ordered water molecular assembly structureina slit-shaped carbon nanospace. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1995**, *99*, 10075–10076.

(560) Iiyama, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Suzuki, T.; Otowa, T.; Hijiriyama, M.; Nojima, Y.; Kaneko, K. Molecular assembly structure of CCl<sub>4</sub> in graphitic nanospaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1997**, *101*, 3037–3042.

(561) Iiyama, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Suzuki, T.; Kaneko, K. Study of the structure of a water molecular assembly in a hydrophobic nanospace at low temperature with in situ X-ray diffraction. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1997**, 274, 152–158.

(562) Ohkubo, T.; Iiyama, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Suzuki, T.; Kaneko, K. Pore-width-dependent ordering of  $C_2H_5OH$  molecules confined in graphitic slit nanospaces. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1999**, *103*, 1859–1863.

(563) Steriotis, Th. A.; Stefanopoulos, K. L.; Kanellopoulos, N. K.; Mitropoulos, A. C.; Hoser, A. The structure of adsorbed  $CO_2$  in carbon nanopores: a neutron diffraction study. *Colloids Surf.*, A 2004, 241, 239–244.

(564) Rangwani, S.; Howarth, A. J.; DeStefano, M. R.; Malliakas, C. D.; Platero-Prats, A. E.; Chapman, K. W.; Farha, O. K. Adsorptive removal of Sb(V) from water using a mesoporous Zr-based metal-organic framework. *Polyhedron* **2018**, *151*, 338–343.

(565) Baumann, A. E.; Han, X.; Butala, M. M.; Thoi, V. S. Lithium thiophosphate functionalized zirconium MOFs for Li–S batteries with enhanced rate capabilities. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 17891–17899.

(566) Vaknin, D.; Bu, W.; Travesset, A. Extracting the pair distribution function of liquids and liquid-vapor surfaces by grazing incidence x-ray diffraction mode. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *129*, 044504. (567) Kuo, I.-F. W.; Mundy, C. J. An ab initio molecular dynamics study of the aqueous liquid-vapor interface. *Science* **2004**, *303*, 658–660.

(568) Zobel, M.; Neder, R. B.; Kimber, S. A. J. Universal solvent restructuring induced by colloidal nanoparticles. *Science* **2015**, 347, 292–294.

(569) Thomä, S. L. J.; Krauss, S. W.; Eckardt, M.; Chater, P.; Zobel, M. Atomic insight into hydration shells around facetted nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 995.

(570) Mukaddem, K. T.; Chater, P. A.; Devereux, L. R.; Bahri, O. K. A.; Jain, A.; Cole, J. M. Dye-anchoring modes at the dye  $\cdots$ TiO<sub>2</sub> interface of N3- and N749- sensitized solar cells revealed by glancing-angle pair distribution function analysis. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2020**, *124*, 11935–11945.

(571) Geddes, H. S.; Hutchinson, H. D.; Ha, A. R.; Funnell, N. P.; Goodwin, A. L. Extracting interface correlations from the pair distribution function of composite materials. *Nanoscale* **2021**, *13*, 13220–13224.

(572) Reinhold, C.; Fischer, E. W.; Peterlin, A. Evaluation of smallangle x-ray scattering of polymers. J. Appl. Phys. **1964**, 35, 71–74.

(573) Ruland, W. The evaluation of the small-angle scattering of lamellar two-phase systems by means of interface distribution functions. *Colloid Polym. Sci.* **1977**, *255*, 417–427.

(574) Stribeck, N.; Ruland, W. Determination of the interface distribution function of lamellar two-phase systems. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **1978**, *11*, 535–539.

(575) Wang, Z.-G.; Hsiao, B. S.; Murthy, N. S. Comparison of intensity profile analysis and correlation function methods for studying the lamellar structures of semicrystalline polymers using small-angle x-ray scattering. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2000**, *33*, 690–694.

(576) Laity, P. R.; Taylor, J. E.; Wong, S. S.; Khunkamchoo, P.; Norris, K.; Cable, M.; Andrews, G. T.; Johnson, A. F.; Cameron, R. E. A review of small-angle scattering models for random segmented poly(ether-urethane) copolymers. *Polymer* **2004**, *45*, 7273–7291.

(577) Koberstein, J. T.; Stein, R. S. Small-angle X-ray scattering studies of microdomain structure in segmented polyurethane elastomers. *J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Phys. Ed.* **1983**, *21*, 1439–1472.

(578) Cser, F. About the Lorentz correction used in the interpretation of small angle x-ray scattering data of semicrystalline polymers. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 80, 2300–2308.

(579) Kikhney, A. G.; Svergun, D. I. A practical guide to small angle X-ray scattering (SAXS) of flexible and intrinsically disordered proteins. *FEBS Lett.* **2015**, *589*, 2570–2577.

(580) Méring, J.; Tchoubar, D. Interprétation de la diffusion centrale des rayons X par les systèmes poreux. I. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **1968**, *1*, 153–165.

(581) Vonk, C. G.; Kortleve, G. X-ray small-angle scattering of bulk polyethylene. *Colloid Polym. Sci.* **1967**, *220*, 19–24.

(582) Gille, W. Chord length distributions and small-angle scattering. *Eur. Phys. J. B* **2000**, *17*, 371–383.

(583) Gommes, C. J. Small-angle scattering and scale-dependent heterogeneity. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2016, 49, 1162–1176.

(584) SasView 5.0.2 documentation. https://www.sasview.org/docs/ (accessed 2020-06-13).

(585) Svergun, D. I.; Koch, M. H. J. Small-angle scattering studies of biological macromolecules in solution. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 2003, 66, 1735–1782.

(586) Li, T.; Senesi, A. J.; Lee, B. Small angle x-ray scattering for nanoparticle research. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 11128–11180.

(587) Yin, P.; Li, T.; Forgan, R. S.; Lydon, C.; Zuo, X.; Zheng, Z. N.; Lee, B.; Long, D.; Cronin, L.; Liu, T. Exploring the programmable assembly of a polyoxometalate-organic hybrid via metal ion coordination. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135, 13425–13423.

(588) Men, Y.; Rieger, J.; Lindner, P.; Enderle, H.-F.; Lilge, D.; Kristen, M. O.; Mihan, S.; Jiang, S. Structural changes and chain radius of gyration in cold-drawn polyethylene after annealing: smalland wide-angle x-ray scattering and small-angle neutron scattering studies. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2005**, *109*, 16650–16657.

(589) Yager, K. G.; Zhang, Y.; Lu, F.; Gang, O. Periodic lattices of arbitrary nano-objects: modeling and applications for self-assembled systems. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2014**, *47*, 118–129.

(590) Liu, C.-H.; Janke, E. M.; Li, R.; Juhás, P.; Gang, O.; Talapin, D. V.; Billinge, S. J. L. sasPDF: pair distribution function analysis of nanoparticle assemblies from small-angle scattering. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2020**, *53*, 699–709.

(591) Benmore, C. J.; Alderman, O. L. G.; Robinson, D.; Jennings, G.; Tamalonis, A.; Ilavsky, J.; Clark, E.; Soignard, E.; Yarger, J. L.; Weber, J. K. R. Extended range X-ray pair distribution functions. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A* **2020**, 955, 163318.

(592) Klein, M. L.; Shinoda, W. Large-scale molecular dynamics simulations of self-assembling systems. *Science* **2008**, *321*, 798–800.

(593) Gubbins, K. E.; Moore, J. D. Molecular modeling of matter: impact and prospects in engineering. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *49*, 3026–3046.

(594) Weiß, H.; Deglmann, P.; in 't Veld, P. J.; Cetinkaya, M.; Schreiner, E. Multiscale Materials Modeling in an Industrial Environment. *Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng.* **2016**, *7*, 65–86.

(595) Olsson, P. A.T.; in 't Veld, P. J.; Andreasson, E.; Bergvall, E.; Persson Jutemar, E.; Petersson, V.; Rutledge, G. C.; Kroon, M. Allatomnic and coarse-grained molecular dynamics investigation of deformation in semi-crystalline lamellar polyethylene. *Polymer* **2018**, *153*, 305–316.

(596) Helfrich, W., Heppke, G., Eds. Liquid crystals of one- and twodimensional order; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1980.

(597) Demus, D., Goodby, J., Gray, G. W., Spiess, H.-W., Vill, V., Eds. *Handbook of liquid crystals set;* Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998.

(598) Platero-Prats, A. E.; Mavrandonakis, A.; Gallington, L. C.; Liu, Y.; Hupp, J. T.; Farha, O. K.; Cramer, C. J.; Chapman, K. W. Structural transitions of the metal-oxide nodes within metal-organic frameworks: on the local structures of NU-1000 and UiO-66. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 4178–4185.

(599) Chapman, K. W.; Chupas, P. J.; Kepert, C. J. Direct observation of a transverse vibrational mechanism for negative thermal expansion in Zn(CN)2: an atomic pair distribution function analysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127, 15630–15636.

(600) Mukaddem, K. T.; Cole, J. M.; Beyer, K. A.; Sylvester, S. O. Local atomic structure in photoisomerized ruthenium sulfur dioxide complexes revealed by pair distribution function analysis. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2020**, *124*, 10094–10104.

(601) Germann, L. S.; Arhangelskis, M.; Etter, M.; Dinnebier, R. E.; Friščić, T. Challenging the Ostwald rule of stages in mechanochemical cocrystallisation. *Chem. Sci.* **2020**, *11*, 10092–10100.

(602) Emmerling, S.; Germann, L. S.; Julien, P.; Moudrakovski, I.; Etter, M.; Friscic, T.; Dinnebier, R. E.; Lotsch, B. In situ monitoring of mechanochemical covalent organic framework formation reveals templating effect of liquid additive. *Chem.* **2021**, *7*, 1639–1652.

(603) Friscic, T.; Halasz, I.; Beldon, P. J.; Belenguer, A. M.; Adams, F.; Kimber, S. A. J.; HonkimÃki, V.; Dinnebier, R. E. Real-time and in situ monitoring of mechanochemical milling reactions. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5*, 66–73.

(604) Katsenis, A. D.; Puskaric, A.; Strukil, V.; Mottillo, C.; Julien, P. A.; Uzarevic, K.; Pham, M.-H.; Do, T.-O.; Kimber, S. A.; Lazic, P.; et al. In situ X-ray diffraction monitoring of a mechanochemical reaction reveals a unique topology metal-organic framework. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 1–8.

(605) Lorch, E. Neutron diffraction by germania, silica and radiation-damaged silica glasses. J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys. 1969, 2, 229–237.

(606) Soper, A. K.; Barney, E. R. Extracting the pair distribution function from white-beam X-ray total scattering data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2011**, *44*, 714–726.

(607) Soper, A. K.; Barney, E. R. On the use of modification functions when Fourier transforming total scattering data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2012**, 45, 1314–1317.

(608) Skinner, L. B.; Huang, C.; Schlesinger, D.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Nilsson, A.; Benmore, C. J. Benchmark oxygen-oxygen pairdistribution function of ambient water from x-ray diffraction measurements with a wide Q-range. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2013**, *138*, 074506. (609) Toby, B. H.; Egami, T. Accuracy of pair distribution function analysis applied to crystalline and noncrystalline materials. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Crystallogr.* **1992**, *48*, 336–46.

(610) Neder, R. B.; Proffen, T. Exact and fast calculation of the Xray pair distribution function. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2020**, *53*, 710–721.

(611) Rietveld, H. M. A profile refinement method for nuclear and magnetic structures. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1969, 2, 65-71.

(612) Coelho, A. A. TOPAS and TOPAS-Academic: an optimization program integrating computer algebra and crystallographic objects written in C++. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2018**, *51*, 210–218.

(613) Favre-Nicolin, V.; Černý, R. FOX, 'free objects for crystallography': a modular approach to ab initio structure determination from powder diffraction. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2002**, 35, 734–743.

(614) Shi, C. xINTERPDF: a graphical user interface for analyzing intermolecular pair distribution functions of organic compounds from x-ray total scattering data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2018**, *51*, 1498–1499.

(615) Mcgreevy, R. L.; Howe, M. A.; Keen, D. A.; Clausen, K. N. Reverse Monte-Carlo (RMC) simulation - modeling structural disorder in crystals, glasses and liquids from diffraction data. *Inst. Phys. Conf. Ser.* **1990**, *107*, 165–184.

(616) McGreevy, R. L. Reverse Monte Carlo modelling. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2001, 13, R877–R913.

(617) McGreevy, R. L.; Zetterstrom, P. To RMC or not to RMC? The use of reverse Monte Carlo modelling. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* 2003, 7, 41–47.

(618) Metropolis, N.; Ulam, S. The Monte Carlo Method. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 1949, 44, 335-341.

(619) Tucker, M. G.; Keen, D. A.; Dove, M. T.; Goodwin, A. L.; Hui, Q. RMCProfile: reverse Monte Carlo for polycrystalline materials. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2007, 19, 335218.

(620) Goodwin, A. L.; Michel, F. M.; Phillips, B. L.; Keen, D. A.; Dove, M. T.; Reeder, R. J. Nanoporous structure and medium-range order in synthetic amorphous calcium carbonate. *Chem. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 3197–3205.

(621) Soper, A. K. Tests of the empirical potential structure refinement method and a new method of application to neutron diffraction data on water. *Mol. Phys.* **2001**, *99*, 1503–1516.

(622) Soper, A. K. Partial structure factors from disordered materials diffraction data: An approach using empirical potential structure refinement. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2005**, *72*, 104204.

(623) Thompson, H.; Soper, A. K.; Buchanan, P.; Aldiwan, N.; Creek, J. L.; Koh, C. A. Methane hydrate formation and decomposition: Structural studies via neutron diffraction and empirical potential structure refinement. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *124*, 164508.

(624) Bowron, D. T. Experimentally consistent atomistic modeling of bulk and local structure in liquids and disordered materials by empirical potential structure refinement. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 2008, *80*, 1211–1227.

(625) Cobourne, G.; Mountjoy, G.; Rodriguez-Blanco, J. D.; Benning, L. G.; Hannon, A. C.; Plaisier, J. R. Neutron and X-ray diffraction and empirical potential structure refinement modelling of magnesium stabilised amorphous calcium carbonate. *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* **2014**, *401*, 154–158.

(626) Zhou, Y.; Higa, S.; Fang, C.; Fang, Y.; Zhang, W.; Yamaguchi, T. B(OH) 4 – hydration and association in sodium metaborate solutions by X-ray diffraction and empirical potential structure refinement. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 27878–27887.

(627) Zhao, X.-G.; Dalpian, G. M.; Wang, Z.; Zunger, A. Polymorphous nature of cubic halide perovskites. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2020**, *101*, 155137.

(628) Wang, Z.; Zhao, X.-G.; Koch, R.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Zunger, A. Understannding electronic peculiarities in tetragonal FeSe as local structural symmetry breaking. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2020**, *102*, 235121.

(629) Martínez-Inesta, M. M.; Peral, I.; Proffen, T.; Lobo, R. F. A pair distribution function analysis of zeolite beta. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2005**, *77*, 55–66.

(630) White, C. E.; Provis, J. L.; Proffen, T.; Riley, D. P.; van Deventer, J. S. J. Combining density functional theory (DFT) and pair distribution function (PDF) analysis to solve the structure of metastable materials: the case of metakaolin. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 3239–3245.

(631) NcNutt, N. W.; Rios, O.; Feygenson, M.; Proffen, T. E.; Keffer, D. J. Structural analysis of lignin-derived carbon composite anodes. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2014, 47, 1577–1584.

(632) Oyedele, A.; McNutt, N. W.; Rios, O.; Keffer, D. J. Hierarchical model for the analysis of scattering data of complex materials. *JOM* **2016**, *68*, 1583–1588.

(633) Beake, E. O. R.; Dove, M. T.; Phillips, A. E.; Keen, D. A.; Tucker, M. G.; Goodwin, A. L.; Bennett, T. D.; Cheetham, A. K. Flexibility of zeolitic imidazolate framework structures studied by neutron total scattering and the reverse Monte Carlo method. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2013**, *25*, 395403.

(634) Coelho, A. A.; Chater, O. A.; Evans, M. J. Generating the atomic pair distribution function without instrument or emission profile contributions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2021**, *54*, 54.

(635) Bras, W.; Xu, R.; Wicks, J. D.; van der Horst, F.; Oversluizen, M.; McGreevy, R. L.; van der Lugt, W. High temperature EXAFS experiments on liquid KPb alloys analysed with the reverse Monte Carlo method. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A* **1994**, *346*, 394–398.

(636) Wicks, J. D.; Borjesson, L.; Bushnellwye, G.; Howells, W. S.; Mcgreevy, R. L. Structure and ionic-conduction in  $(AgI)_x(AgPO3)_{1-x}$  glasses. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1995**, *74*, 726–729.

(637) McLaughlin, J. C.; Zwanziger, J. W. Modeling glasses using the reverse Monte Carlo algorithm: addition of nuclear magnetic resonance and expanded coordination number constraints. *J. Mol. Graphics Modell.* **1999**, *17*, 275–284.

(638) Krayzman, V.; Levin, I.; Tucker, M. G. Simultaneous reverse Monte Carlo refinements of local structures in perovskite solid solutions using EXAFS and the total scattering pair-distribution function. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2008, 41, 705–714.

(639) Krayzman, V.; Levin, I.; Woicik, J. C.; Proffen, T.; Vanderah, T. A.; Tucker, M. G. A combined fit of total scattering and extended X-ray absorption fine structure data for local-structure determination in crystalline materials. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2009**, *42*, 867–877.

(640) Skinner, L. B.; Benmore, C. J.; Parise, J. B. Area detector corrections for high quality synchrotron X-ray structure factor measurements. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A* 2012, 662, 61–70.

(641) Jensen, K. M. Ø.; Christensen, M.; Juhás, P.; Tyrsted, C.; Bøjesen, E. D.; Lock, N.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Iversen, B. B. Revealing the mechanisms behind SnO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle formation and growth during hydrothermal synthesis: an in situ total scattering study. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 6785–6792.

(642) Warren, B. E.; Krutter, H.; Morningstar, O. Fourier analysis of X-ray patterns of vitreous  $SiO_2$  and  $B_2O_3$ . J. Am. Ceram. Soc. **1936**, 19, 202–6.

(643) Masson, O.; Thomas, P. Exact and explicit expression of the atomic pair distribution function as obtained from X-ray total scattering experiments. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2013**, *46*, 461–465.

(644) Zheng, J.-C.; Zhu, Y.; Wu, L.; Davenport, J. W. On the sensitivity of electron and X-ray scattering factors to valence charge distributions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2005**, *38*, 648–656.

(645) McWeeny, R. X-ray scattering by aggregates of bonded atoms. I. Analytical approximations in single-atom scattering. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1951**, *4*, 513–519.

(646) McWeeny, R. X-ray scattering by aggregates of bonded atoms. II. The effect of the bonds: with an application to  $H_2$ . *Acta Crystallogr.* **1952**, *5*, 463–468.

(647) McWeeny, R. X-ray scattering by aggregates of bonded atoms. III. The bond scattering factor: simple methods of approximation in the general case. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1953**, *6*, 631–637.

1268

(648) McWeeny, R. X-ray scattering by aggregates of bonded atoms. IV. Applications to the carbon atom. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1954**, *7*, 180–186.

(649) Coppens, P. X-ray charge densities and chemical bonding, 1st ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1997.

(650) Koritsanszky, T. S.; Coppens, P. Chemical applications of x-ray charge-density analysis. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101*, 1583–1627.

(651) Hermansson, K. A simulated x-ray diffraction study of liquid water: beyond the spherical-atom approximation. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1996**, *260*, 229–235.

(652) Sorenson, J. M.; Hura, G.; Glaeser, R. M.; Head-Gordon, T. What can x-ray scattering tell us about the radial distribution functions of water? *J. Chem. Phys.* **2000**, *113*, 9149–9161.

(653) Morrison, P. F.; Pings, C. J. Molecular scattering factors for  $H_2$ ,  $N_2$ , LiH, and HF. J. Chem. Phys. **1972**, 56, 280–287.

(654) Huang, X.-C.; Xu, L.-Q.; Ni, D.-D.; Liu, Y.-W.; Peng, Y.-G.; Yang, K.; Hiraoka, N.; Tsuei, K.-D.; Zhu, L.-F. Elastic squared form factor and binding effect of carbon dioxide studied by the high resolution x-ray scattering. *J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom.* **2018**, 226, 41–44.

(655) Genoni, A.; Buĉinsky, L.; Claiser, N.; Contreras-García, J.; Dittrich, B.; Dominiak, P. M.; Espinosa, E.; Gatti, C.; Giannozzi, P.; Gillet, J.-M. et al. Quantum crystallography: current developments and future perspectives*Chem. - Eur. J.***2018**24 DOI: 10.1002/ chem.201884361

(656) Grabowsky, S.; Genoni, A.; Thomas, S. P.; Jayatilaka, D. The advent of quantum crystallography: form and structure factors from quantum mechanics for advanced structure refinement and wave-function fitting. 21st Century Challenges in Chemical Crystallography II. Cham, 2019; pp 65–144.

(657) Sanjuan-Szklarz, W. F.; Woińska, M.; Domagała, S.; Dominiak, P. M.; Grabowsky, S.; Jayatilaka, D.; Gutmann, M.; Woźniak, K. On the accuracy and precision of x-ray and neutron diffraction results as a function of resolution and the electron density model. *IUCrJ* **2020**, *7*, 920–933.

(658) Waseda, Y. Novel Applications of Anomalous (Resonance) X-ray Scattering for Structural Characterization of Disordered Materials; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1984.

(659) Price, D. L.; Saboungi, M.-L. Anomalous X-ray Scattering from Disordered Materials. *Local Structure from Diffraction*; Springer: New York, 1998; p 23.

(660) Xu, W.; Borkiewicz, O. New developments of x-ray diffraction and pair distribution function beamlines 11-ID and 17-BM at Advanced Photon Source. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2018**, 74, A456.

(661) Borkiewicz, O. J.; Ruett, U.; Beyer, K.; Gallington, L. New capabilities at beamline 11-ID-B of the Advanced Photon Source. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2019**, *75*, A352.

(662) Dippel, A.-C.; Bindzus, N.; Saha, D.; Delitz, J. T.; Liermann, H.-P.; Wahlberg, N.; Becker, J.; Bøjesen, E. D.; Iversen, B. B. Synchrotron powder diffraction at P02.1 at PETRA III: from electron density distributions to in situ total scattering. *Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem.* **2014**, *640*, 3094–3099.

(663) Dippel, A.-C.; Liermann, H.-P.; Delitz, J. T.; Walter, P.; Schulte-Schrepping, H.; Seeck, O. H.; Franz, H. Beamline P02.1 at PETRA III for high-resolution and high-energy powder diffraction. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2015**, *22*, 675–687.

(664) Roelsgaard, M.; Dippel, A.-C.; Borup, K. A.; Nielsen, I. G.; Broge, N. L. N.; Röh, J. T.; Gutowski, O.; Iversen, B. B. Time-resolved grazing-incidence pair distribution functions during deposition by radio-frequency magnetron sputtering. *IUCrJ* **2019**, *6*, 299–304.

(665) Sutter, J. P.; Chater, P. A.; Hillman, M. R.; Keeble, D. S.; Tucker, M. G.; Wilhelm, H. Three-energy focusing Laue monochromator for the diamond light source x-ray pair distribution function beamline I15–1. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2015**, *1741*, 040005.

(666) Bernasconi, A.; Wright, J.; Harker, N. Total scattering experiments on glass and crystalline materials at the ESRF on the ID11 Beamline. *Powder Diffr.* **2015**, *30*, S2–S8.

(667) Wright, J.; Giacobbe, C.; Majkut, M. New opportunities at the Materials Science Beamline at ESRF to exploit high energy nano-focus X-ray beams. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* **2020**, *24*, 100818.

(668) Vaughan, G. B. M.; Baker, R.; Barret, R.; Bonnefoy, J.; Buslaps, T.; Checchia, S.; Duran, D.; Fihman, F.; Got, P.; Kieffer, J.; et al. ID15A at the ESRF – a beamline for high speed operando X-ray diffraction, diffraction tomography and total scattering. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2020**, *27*, 515–528.

(669) Palomino, R. M.; Stavitski, E.; Waluyo, I.; Chen-Wiegart, Y.-c. K.; Abeykoon, M.; Sadowski, J. T.; Rodriguez, J. A.; Frenkel, A. I.; Senanayake, S. D. New in-situ and operando facilities for catalysis science at NSLS-II: the deployment of real-time, chemical, and structure-sensitive X-ray probes. *Synchrotron Radiat. News* **2017**, *30*, 30–37.

(670) Ohara, K.; Tominaka, S.; Yamada, H.; Takahashi, M.; Yamaguchi, H.; Utsuno, F.; Umeki, T.; Yao, A.; Nakada, K.; Takemoto, M.; et al. Time-resolved pair distribution function analysis of disordered materials on beamlines BL04B2 and BL08W at SPring-8. J. Synchrotron Radiat. **2018**, 25, 1627–1633.

(671) Saleta, M. E.; Eleotério, M.; Mesquita, A.; Mastelaro, V. R.; Granado, E. Atomic pair distribution function at the Brazilian Synchrotron Light Laboratory: application to the Pb1–xLaxZr0.40-Ti0.60O3 ferroelectric system. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **201**7, *24*, 1098– 1104.

(672) Page, K.; White, C. E.; Estell, E. G.; Neder, R. B.; Llobet, A.; Proffen, T. Treatment of hydrogen background in bulk and nanocrystalline neutron total scattering experiments. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2011**, *44*, 532–539.

(673) Frandsen, B. A.; Yang, X.; Billinge, S. J. L. Magnetic pair distribution function analysis of local magnetic correlations. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2014**, *70*, 3–11.

(674) Price, D. L.; Pasquarello, A. Number of independent partial structure factors for a disordered *n*-component system. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **1999**, *59*, *59*.

(675) Enderby, J. E.; North, D. M.; Egelstaff, P. A. The partial structure factors of liquid Cu-Sn. *Philos. Mag.* **1966**, *14*, 961–970.

(676) Neilson, G. W.; Enderby, J. E. Aqeuous solutions and neutron scattering. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, 100, 1317–1322.

(677) Powell, D. H.; Neilson, G. W.; Enderby, J. E. A neutron diffraction study of NiCl<sub>2</sub> in D<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>O. A direct determination of  $g_{NiH}(r)$ . J. Phys.: Condens. Mater. **1989**, 1, 8721–8733.

(678) Mason, P. E.; Ansell, S.; Neilson, G. W. Neutron diffraction studies of electrolytes in null water: a direct determination of the first hydration zone of ions. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2006**, *18*, 8437–8447.

(679) Chialvo, A. A.; Vlcek, L.  $NO_3^-$  coordination in aqueous solutions by  ${}^{15}N/{}^{14}N$  and  ${}^{18}O/{}^{nat}O$  isotopic substitution: what can we learn from molecular simulation? *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2015**, *119*, 519–531.

(680) Williams, W. G.; Ibberson, R. M.; Day, P.; Enderby, J. E. GEM — General materials diffractometer at ISIS. *Phys. B* **1997**, 241–243, 234–236.

(681) Hannon, A. C. Results on disordered materials from the GEneral Materials diffractometer, GEM, at ISIS. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A* 2005, 551, 88–107.

(682) Smith, R. I.; Hull, S.; Tucker, M. G.; Playford, H. Y.; McPhail, D. J.; Waller, S. P.; Norberg, S. T. The upgraded Polaris powder diffractometer at the ISIS neutron source. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2019**, *90*, 115101.

(683) Fischer, H.; Cuello, G.; Palleau, P.; Feltin, D.; Barnes, A.; Badyal, Y.; Simonson, J. D4c: A very high precision diffractometer for disordered materials. *Appl. Phys. A: Mater. Sci. Process.* **2002**, *74*, s160-s162.

(684) Neuefeind, J.; Feygenson, M.; Carruth, J.; Hoffmann, R.; Chipley, K. K. The Nanoscale Ordered MAterials Diffractometer NOMAD at the Spallation Neutron Source SNS. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. B* 2012, 287, 68–75.

(685) Huq, A.; Kirkham, M.; Peterson, P. F.; Hodges, J. P.; Whitfield, P. S.; Page, K.; Hűgle, T.; Iverson, E. B.; Parizzi, A.;

Review

Rennich, G. POWGEN: rebuild of a third-generation powder diffractometer at the Spallation Neutron Source. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2019**, *52*, 1189–1201.

(686) Mark, H.; Wierl, R. Über Elektronenbeugung am einzelnen Molekül. *Naturwissenschaften* **1930**, *18*, 205.

(687) Brockway, L. O.; Pauling, L. The determination of the structures of the hexafluorides of sulfur, selenium and telluriam by the electron diffraction method. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1933**, *19*, 68–73.

(688) Brockway, L. O.; Pauling, L. The electron-diffraction investigation of the structure of molecules of methyl azide and carbon suboxide. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1933**, *19*, 860–867.

(689) Pauling, L.; Brockway, L. O. A study of the methods of interpretation of electron-diffraction photographs of gas molecules, with results for benzene and carbon tetrachloride. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1934**, *2*, 867–881.

(690) Gorelik, T. E.; Neder, R.; Terban, M. W.; Lee, Z.; Mu, X.; Jung, C.; Jacob, T.; Kaiser, U. Towards quantitative treatment of electron pair distribution function. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B: Struct. Sci., Cryst. Eng. Mater.* **2019**, *B75*, 532–549.

(691) Souza, J. B., Jr.; Schleder, G. R.; Bettini, J.; Nogueira, I. C.; Fazzio, A.; Leite, E. R. Pair distribution function obtained from electron diffraction: an advanced real-space structural characterization tool. *Matter* **2021**, *4*, 441–460.

(692) Abeykoon, M.; Malliakas, C. D.; Juhás, P.; Božin, E. S.; Kanatzidis, M. G.; Billinge, S. J. L. Quantitative nanostructure characterization using atomic pair distribution functions obtained from laboratory electron microscopes. *Z. Kristallogr.* **2012**, 227, 248– 256. Highlighted on the journal cover

(693) Abeykoon, M.; Hu, H.; Wu, L.; Zhu, Y.; Billinge, S. J. L. Calibration and data collection protocols for reliable lattice parameter values in electron pair distribution function studies. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 244–251.

(694) Hoque, M. M.; Vergara, S.; Das, P. P.; Ugarte, D.; Santiago, U.; Kumara, C.; Whetten, R. L.; Dass, A.; Ponce, A. Structural analysis of ligand-protected smaller metallic nanocrystals by atomic pair distribution function under precession electron diffraction. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2019**, *132*, 19894–19902.

(695) Mu, X.; Wang, D.; Feng, T.; Kübel, C. Radial distribution function imaging by STEM diffraction: Phase mapping and analysis of heterogeneous nanostructured glasses. *Ultramicroscopy* **2016**, *168*, 1–6.

(696) Mu, X.; Mazilkin, A.; Sprau, C.; Colsmann, A.; Kübel, C. Mapping structure and morphology of amorphous organic thin films by 4D-STEM pair distribution function analysis. *Microscopy* **2019**, *68*, 301–308.

(697) Gorelik, T. E.; Schmidt, M. U.; Kolb, U.; Billinge, S. J. L. Total-scattering pair-distribution-function of organic material from powder electron diffraction data. *Microsc. Microanal.* **2015**, *21*, 459–471.

(698) Li, Z.; Mu, X.; Zhao-Karger, Z.; Diemant, T.; Behm, R. J.; Kübel, C.; Fichtner, M. Fast kinetics of multivalent intercalation chemistry enabled by solvated magnesium-ions into self-established metallic layered materials. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 5115.

(699) Jenkins, R.; Snyder, R. L. Introduction to powder x-ray diffractometry; Wiley: New York, 1996; Chapter 9. Specimen preparation.

(700) Terban, M. W.; Billinge, S. J. L. 2015; unpublished data.

(701) Skinner, L. B.; Benmore, C. J.; Parise, J. B. Comment on 'Molecular arrangement in water: random but not quite. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2012**, *24*, 155102.

(702) Jensen, K. M. O.; Blichfeld, A. B.; Bauers, S. R.; Wood, S. R.; Dooryhée, E.; Johnson, D. C.; Iversen, B. B.; Billinge, S. J. L. Demonstration of thin film pair distribution function analysis (tfPDF) for the study of local structure in amorphous and crystalline thin films. *IUCrJ* **2015**, *2*, 481–489.

(703) Wood, S. R.; Woods, K. N.; Plassmeyer, P. N.; Marsh, D. A.; Johnson, D. W.; Page, C. J.; Jensen, K. M. O.; Johnson, D. C. Same precursor, two different products: comparing the structural evolution of In-Ga-O "gel-derived" powders and solution-cast films using pair distribution function analysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 5607–5613.

(704) Shi, C.; Teerakapibal, R.; Yu, L.; Zhang, G. G. Z. Pair distribution functions of amorphous organic thin films from synchrotron x-ray scattering in transmission mode. *IUCrJ* 2017, *4*, 555–559.

(705) Dippel, A.-C.; Roelsgaard, M.; Boettger, U.; Schneller, T.; Gutowski, O.; Ruett, U. Local atomic structure of thin and ultrathin films via rapid high-energy x-ray total scattering at grazing incidence. *IUCrJ* **2019**, *6*, 290–298.

(706) Gong, Z.; Billinge, S. J. L. Atomic pair distribution functions (PDFs) from textured polycrystalline samples: fundamentals. *ArXiv* (Condensed Matter > Materials Science), May 25, **2018**, 1805.10342 ver. 1. https://arxiv.org/abs/1805.10342v1 (accessed November 15, 2021).

(707) Cervellino, A.; Frison, R. Texture corrections for total scattering. *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Found. Adv.* **2020**, *76*, 302–317. (708) Jacques, S. D. M.; Michiel, M. D.; Kimber, S. A. J.; Yang, X.; Cernik, R. J.; Beale, A. M.; Billinge, S. J. L. Pair distribution function computed tomography. *Nat. Commun.* **2013**, *4*, 2536.

(709) Chupas, P. J.; Chapman, K. W.; Kurtz, C.; Hanson, J. C.; Lee,
P. L.; Grey, C. P. A versatile sample-environment cell for non-ambient
x-ray scattering experiments. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2008, 41, 822–824.
(710) Becker, J.; Bremholm, M.; Tyrsted, C.; Pauw, B.; Jenson, K.
M. O.; Eltzholt, J.; Christensen, M.; Iversen, B. B. Experimental setup
for in situ X-ray SAXS/WAXS/PDF studies of the formation and
growth of nanoparticles in near- and supercritical fluids. J. Appl.
Crystallogr. 2010, 43, 729–736.

(711) Hansen, B. R. S.; Møller, K. T.; Paskevicius, M.; Dippel, A.-C.; Walter, P.; Webb, C. J.; Pistidda, C.; Bergemann, N.; Dornheim, M.; Klassen, T.; et al. In situ x-ray diffraction environments for high-pressure reactions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 1234–1241.

(712) Potter, M. E.; Light, M. E.; Irving, D. J. M.; Oakley, A. E.; Chapman, S.; Chater, P.; Cutts, G.; Watts, A.; Wharmby, M.; Vandegehuchte, B. D.; et al. Exploring the origins of crystallisation kinetics in hierarchical materials using in situ X-ray diffraction and pair distribution function analysis. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 18860–18867.

(713) Chapman, K. W. Emerging operando and x-ray pair distribution function methods for energy materials development. *MRS Bull.* **2016**, *41*, 231–240.

(714) Diaz-Lopez, M.; Cutts, G. L.; Allan, P. K.; Keeble, D. S.; Ross, A.; Pralong, V.; Spiekermann, G.; Chater, P. A. Fast operando X-ray pair distribution function using the DRIX electrochemical cell. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2020**, *27*, 1190–1199.

(715) Nakamura, N.; Su, L.; Bai, J.; Ghose, S.; Reeja-Jayan, B. In situ synchrotron pair distribution function analysis to monitor synthetic pathways under electromagnetic excitation. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2020**, *8*, 15909–15918.

(716) Blundell, S. J.; Pratt, F. L. Organic and molecular magnets. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2004, 16, R771–R828.

(717) Lendinez, S.; Zarzuela, R.; Tejada, J.; Terban, M. W.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Espin, J.; Imaz, I.; Maspoch, D.; Chudnovsky, E. M. Resonant spin tunneling in randomly oriented nanospheres of Mn 12 acetate. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2015**, *91*, 024404.

(718) Thévenot, J.; Oliveira, H.; Sandre, O.; Lecommandoux, S. Magnetic responsive polymer composite materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 7099–7116.

(719) Espallargas, G. M.; Coronado, E. Magnetic functionalities in MOFs: from the framework to the pore. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, 47, 533–557.

(720) Beyer, K. A.; Zhao, H.; Borkiewicz, O. J.; Newton, M. A.; Chupas, P. J.; Chapman, K. W. Simultaneous diffuse reflection infrared spectroscopy and x-ray pair distribution function measurements. J. Appl. Crystallogr. **2014**, 47, 95–101.

(721) Rademacher, N.; Bayarjargal, L.; Morgenroth, W.; Bauer, J. D.; Milman, V.; Winkler, B. Study of the reaction products of  $SF_6$  and C in the laser heated diamond anvil cell by pair distribution function

Review

analysis and micro-Raman spectroscopy. J. Solid State Chem. 2015, 225, 141-148.

(722) Farrow, C. L.; Shaw, M.; Kim, H.-J.; Juhás, P.; Billinge, S. J. L. The Nyquist-Shannon sampling theorem and the atomic pair distribution function. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2011**, *84*, 134105.

(723) Skinner, L. B.; Benmore, C. J.; Shyam, B.; Weber, J. K. R.; Parise, J. B. Structure of the floating water bridge and water in an electric field. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 047801.

(724) Hart, R. T.; Benmore, C. J.; Neuefeind, J.; Kohara, S.; Tomberli, B.; Egelstaff, P. A. Temperature dependence of isotopic quantum effects in water. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2005**, *94*, 047801.

(725) Huang, C.; Wikfeldt, K. T.; Nordlund, D.; Bergmann, U.; McQueen, T.; Sellberg, J.; Pettersson, L. G. M.; Nilsson, A. Wideangle x-ray diffraction and molecular dynamics study of mediumrange order in ambient and hot water. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 19997–20007.

(726) Juhás, P.; Davis, T.; Farrow, C. L.; Billinge, S. J. L. PDFgetX3: A rapid and highly automatable program for processing powder diffraction data into total scattering pair distribution functions. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2013**, *46*, 560–566.

(727) Yang, X.; Juhás, P.; Farrow, C.; Billinge, S. J. L. xPDFsuite: an end-to-end software solution for high throughput pair distribution function transformation, visualization and analysis. *arXiv* (Condensed Matter > Materials Science) February 13, **2014**, 1402.3163 ver. 3. https://arxiv.org/abs/1402.3163 (accessed November 15,2021).

(728) Soper, A. K. GudrunN and GudrunX Programs for correcting raw neutron and x-ray total scattering data to differential cross section. 2012; https://www.isis.stfc.ac.uk/OtherFiles/ Disordered%20Materials/Gudrun-Manual-2017-10.pdf (accessed 2021-10-06).

(729) Dreele, R. B. V.; Suchomel, M. R.; Toby, B. H. Compute X-Ray Absorption.https://11bm.xray.aps.anl.gov/absorb/absorb.php (accessed 2021-10-06).

(730) Soper, A. K. Inelasticity corrections for time-of-flight and fixed wavelength neutron diffraction experiments. *Mol. Phys.* **2009**, *107*, 1667–1684.

(731) Cowley, J. M. Electron Diffraction Techniques, 1st ed.; Oxford University Press, 1992; Vol. 1.

(732) Haverkamp, R. G.; Wallwork, K. S. X-ray pair distribution function analysis of nanostructured materials using a Mythen detector. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2009**, *16*, 849–856.

(733) Gimenez, E. N.; Chater, P. A.; Crevatin, G.; Dennis, G.; Fairley, A.; Horswell, I.; Omar, D.; Spiers, J.; Tartoni, N. Arc-detector: design of a CdTe photon-counting detector for the X-ray pair distribution function beamline at Diamond Light Source. IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (NSS/ MIC). October 26–November 2, 2019, Manchester, UK, pp 1–3.

(734) Hammersley, A. P.; Svensson, S. O.; Thompson, A. Calibration and correction of spatial distortions in 2D detector systems. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A* **1994**, 346, 312–321.

(735) Marlton, F.; Ivashko, O.; Zimmerman, M.; Gutowski, O.; Dippel, A.-C.; Jørgensen, M. R. V. A simple correction for the parallax effect in X-ray pair distribution function measurements. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2019**, *52*, 1072–1076.

(736) Welcome to xpdtools's documentation. https://xpdacq.github. io/xpdtools/ (accessed 2021-10-06).

(737) Wright, C. J.; Zhou, X.-D. Computer-assisted area detector masking. J. Synchrotron Radiat. 2017, 24, 506–508.

(738) Hammersley, A. P.; Svensson, S. O.; Hanfland, M.; Fitch, A. N.; Hausermann, D. Two-dimensional detector software: from real detector to idealised image or two-theta scan. *High Pressure Res.* **1996**, *14*, 235–248.

(739) Kieffer, J.; Ashiotis, G.; Deschildre, A.; Nawaz, Z.; Wright, J. P.; Karkoulis, D.; Picca, F. E. The fast azimuthal integration Python library: pyFAI. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2015**, *48*, 510–519.

(740) Basham, M.; Filik, J.; Wharmby, M. T.; Chang, P. C. Y.; Kassaby, B. E.; Gerring, M.; Aishima, J.; Levik, K.; Pulford, B. C. A.; Sikharulidze, I.; et al. Data Analysis WorkbeNch (DAWN). J. Synchrotron Radiat. 2015, 22, 853–858.

(741) Dinnebier, R. E.; Billinge, S. J. L. Overview and principles of powder diffraction. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2019; pp 2–23.

(742) Ruland, W. The separation of coherent and incoherent Compton X-ray scattering. Br. J. Appl. Phys. **1964**, *15*, 1301.

(743) Petkov, V.; Billinge, S. J. L.; Shastri, S. D.; Himmel, B. Polyhedral units and network connectivity in calcium aluminosilicate glasses from high energy X-ray diffraction. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2000**, *85*, 3436.

(744) Petkov, V. RAD, a program for analysis of X-ray diffraction data from amorphous materials for personal computers. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **1989**, *22*, 387–389.

(745) Qiu, X.; Thompson, J. W.; Billinge, S. J. L. PDFgetX2: a GUI driven program to obtain the pair distribution function from X-ray powder diffraction data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2004**, *37*, 678.

(746) Toby, B. H.; Von Dreele, R. B. GSAS-II: the genesis of a modern open-source all purpose crystallography software package. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 2013, 46, 544–549.

(747) Peterson, P. F.; Gutmann, M.; Proffen, T.; Billinge, S. J. L. PDFgetN: a user-friendly program to extract the total scattering structure function and the pair distribution function from neutron powder diffraction data. J. Appl. Crystallogr. **2000**, 33, 1192–1192.

(748) Juhás, P.; Louwen, J. N.; van Eijck, L.; Vogt, E. T. C.; Billinge, S. J. L. *PDFgetN3*: atomic pair distribution functions from neutron powder diffraction data using *ad hoc* corrections. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2018**, *51*, 1492–1497.

(749) Shanmugam, J.; Borisenko, K. B.; Chou, Y.-J.; Kirkland, A. I. eRDF analyser: an interactive GUI for electron reduced density function analysis. *SoftwareX* 2017, *6*, 185–192.

(750) Tran, D. T.; Svensson, G.; Tai, C.-W. SUePDF: a program to obtain quantitative pair distribution function from electron diffraction data. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2017**, *50*, 304–312.

(751) Shi, H.; Luo, M.; Wang, W. ePDF tools, a processing and analysis package of the atomic pair distribution function for electron diffraction. *Comput. Phys. Commun.* **2019**, *238*, 295–301.

(752) NanoMegas. https://nanomegas.com/epdf/ (accessed 2021-10-96).

(753) Billinge, S. J. L.; Farrow, C. L. Towards a robust *ad-hoc* data correction approach that yields reliable atomic pair distribution functions from powder diffraction data. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2013**, 25, 454202.

(754) Dreele, R. B. V. Powder and related techniques: X-ray techniques. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2006; pp 42–79.

(755) Dreele, R. B. V. Powder diffraction peak profiles. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2019; pp 263–269.

(756) Cheary, R. W.; Coelho, A. A.; Cline, J. P. Fundemental parameters line profile fitting in laboratory diffractometers. J. Res. Natl. Inst. Stand. Technol. 2004, 109, 1–25.

(757) Cline, J. P.; Mendenhall, M. H.; Black, D.; Windover, D.; Hennis, A. Powder diffraction peak profiles. *International Tables of Crystallography*; International Union of Crystallography: Buffalo, NY, 2019; pp 224–251.

(758) Rebuffi, L.; Sanchez del Rio, M.; Busetto, E.; Scardi, P. Understanding the instrumental profile of synchrotron radiation x-ray powder diffraction beamlines. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2017**, *24*, 622–635.

(759) Beyer, J.; Roth, N.; Iversen, B. B. Effects of Voigt diffraction profiles on the pair distribution function. **2021**, arXiv:2106.*ArXiv* (Condensed Matter > Materials Science) June 15, 2021, 2106.08388 ver. 1. https://arxiv.org/abs/2106.08388 (November 15, 2021).

(760) Gozzo, F.; Caro, L. D.; Giannini, C.; Guagliardi, A.; Schmitt, B.; Prodi, A. The instrumental resolution functions of synchrotron radiation powder diffractometers in the presence of focusing optics. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2006**, *39*, 347–357.

(762) Shi, X.; Ghose, S.; Dooryhee, E. Performance calculations of the X-ray powder diffraction beamline at NSLS-II. *J. Synchrotron Radiat.* **2013**, *20*, 234–242.

(763) Herklotz, M.; Scheiba, F.; Hinterstein, M.; Nikolowski, K.; Knapp, M.; Dippel, A.-C.; Giebeler, L.; Eckert, J.; Ehrenberg, H. Advances in in situ powder diffraction of battery materials: a case study of the new beamline P02.1 at DESY, Hamburg. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **2013**, *46*, 1117–1127.

(764) Beyer, J.; Kato, K.; Iversen, B. B. Synchrotron total-scattering data applicable to dual-space structural analysis. *IUCrJ* 2021, *8*, 387–394.

(765) Eremenko, M.; Krayzman, V.; Gagin, A.; Levin, I. Advancing reverse Monte Carlo structure refinements to the nanoscale. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* **201**7, *50*, 1561–1570.

(766) Zhang, Y.; Eremenko, M.; Krayzman, V.; Tucker, M. G.; Levin, I. New capabilities for enhancement of RMCProfile: instrumental profiles with arbitrary peak shapes for structural refinements using the reverse Monte Carlo method. *J. Appl. Crystallogr.* 2020, 53, 1509–1518.